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Dear Shareholders:

The year 2004 proved once again that dramatic
external change brings great opportunity along
with the expected risk. Change has always
been our friend. In our 27 years in business,
we have encountered several periods of change
as significant as 2004.

Each time, we have seen a period of market
confusion, then market excitement. Each time
traditional demand diminishes, while new
demand flourishes. Each time competition
intensifies and new competitors emerge. And
each time, as again now, thanks to our ability to
innovate and the confidence of our clients,
change advances us toward a new level.

It is not a straight path, the pace is not always
predictable, and the outcomes are rarely as
originally conceived.

2004 was no exception. We did not accomplish
all we wished to, but we did emerge in better
position to take advantage of the ongoing
change in our marketplace:

o Despite disappointing financial results from
the standpoint of revenue and earnings, we
made advances. We made significant expense
reductions and began redeploying much of
that savings toward R&D, sales, and product
management. We have $34 million in cash —
up $6 million over last year. We entered 2005
with $50 million in backlog and a sales funnel
significantly larger than last year’s. These
advances create an improved base for 2005.

o From an organizational standpoint, we have a
flatter organization that is more efficient,
responsive, and decisive. With new leadership
in our consulting practice, we are actively
restoring our consulting prominence and
moving back to the strategic solutions model
that served us well in the '90s.

In Revenue Enhancement, we have increased
our engagements by more than a third.
In Carretek, we are expanding the number of
functions offshored for our first client. In
CVE, we recently announced one of our
largest wins. In our technology division, our
Payments, Cash, and Risk business continues
to be advantaged by powerful market and
regulatory forces.
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 Perhaps most exciting, given the gathering of
demand after market delays, we enter the
year 2005 with nine new technology products
already deployed with clients, and another
seven scheduled for release in the first half of
2005. Their potential value has already been
validated by key clients and alliance partners.

From a sales standpoint, we continue to be
challenged where competitors with point
solutions find selective advantage and where
market indecision persists in some areas. But
we are advantaged by our sustained client
relationships, the growing value of our strategic
solutions, and our clients’ growing awareness of
the challenge of enterprise payments and risk.

in 2005, we are focused on accomplishing four
main goals:

o Conducting campaigns designed to restore
our thought leadership and the evolving
integration of our clients’ current and future
needs into our products and services.

o

Accelerating our efforts to increase the
market value of our products and services
through aggressive R&D, thus positioning to
increase revenue and earnings during 2005
and 2006.

Le]

Leveraging our more cost-effective operating
model to improve profit margins.

o]

Reestablishing confidence and enthusiasm
regarding our prospects for future business
growth and profitability through improved
financial results.

In closing, we would like to thank our
employees for their dedication and inspired
work, our clients for their partnership and
commitment as we innovate together, and our
shareholders who appreciate the long-term
value of our vision and execution. We look
forward to sharing our successes in 2005.

Sincerely,

J.D. (Denny) Carreker
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

I2] EENYY

Unless the context otherwise requires, the term “we,” “us,” “our,” “Company,” “Carreker,” or
“Carreker Corporation” when used in this Form 10-K (“Report”) and in the Annual Report to the
Stockholders refers to Carreker Corporation, a Delaware corporation organized in 1998, and its consolidated
subsidiaries and predecessors. Our Internet Website address is www.Carreker.com. Our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to such reports
are available, free of charge, on our Internet Website under “Investor Relations (IR)—SEC Filings” as soon
as reasonably practicable after we file electronically such material with, or furnish it to, the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Information on our Internet Website does not constitute a
part of this Report. This Report contains some forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal
securities laws. When used in this Report, the words “expects,” “plans,” “believes,” “anticipating,”
“estimates,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward looking statements. Actual results and
the timing of some events could differ materially from those projected in or contemplated by the forward
looking statements due to a number of factors, including without limitation those set forth under “Forward
Looking Statements and Risk Factors” below.

Our Business Focus

For the last 27 years Carreker Corporation has designed, developed, sold and delivered payments-
related software and consulting solutions to financial institutions and financial service providers. Our
products and services address a broad spectrum of payment activities and are designed to help our
clients enhance the performance of their payments businesses; improve operational efficiency in
payments processing; enhance revenue and profitability from payments-oriented products and services;
reduce losses associated with fraudulent payment transactions; facilitate compliance with risk-related
laws and regulations; and/or maximize clients’ customer income streams by aligning their customer
interactions and products with customer needs.

We are organized into three primary operating divisions: Global Payments Technologies (“GPT”),
Revenue Enhancement (“RevE”) and Global Payments Consulting (“GPC”). These operating divisions
are operated in discrete yet synergistic ways to bring value to our clients. In addition we have
established a joint venture named Carretek LLC to address the payments outsourcing arena.

Products and Services

The products and services of our three primary operating divisions are described below in this
sequence: Global Payments Technologies (“GPT”’), Revenue Enhancement (“RevE”) and Global
Payments Consulting (“GPC”)

Global Payments Technologies Solutions. Carreker’s technology solutions help financial institutions
address the needs of some critical payment services and delivery functions that impact overall operating
revenues and costs and risk management. These functions include presentment of checks in paper and
electronic form, identification and mitigation of fraudulent payments, handling irregular items such as
checks returned unpaid (exceptions), maintaining a record of past transactions (archiving), responding
to related customer inquiries (research), and correcting any errors that are discovered (adjustments).
Global Payments Technologies (“GPT") solutions address these and other key functions in the context
of improving operational efficiency and a gradual transition from paper to electronic-based payment
systems. In addition, we offer technology solutions that optimize the inventory management of a bank’s
cash stock levels and logistical service requirements, including managing how much is needed, when it
is needed and where it is needed. Our solutions reduce the amount of cash banks need to hold in
reserve accounts and as cash-on-hand while ensuring a high level of customer service through timely
replenishment of ATM cash supplies at minimal logistical services cost.




Specific solutions in the GPT group include:

Solution
Risk Solutions:
Fraud Mitigation and Anti-

Money Laundering
Compliance

Payment Solutions:
Back Office Processing

Remittance and Payments
Processing

Conventional Check Capture

Description

Products Offered

Automated fraud detection and
prevention solutions that reduce
incidents of check fraud, deposit
fraud, check kiting, and electronic
fraud. Anti-money laundering
solutions screen names and
related data against industry
blacklists, local high-risk lists and
other customized databases. The
solution automatically alerts
appropriate bank personnel for
timely and decisive action and
reporting. Scalable solutions are
offered for community banks.

Products that bring new
efficiencies to back-office
operations through leading-edge
image, workflow, and RECO
(character recognition)
technologies.

Both host and client/server-based
platforms for improved
productivity in processing retail
and wholesale remittance
transactions for financial
institutions and payments
processing for a wide variety of
cross-industry applications.

An extensive array of
enhancement products that add
flexibility and usability to IBM’s
Check Processing Control System
(CPCS) and the IBM 3890/XP
series of Document Processors.

FraudLink On-Us, FraudLink
Deposit, FraudLink Deposit—
Branch Access Option, Kite,
FraudLink Positive Pay,
FraudLink eTracker, FraudLink
ACHeCK, FraudLink PC, CORE
Workflow Manager, CORE AML
Filter, eFraudLink.com, Fraud
Solutions Consulting

Adjustments/Express, Exceptions/
Express, Express Capture,
Express Decision, Input/Express,
Inbound Returns/Express, and All
Transactions File

NeXGen Remittance

Conventional Capture Products,
CPCS Enhancements Products,
XP/Productivity Tools, Platform
Emulation, NeXGen Settlement,
NeXGen Balancing, and LTA
(Large Table Access)




Solution

Check Image Capture

Check Image Archive
Management

Other Check Image
Applications

Global Tracking

eMetrics

Description

Products Offered

Products and services related to
the centralized and distributed
capture, quality and inspection
assurance, storage and delivery of
check images.

Comprehensive array of check
image archive management
products that may be tailored to a
bank’s unique requirements based
on their operational environments
and volumes. Carreker offers
archive technology for both in-
house solutions and shared
outsource providers.

An array of solutions that address
revenue enhancement, risk
reduction, and expense reduction
issues through the application of
image, workflow and RECO
technologies.

A complete bar code tracking
system eliminates manual log
sheets, automates data gathering
and maximizes workflow by
tracking accountable mail, branch
bags, item volumes, currency
bags, incoming domestic and
international deposits, outgoing
cash letters, exceptions and much
more.

Performance-measurement
software suite that uses historical
data to generate key performance
indicators, item processing
volume data, productivity
statistics and quality control
benchmarks.

ALS & CIMS Products (MVS,
AIX, Windows), NeXGen Image
Processor, Image Enhancement
Products, Reject Repair, RECO
Technology, Image POD, Image
Delivery Products, Delivery
Express QAS Image Inspector,
NeXGen Capture, Source
Capture Corporate and Source
Capture Branch

Check Image Archive-AlX, Check
Image Archive-MVS, Check
Image Archive Load

Image Statements, CDRom
Delivery, Input/Express, Express
Capture, Payee Name
Verification, and Amount
Encoding Verification

Receive Sentry

Lumen, ProModel, eiMICR,
eiStats, eiQuality, eiPerform




Solution

Electronic Check
Presentment and Image
Exchange

Cash & Cash Logistic
Solutions:

ATM Solutions

Cash Solutions

Description

Products Offered

Enables banks to transition from
paper-based to electronic
payment systems by automating
key elements of the processing
stream, creation of image
replacement documents (“IRD”)
as well as improving a bank’s
yield from float management.
Aided by Check 21 legislation,
these solutions are designed to
reduce and eventually eliminate
the movement of paper payments
through the system, improving
productivity, reducing errors,
increasing customer satisfaction
and reducing fraud.

Advanced ATM monitoring and
management, improving ATM
availability and ensuring service
levels are met. These solutions
include an automated ATM
monitoring and dispatching
system for maximizing network
availability; and a real-time
Internet-based system for efficient
handling of ATM service requests
and responses.

A product suite, now optimized
through Web-based software
solutions, that dramatically
reduces the amount of cash
banks, financial institutions and
companies need to hold as cash-
on-hand throughout vault, branch
and ATM networks. These
solutions also enable automation
and standardization of the cash
ordering process and optimization
of transportation. Consulting
solutions can drive further
efficiency and automation in
vault, branch and ATM
operations.

ExchgLink, IRD Create, IRD
Author, CheckLink, CheckLink
PC, Deposit Manager, Branch
Truncation Manager and Cnotes

eiManager, eiGateway

iCom, ReserveLink, ReserveLink
Plus, Cash Supply Chain
Consulting




Revenue Enhancement. The Revenue Enhancement division includes two business units: RevE and
Customer Value Enhancement (“CVE”), formerly known as EnAct. RevE is a highly specialized
division that provides consulting services focused on tactical methods of increasing banks’ fee income.
The scope and depth of this practice has expanded throughout its 14 year history and now includes
retail, small business, and commercial deposits, treasury management, consumer and commercial
lending, credit card lending and trust and investment services. Our solutions involve developing
strategies that enable our clients to take advantage of electronification trends, often gaining first mover
advantages for our clients. In addition to developing strategies, our business model ensures that we
continue to translate those strategies into tactical implementations with measurable revenue streams.
Our client base has continued to expand with very high penetration rates in the markets in which we
operate. Thus, we have experienced a trend of becoming longer term strategic partners with our clients.

Another component of our Revenue Enhancement offering is our CVE solutions that includes
EnAct software, proprietary sales management methodologies and sales training programs. Our CVE
solutions assist financial institutions in leveraging central intelligence with local insight. This enables
our clients to recognize those customers and prospects representing the greatest value or potential. Our
approach is unique and complementary to many CRM investments that banks have made in recent
years and is designed to focus their activities such that they can actually attain increased returns on
these CRM investments.

Global Payments Consulting. Our Global Payments Consulting (GPC) division helps financial
institutions proactively plan, prepare and optimize for the regulatory, competitive and technological
impacts affecting the financial payments environment. The division provides strategic planning and
implementation advisory services for financial institutions and other clients. These planning and
implementation services include:

* Enterprise payment strategy
* Payment research services

* Predictive financial and operational modeling of the implications of payment trends and
strategies

* Image-enabled payment infrastructure planning

* Transportation, float and funds availability optimization
» Consolidation and merger/integration planning

* Program Management

* Enterprise Risk

The GPC division also contains the license, maintenance and services revenue of our Float
Management software products—Float Analysis System and Float Management System—for managing
a bank’s float through float analysis and pricing to improve profitability, reporting, workflow and check
clearing operations. These products also provide critical activity summaries, aid in creating multiple
availability and pricing schedules, and pinpoint the cost/profitability of transactions or relationships.

Outsourcing. Carretek LLC is a transformational business outsourcer for payment and transaction
processing jointly owned by Carreker Corporation (51%) and Majesco Software Inc. (49%), the U.S.
subsidiary of Mastek Limited, a leading Indian outsourcing company with global operations. Carretek
was formed in fiscal 2003. While the venture has signed its first contract, it is still in the developmental
phase and its results are contained in the Corporate-Unallocated business segment.

Carretek’s mission is to enable financial institutions and their processors to realize the benefits of
transformational offshore-centric outsourcing (“offshoring”) of their business processes. The benefits to




clients could include reduction in operating costs, improvements in productivity, and enhancement of
quality.

Initially, Carretek is focused on offshoring payments-related business processes. Through Carretek,
financial institutions can leverage the global work force at this critical period when Check 21 and other
payment electronification trends are pressuring financial institutions to reduce their payment per item
costs beyond the power of traditional cost management practices. Carretek has designed and built
specific product offerings targeted at payment and transaction processing functions for this express
purpose. Within this area of expertise, the Carretek offering includes a flexible array of offshore
outsourcing services to financial institutions.

The Carreker Solution

The products and services offered by our divisions are designed to address our clients’ needs to
adapt to an ever-changing landscape in the payments businesses for financial institutions. These
solutions combine consulting and professional services with software applications to enable financial
institutions to identify and implement payment solutions, increase revenues, reduce costs and enhance
delivery of customer services. The key characteristics of our solutions include:

Integrated and Consultative Approach. We combine our consulting expertise and software
applications to serve as a single-source provider of fully-integrated payments solutions. This approach
sets us apart from providers of partial solutions that require financial institutions to seek multiple
solution providers and costly additional expertise or implementation services to attain a complete
solution. By offering this integration, we can streamline the buying decisions, simplify the
implementation efforts and accelerate results when compared to a multiple supplier approach.

Comprehensive Delivery Model. We deliver our software and consulting solutions in a variety of
delivery models to meet our clients’ specific needs. These delivery methods include traditional software
licensing and associated consulting, third party web-hosting and licensing software for use by multiple
banks in a shared operating environment. Our ability to deliver products and services in a variety of
methods allows us to provide solutions to a wider range of clients.

Compelling Business Proposition for Clients. Our solutions reduce investment risk for our clients by
increasing revenues or reducing costs in a concrete and measurable way and in a relatively short period
of time. In addition, in appropriate circumstances, we value-price certain of our solutions, whereby we
receive a percentage of the amount of additional revenues or reduced costs achieved by the customer.
These arrangements allow banks to fund their investments in our solutions with the benefits derived
from their implementation.

Broad Array of Services and Technology. We believe that our offerings provide the broadest
footprint of solutions from a single supplier of payments solutions in the banking industry. This array of
products enables us to provide a financial institution with a very targeted solution for a narrow area of
its operations or to address a broad range of its operational requirements.

Our Market

Carreker’s direct market is the financial services industry. Within that huge sector, we focus mainly
on large banks and mainly in the U.S. However our market also includes:

* Non-banks, mainly in the form of companies that provide processing and related services to
banks

* Banks below $5 billion in assets, especially for certain products as detailed previously in the
Products and Services section




* Banks in other countries, especially where English is the first language, although that is less a
factor over time

* Customers of banks that will increasingly use our technology as it is imbedded in the banks’
customer offerings

At present, we serve all of the top 20 banks in the U.S, plus 75 of the next 100 banks, and many
smaller banks. We also serve the six largest financial institutions in Canada, the four largest in the UK,
the two largest in Ireland, the five largest in Australia and New Zealand, and three of the four largest
in South Africa. We have a smaller presence in other European and Latin American countries.

Most of the major bank processing companies are our clients, and we have alliance and/or reseller
relationships with many of them to maximize distribution of our products and services.

Banks are expected to continue spending heavily on Information Technology (“IT”) this year.
TowerGroup and Celent both forecast approximately a four percent increase. According to Celent,
“Areas such as security, payments, multi-channel integration, and branch automation will be highlighted
in 2005, as banks push towards increasing strategic investments in new technology.”

Significant new regulatory, competitive, technological, human capital and behavioral forces are
acting on the payments industry now in ways that seem likely to impact virtually all participants in this
market space. The forces include the following:

Regulatory Change. There are a number of legislative and regulatory changes impacting the form,
structure, process and controls around paper, electronic and currency-based financial payments. We
believe financial institutions around the world will need to invest in the understanding, planning and
implementation activities related to these changes. Three of the more important areas of legislative/
regulatory changes to note are as follows:

* Check Clearing for the 21st Century Act, more commonly referred to as Check 21—This piece
of U.S. legislation was signed into law October 28, 2003 and came into effect in October of
2004. This legislation provides an important new impetus to the practice of exchanging check
'images,' in lieu of actual checks. We believe the effect of this legislation will be potentially to
increase market demand for our check imaging, substitute checks, electronic check presentment,
and image back office products and we are actively positioning those products accordingly.

* USA Patriot Act (Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required
to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 or USAPA)—This U.S. legislation was signed
into law in late October 2001 following the terrorist acts of 9/11. The USAPA made significant
amendments to over 15 important statutes. Regulations under USAPA were issued in 2003 and
are now in effect at all U.S. financial institutions. The law imposes new reguiatory duties upon
financial institutions to help prohibit and detect the financing of terrorism through money
laundering by requiring the adoption of enhanced procedures by financial institutions. These
procedures require the gathering and retention of information to establish and verify the true
identity of financial institution customers. We are working now to incorporate enhanced
anti-money laundering detection and compliance technologies into our fraud mitigation suite of
software products.

* New Basel Capital Accord (also known as Basel II)—The Basel Accord is intended to be
available for implementation in member countries by the end of 2006 with full implementation
by January 2008. The goal of these revisions is to put a new capital adequacy framework in place
for banks around the globe along two important dimensions. First, by developing capital
regulations that encompass minimum capital requirements, supervisory review and market
discipline. Second, by increasing substantially the risk sensitivity of the minimum capital
requirements and by modifying the definition of risk-weighted assets to change the treatment of




credit risk and to introduce explicit treatment of operational risk. These changes will stipulate
significant new capital and operational risk management requirements for banks. Whether in
terms of new redundancy requirements for payments infrastructure or new business continuity
practices for banks, we believe additional opportunities to leverage our technology and our
operations consulting expertise may result from banks’ efforts to achieve compliance.

Disintermediation of the Financial Institution. We believe the market share of financial institutions
in the payments business has been declining over the last 20 years as new non-bank providers offer a
competitive alternative to banks as financial intermediaries. We believe financial institutions are
intimately aware of this trend and its implications on the positioning of their client relationship, their
value proposition, their revenues and their profits. We believe these financial institutions are and will
be developing and executing strategies to protect and expand their market share of the payments
business by investing in new value propositions, new products and new services in various payment
arenas.

Convergence of Payment Vehicles. 'We believe that the front-end and the back-end of the
presentment, processing and settlement aspects of the paper and electronic payment types will converge
driven by customer demand and delivery efficiency. Although we believe the total number of payment
transactions will increase for the foreseeable future, we believe paper-based payments will decline in
number with the increase in electronic payments more than offsetting this decline. We believe over
time the systems and operations infrastructure for payments, which is in silos today by payment type,
will tend to converge and result in next generation payment technologies that will need to be
developed. These technologies will be more real-time than traditional batch technologies. Straight
through processing service offerings will be specifically tailored to communities of interest (e.g. casinos,
healthcare or small retail) and payment related information services (e.g. loyalty programs and
cross-sell programs) will be developed.

Mergers and Consolidations. Mergers and consolidations of financial institutions have been on the
rise in the US recently. We believe these mergers will result in significant investments in business,
system and operations integration for long-term shareholder value. We believe consulting and software
solutions supporting the integration activities of the surviving financial institutions will be important
offerings in the future.

Electronification. Technologies for electronification of check workflows continue to be refined and
to gain further industry adoption. Many of our key customers are defining strategies now for the
electronification of checks at the earliest point of receipt and for exchanging images between banks as
a basis for financial settlement. Such practices would significantly reduce check-related operating
expenses for banks and position banks to deliver more robust payment services to their customers. We
believe we are positioned, through our broad suite of check imaging products, to benefit from the
continued adoption of check imaging.

At the same time, practices are emerging for conversion of checks at the point of sale or at
lockbox processing locations to alternative electronic payment types, such as ACH or debit transactions.
In these cases, transactions are less likely to be processed through Carreker’s current suite of
technology solutions. We are developing enhancements to selected products that will address these
electronic payment types.

As a third point, integration between banks and the point of sale will increasingly lead to more
real time verification and guarantee of transactions at the point of sale. We are engaged now with key
customers and partners in trying to define next-generation fraud mitigation solutions, and see this as an
area of opportunity for technology growth.

Importance of Fraud/Risk Mitigation. We believe transaction fraud losses have continued to
increase for financial institutions and their customers as electronic payment vehicles have grown in
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availability and adoption. Further, we believe compliance costs and penalties for non-compliance with
new regulations designed to mitigate global risks through controls on electronic and currency-based
financial transactions will continue to increase. We believe significant investments in processes,
procedures and technologies will continue to be made to detect and prevent fraud losses and improve
compliance, while minimizing the intrusion of controls on customer activities.

Globalization of Payments Work.  As the important work of processing payments becomes more
electronic, the opportunities for financial institutions to leverage workforces around the world to
achieve cost and quality advantages will proliferate. We believe financial institutions will gradually at
first, and more rapidly later, source and process components of their payments work in secure, low cost
countries around the globe.

Customers

A majority of our revenues are generated from contracts with banks maintaining assets in excess of
$5.0 billion. We currently provide services or products to each of the 20 largest banks in the United
States, as measured by total assets by Sheshunoff Information Services. Our five largest customers
accounted for approximately 31%, 28% and 34% of total revenues during the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Wells Fargo accounted for approximately 14% of total
revenues during the year ended January 31, 2005. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of
total revenues during the year ended January 31, 2004. U.S. Bank, N.A. accounted for approximately
10% of total revenues during the year ended January 31, 2003. Please see Note 11 of our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for information about our non-U.S. customers.

Solutions Development

Our solutions development activities focus on identifying specific bank needs, prototyping and
developing promising applications, test marketing new products, developing sales strategies and
coordinating distribution and on-going maintenance for each of our solutions. In certain instances, we
have contracted with third party software development companies to develop our solutions.

We frequently receive customer requests for new services and/or software. We strive to develop
solutions in response to these requests and historically have been able to partner with our customers
and share some or all of the development costs. In addition to customer-funded solutions development,
we have invested significant amounts in solutions development, including expenditures (inclusive of
amounts capitalized) of $11.2 million, $8.5 million, and $11.4 million for research and development in
the years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Further, some of our key product
introductions have resuited from the adaptation of products developed for customers to address a wider
market. In exchange for either a one-time payment and/or on-going royalties, we are often able to
obtain the right to develop, enhance and market these modified products.

Technology

Our software products incorporate open systems architecture and protocols to provide scalability
and functionality to interface with a bank’s current and legacy systems. Our core proprietary
technologies, for both our client/server and mainframe software products, are primarily directed at
using a standard set of components, drivers, and application interfaces, and leveraging the quality and
productivity benefits of reusable component development.

Many of our newer products operate on Windows or Unix platforms, support industry-standard
Web browsers such as Microsoft Internet Explorer and AOL Netscape, and databases such as Oracle,
DB2, or SQL, and can be delivered as an Application Service Provider (“ASP”) or standard packaged
product.
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We continue to enhance our second-generation computer systems, which are primarily IBM
mainframe-based or client server applications, and use common computer tools to integrate the data
from these computer programs into our new products.

Sales and Marketing

We have developed strong relationships with many senior bank executives as a result of our
delivery of solutions to many of the largest banks in the United States for over 27 years. As of
January 31, 2005, we had 14 Account Relationship Managers, who are responsible for managing our
day-to-day relationships with our customers. 13 are responsible for North American bank relationships,
and 1 is responsible for the International bank relationships. Qur Account Relationship Managers’
responsibilities include identifying customers’ needs and assisting our business unit teams in presenting
their solutions and concluding sales. Our Account Relationship Managers work closely with our
executive officers, some of whom serve as Executive Relationship Managers to our customers. We also
employ applicable business segment sales and technical sales support staff, who are familiar with our
technology and who participate in opportunities to sell technology-based solutions.

We derive a significant portion of our business through customer referrals. In addition, we market
our services through a variety of media, including:

* our web site;

¢ direct mail;

* user conferences conducted exclusively for our customers and qualified prospects;
* participation in industry conferences and trade shows;

* publication of “white papers” related to specific aspects of our services;

* customer newsletters; and

* informational listings in trade journals.

As of January 31, 2005, we employed a marketing staff of 8 individuals, including graphics
designers, writers, administrative coordinators and a Web master.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive and rapidly changing global marketplace and compete with a
variety of organizations that offer products and services competitive with those we offer. In our
consulting and revenue enhancement businesses our clients retain us on a non-exclusive basis. In
addition, a client may choose to use its own resources rather than engage us for these consulting
services. Our competitors in the consulting business space include strategic consulting firms and
full-service consulting services, as well as niche consulting providers. Increasingly, the global
information technology service firms are offering a full range of consulting services. Further, the niche
financial institution processing companies are increasingly creating and offering consulting services as
an additional value-added service to their IT processing offerings. In the Revenue Enhancement
business our competitors are almost exclusively niche providers that are typically small and medium-
sized private organizations. However, we also face competition from bank internal revenue
enhancement departments. In our Carretek business line, we primarily compete against large global
outsourcing providers and our customers’ internally built and operated alternatives.

In our global payments technology business segment, our competitors are generally the global
information technology service firms and the smaller niche application providers. In each of our major
software product suites a range of competitors exists. The global IT services firms compete in some of
our software product suites. At the same time, differing groups of application and niche application




competitors focus on one or more of our other product suites. Some of these competitors have
significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do.

In addition to competing with a variety of third parties, we experience competition from our
customers and potential customers when they develop, implement and maintain their own services and
applications. In addition, customers or potential customers could enter into strategic relationships with
one or more of our competitors to develop, market and sell competing services or products.

Government Regulation

Our primary customers are banks. Although the services we currently offer have not been subject
to any material industry-specific government regulation, the banking industry is heavily regulated. Our
products and services must allow our banking customers to comply with all applicable regulations, and
as a result, we must understand the intricacies and application of many government regulations, The
regulations most applicable to our provision of solutions to banks include regulations governing
information and data security of customer accounts, establishing minimum reserve requirements,
governing funds availability and the collection and return of checks, and establishing rights, liabilities
and responsibilities of parties in electronic funds transfers. For example, some of our consulting services
assist banks with minimizing their reserves while complying with requirements of the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System (‘“Federal Reserve”). In addition, the expedited availability
and check return requirements imposed by funds availability regulations have increased fraud
opportunities dramatically, and our Global Payments Technologies products and services address this
concern while complying with such regulations.

While we are not directly subject to federal or state regulations specifically applicable to financial
institutions, such as banks, thrifts and credit unions, the Federal Reserve, the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, the National Credit Union Administration, the Office of Thrift Supervision, the
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and various state regulatory authorities typically assert the
right to observe the operations of companies to which certain functions of financial institutions (such as
data processing) are outsourced. These regulators may from time to time also claim the right to
observe the operations of companies like us that provide software to financial institutions. In addition,
financial institutions with whom we do business may from time to time require, by contract or
otherwise, that evaluations of our internal controls be performed by independent auditors or by the
financial institutions themselves.

Proprietary Rights

We rely upon a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, including the
use of confidentiality agreements with employees, independent contractors and third parties and
physical security devices to protect our proprietary technology and information. We have a number of
issued patents and registered trademarks and have filed applications for additional patents and
trademarks in the United States. We defend our proprietary rights.

We enter into invention assignment and confidentiality agreements with our employees and
independent contractors and confidentiality agreements with certain customers. We also limit access to
the source codes for our software and other proprietary information. We believe that due to the rapid
pace of innovation within the software industry, factors such as the technological and creative expertise
of our personnel, the quality of our solutions, the quality of our technical support and training services
and the frequency of release of technology enhancements are important to establishing and maintaining
a technology leadership in addition to the various legal protections available for our technology.

We are not aware that we are infringing on any proprietary rights of third parties. We rely upon
certain software that we license from third parties, including software that is integrated with our
internally developed software and used in our solutions to perform key functions. We are not aware
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that any third-party software being re-sold by us is infringing upon proprietary rights of other third
parties.

Employees

As of January 31, 2005, we had 541 employees. Of these employees, 106 provided consulting
services, 212 provided technology and implementation functions, 114 performed sales and marketing,
product management, customer relations and business development functions and 109 persons
performed corporate, finance and administrative functions. We have no unionized employees, and we
believe that our employee relations are good.




Executive Officers of the Company

The following table sets forth information regarding the Company’s current executive officers.

Name Age Position

John D. Carreker, Jr. . ............... 62  Chairman of the Board, President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director

Lisa K. Peterson ................... 47  Executive Vice President, Treasurer and
Chief Financial Officer

John D. Carreker IIT . .. ............. 41 Executive Vice President and President,
Global Payments Technologies

Michael J.Inman. . ................. 37 Executive Vice President, Relationship
Management

Suzette L. Massie. . . ................ 37 Executive Vice President and President,
Global Payments Consulting

Robert M. Olson, Jr, ................ 49  Executive Vice President and President
and CEO, Carretek LLC

Blake A. Williams . ................. 43 Executive Vice President and President,
Revenue Enhancement

TodV.Mongan .................... 54  Senior Vice President, General Counsel

and Secretary

John D. Carreker, Jr. has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
Officer since the Company’s formation in 1978. John D. Carreker, Jr. and James D. Carreker, a
director of the company, are brothers. John D. Carreker III is the son of John D. Carreker, Jr.

Lisa K. Peterson has served as Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer
since October 2003. From August 1999 to February 2003, Ms. Peterson served as Chief Financial and
Administrative Officer for Monarch Dental Corporation, a dental group practice management company.
Prior to that time, Ms. Peterson served as Chief Financial Officer for Viacom Retail Stores, Inc., a
start-up division of Viacom, Inc. For the six years prior to that time, Ms. Peterson worked for Pearle
Vision, Inc. in various capacities culminating in the position of Vice President and Controller.

John D. Carreker III has served as Executive Vice President and President, Global Payments
Technologies since November 2002. Since June 1991, Mr. Carreker has served in various management
positions with the Company. John D. Carreker III is the son of John D. Carreker, Jr. and the nephew
of James D. Carreker.

Michael J. Inman has served as Executive Vice President of Relationship Management since
September 2002 and as a corporate officer since December 2004. Mr. Inman has been with the
Company for ten years in various management and consulting roles.

Suzette L. Massie has served as Executive Vice President and President, Global Payments
Consulting since December 2004. For the last five years, Ms. Massie was a partner with Accenture, a
global management consulting company in the Financial Services practice focusing on Top 20 Banks in
the U.S. '

Robert M. Olson, Jr. has served as Executive Vice President since July 1998 and as President and
CEO of Carretek since October 2004,

Blake A. Williams has served as Executive Vice President and President, Revenue Enhancement
since November 2002. Mr. Williams has been with the Company for 14 years in various management
and consulting roles.
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Tod V. Mongan has served as Senior Vice President and Secretary since December 2001 and as
General Counsel to the Company since February 2001. For the five years prior to that time
Mr. Mongan served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel, Secretary and Chief Administrative
Officer for BancTec, Inc., a worldwide systems integration, manufacturing and services company.

Forward Looking Statements and Risk Factors
Forward Loqking Statements

Statements in this Report and the Annual Report to the Stockholders that are not purely historical facts
including statements about our expected future financial position, sales, results of operations, cash flows or
backlog as well as other statements including words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “plan,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “tntend,” “should,” “could,” “soal,” “target,” “designated,” “on track,” “comfortable with,”
“optimistic” \and other similar expressions, constitute forward looking statements within the meaning of
Section 274 |of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. Actual results and the timing of some events could differ materially from those projected
in or contemplated by the forward looking statements due to a number of factors, including, without
limitation, those set forth below and elsewhere in this Report. Readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on forward looking statements, for no assurances can be givern with respect to any forward looking
statements. In addition to the other information in this Report, the following factors, which may affect our
current position and future prospects, should be considered carefully in evaluating us and an investment in

our common stock.
Risk Factors

Our performance depends on the banking industry, and any change in the banking industry’s demand
for our solutions could reduce our revenues and have a material adverse effect on our business.

We derive substantially all of our revenues from solutions provided to banks and other participants
in the banking industry. Accordingly, our future success significantly depends upon this industry’s
continued demand for our solutions. We believe that an important factor in our growth has been
substantial changes in the banking industry in recent years, as manifested by continuing consolidation,
regulatory change, technological innovation, the emergence of the Internet and other trends. If this
environment of change were to slow, we could experience reduced demand for our solutions. In
addition, the banking industry is sensitive to changes in economic conditions and is highly susceptible to
unforeseen events, such as domestic or foreign political instability, recession, inflation or other adverse
occurrences that may result in a significant decline in the utilization of bank services. Furthermore, due
to concerns regarding data security and other factors, banks have been and may in the future be
hesitant to adopt electronic solutions, which can adversely affect the demand for our solutions. Any
event that results in decreased consumer or corporate use of bank services, or increased pressures on
banks towards the in-house development and implementation of revenue enhancement or cost
reduction measures, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our inability to respond to a decline in check volumes could reduce our revenues and have a material
adverse effect on our business.

We have in the past derived a significant portion of our revenues from check related products and
services. A decline in check volumes could have a material adverse effect on our business. If banks and
merchants decide to use pricing incentives to further stimulate a decline in check usage, this decline in
usage could accelerate. Our future success depends on our ability to leverage existing competencies to
support emerging payments types, and to define and develop new solutions addressing those payment
types. If we are unable to capitalize on these competencies to generate new revenues to offset any loss




of revenues arising as a result of a decline in check usage, then our business could be adversely
affected.

Various factors, some beyond our control, could cause fluctuations in our operating results,

We have experienced in the past, and expect to experience in the future, significant fluctuations in
quarterly operating results, Such fluctuations may be caused by many factors, including but not limited
to the timing of contract execution and revenue recognition and our mix of revenues derived from
consulting and management service fees on the one hand, and software-related fees on the other.

Risks over which we have little or no control, including customer budget cycles and priorities, can
also significantly affect operating results. As a result of these factors, our quarterly revenues and
operating results are difficult to forecast. It is possible that our future quarterly results of operations
from time to time will not meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could have a
material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

We do not typically enter into long-term agreements with our customers, which makes it more difficult
to plan and efficiently allocate our resources, and any deferral, modification or cancellation of a
customer project can adversely affect our operating results.

We typically provide services to customers on a project-by-project basis without long-term
agreements. When a customer defers, modifies or cancels a project, we must be able to rapidly
re-deploy our personnel to other projects in order to minimize the under-utilization of our personnel
and the resulting adverse impact on operating results. In addition, our operating expenses are relatively
fixed and cannot be reduced on short notice to compensate for unanticipated variations in the number
or size of projects in progress. As a result, any delay, modification or cancellation of a customer
project, or any disruption of our business relationships with any of our significant customers or with a
number of smaller customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

QOur future success significantly depends on the experience of our key personnel, and the loss of any
one of them could impair our ability to do business.

Our future success depends, in significant part, upon the continued services of John D. Carreker,
Jr., our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, as well as other executive officers and key
personnel. The loss of services of Mr. Carreker or one or more of our other executive officers or key
employees could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and resuits of
operations, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to retain our executive officers or key
personnel. We do not maintain key-man life insurance covering any of our executive officers or other
key personnel.

Our future success depends on our ability to develop new technologies and services to meet the
changing needs of our current and future customers, and our inability to introduce new solutions
could negatively impact our ability to do business and maintain our financial condition.

We regularly undertake new projects and initiatives in order to meet the changing needs of our
customers. In so doing, we invest substantial resources with no assurance of their ultimate success. We
believe our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability to:

* enhance our existing solutions;

* design and introduce new solutions that address the increasingly sophisticated and varied needs
of our current and prospective customers;

* develop leading technology;
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* respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards on a timely and
cost-effective basis; and

* leverage existing customer relationships and the content knowledge we have developed as a
by-product of our current legacy position to formulate and influence thought leadership in the
Payments business.

There can be no assurance that future advances in technology will be beneficial to, or compatible
with, our business or that we will be able to incorporate such advances into our business. In addition,
keeping abreast of technological advances in our business may require substantial expenditures and
lead-time. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in using new technologies, adapting our
solutions to emerging industry standards or developing, introducing and marketing solution
enhancements or new solutions, or that we will not experience difficulties that could delay or prevent
the successful development, introduction or marketing of these solutions. If we incur increased costs or
are unable, for technical or other reasons, to develop and introduce new solutions or enhancements of
existing solutions in a timely manner in response to changing market conditions or customer
requirements, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected.

Our focus on providing business process outsourcing, or BPO, with a significant offshore component
subjects us to risks associated with new markets, new competition, cross border and geopolitical risks
and a dependence on third-party providers.

Our BPO business model gives rise to numerous risks, particularly risks related to our dependence
on third party providers operating in distant geographic regions and those associated with entering a
new market with competitors who may have significantly more resources than we do. The success of
our BPO model partially depends on the performance of our offshore third party service provider
partner’s parent company with whom we have contracted to provide BPO services to our clients. In
addition, we have to compete on the basis of a number of factors including the attractiveness and
breadth of the business strategy and services that we offer, pricing, technological innovation, quality of
service, ability to invest in or acquire assets of potential customers, and our scale in certain industries
or geographic regions. Because some of these factors are outside of our control and because many of
our competitors may have greater financial resources, larger customer bases, and larger technical, sales
and marketing resources, we cannot be sure that we will compete successfully against them in the
future. If we fail to compete successfully against our competitors with respect to these or other factors,
our BPO business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected.

There is competition in our industry for qualified banking professionals and technical and managerial
personnel, and our failure to attract and retain these people could affect our ability to respond to
banking and technological change and to increase our revenues.

Our future success depends upon our continuing ability to attract and retain highly qualified
banking, technical and managerial personnel. Competition for such personnel has at times caused
difficulties in attracting the desired number of such individuals. Further, our employees have left us to
work in-house with our customers and with our competitors. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to attract or retain a sufficient number of highly qualified employees or independent contractors in
the future. If we are unable to attract personnel in key positions, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

A small number of customers accounts for a substantial portion of our business, so the loss of any one
of them could have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.

Our five largest customers accounted for approximately 31%, 28% and 34% of total revenues
during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Our significant customers
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have changed from period to period. However, a significant portion of our current revenues is derived
from customers who were major customers in prior years, and we are therefore dependent to a
significant degree on our ability to maintain our existing relationships with these customers. There can
be no assurance that we will be successful in maintaining our existing customer relationships or in
securing additional customers, and there can be no assurance that we can retain or increase the volume
of business that we do with such customers. In particular, continuing consolidation within the banking
industry may result in the loss of one or more significant customers. Any failure by us to retain one or
more of our large customers, maintain or increase the volume of business done for such customers or
establish profitable relationships with additional customers could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and resuits of operations.

We face increased competition that could result in price reductions, fewer customer orders and loss of
market share, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business.

We compete with third-party providers of services and software products to the banking industry
that include consulting firms and software companies. Some of our competitors have significantly
greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do. Qur competitors may be able to
respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements or to
devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products than we can. Also,
some of our current and potential competitors have greater name recognition and larger customer
bases that such competitors could leverage to increase market share at our expense. We expect to face
increased competition as other established and emerging companies enter the banking services market.
Increased competition could result in price reductions, fewer customer orders and loss of market share,
any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against current or
future competitors, and the failure to do so would have a material adverse effect upon our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to competing with a variety of third parties, we experience competition from our
customers and potential customers. From time to time, these potential customers develop, implement
and maintain their own services and applications for revenue enhancements, cost reductions and/or
enhanced customer services, rather than purchasing services and related products from third parties.
There can be no assurance that these customers or other potential customers will perceive sufficient
value in our solutions to justify investing in them. In addition, customers or potential customers could
enter into strategic relationships with one or more of our competitors to develop, market and sell
competing services or products.

Our inability to protect adequately our proprietary technology or to prevent its unauthorized use could
divert our financial resources and cause significant expenditures, which could materially harm our
business.

Our success significantly depends upon our proprietary technology and information. We rely upon
a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and confidentiality procedures to
protect our proprietary technology and information. We have a number of issued patents and registered
trademarks. There can be no assurance that the steps we have taken to protect our services and
products are adequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology or that our competitors
independently will not develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our
technology. Furthermore, it is very difficult to police unauthorized use of our software due to the
nature of software. Any such misappropriation of our proprietary technology or information or the
development of competitive technologies could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In addition, the laws of some countries in which our software is distributed do not protect our
intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. For example, the laws
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of a number of foreign jurisdictions in which we license our software protect trademarks solely on the
basis of the first to register. We currently do not possess any trademark registrations in foreign
jurisdictions, although we do have copyright protection of our software under the provisions of various
international conventions. Accordingly, intellectual property protection of our services and products
may be ineffective in many foreign countries. In summary, there can be no assurance that the
protection provided by the laws of the United States or such foreign jurisdictions will be sufficient to
protect our proprietary technology or information.

Infringement claims by third parties can subject us to substantial liability and expenses and can
impair our ability to sell our solutions.

We may need to litigate claims against third parties to enforce our intellectual property rights,
protect our trade secrets, determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or defend
against claims of infringement or invalidity. We may be required to incur significant costs in reaching a
resolution to the asserted claims, or any other claims that may be asserted against us. These types of
claims commonly increase as technology providers develop new product offerings. There can be no
assurance that the resolution of a claim would not require us to pay damages or obtain a license to the
third party’s intellectual property rights in order to continue licensing our software as currently offered
or, if such a third-party license is required, that it would be available on terms acceptable to us. The
resolution of claims may also divert our management resources. If we cannot adequately protect our
proprietary rights, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition.

We depend on third parties for some of our technology licenses, and if we cannot obtain satisfactory
licenses our business could suffer.

Some technology used in our current software and software in development includes technology
licensed from third parties. These licenses generally require us to pay royalties and to fulfill
confidentiality obligations. The termination of any such licenses, or the failure of the third party
licensors to adequately maintain or update their products, could result in delays in our ability to
implement solutions or in delays in the introduction of our new or enhanced solutions while we search
for similar technology from alternative sources, if any, which could prove costly. Any need to
implement alternative technology could prove to be very expensive for us, and any delay in solution
implementation could result in a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results
of our operations. It may also be necessary or desirable in the future to obtain additional licenses for
use of third-party products in our solutions, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to do
so on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

We may face liability claims related to the use of our solutions and the defense of these claims could
have a negative effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

As a result of our suite of solutions that address critical functions of bank operations, we are
exposed to possible liability claims from banks and their customers. Although we attempt to mitigate
liability in our contracts and have not experienced any material liability claims to date, there can be no
assurance that we will not become subject to such claims in the future. A liability claim against us
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition solutions at times in the past have been, and in the future may be, incompatible with
the operating environments of our customers or inappropriate to address their needs, resulting in
additional costs being incurred by us in rendering services to our customers. Further, like other
software products, our software occasionally has contained undetected errors, or “bugs,” which become
apparent through use of the software. Because our new or enhanced software initially is installed at a
limited number of sites and operated by a limited number of users, such errors and/or incompatibilities
may not be detected for a number of months after delivery of the software. The foregoing errors in the




past have resulted in the deployment of our personnel and funds to cure errors, occasionally resulting
in cost overruns and delays in solutions development and enhancement. Moreover, solutions with
substantial errors could be rejected by or result in damages to customers, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance
that errors or defects will not be discovered in the future, potentially causing delays in solution
implementation or requiring design modifications that could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. It is also possible that errors or defects in our solutions could give
rise to liability claims against us.

Information and data security requirements placed upon us by our customers necessitates investment
and improvement in our information technology infrastructure and processes and a failure to
adequately protect such information could adversely affect our business.

Our business requires the storage and transmission of sensitive business information of our
customers. Significant capital and investment in other resources is required to protect against the threat
of security breaches or computer viruses, or to alleviate problems caused by breaches or viruses. To the
extent that our activities or the activities of our customers require the storage and transmission of
confidential information, such as banking records or credit information, security breaches and viruses
could expose us to claims, litigation or other possible liabilities. Our inability to prevent security
breaches or computer viruses could also cause our customers to lose confidence in our solutions and
terminate their relationships with us.

We face risks in connection with the expansion of our international operations, which could have a
negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We provide solutions to banks outside the United States, and a key component of our growth
strategy is to broaden our international operations. In addition, our provision of business process
outsourcing involves a significant offshore component. Our international operations are subject to risks
inherent in the conduct of international business, including unexpected changes in regulatory
requirements, fluctuations in exchange rates and devaluations of foreign currencies, export license
requirements, restrictions on the export of critical technology, difficulties in staffing international
projects, longer accounts receivable cycles and difficulties in collecting payments.

Some of our international sales are denominated in local currencies, and the impact of future
exchange rate fluctuations on our financial condition and results of operations cannot be accurately
predicted. There can be no assurance that fluctuations in currency exchange rates in the future will not
have a material adverse effect on revenue from international sales and thus our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Government regulation and legal uncertainties could force us to change our operations, which could
have a material adverse effect on our ability to maintain our current business.

Our primary customers are banks. Although the solutions that we currently offer have not been
subject to any material, specific government regulation, the banking industry is regulated heavily, and
we expect that such regulation will affect the relative demand for our solutions. While we are not
directly subject to federal or state regulations specifically applicable to financial institutions, such as
banks, thrifts and credit unions, the Federal Reserve, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the
National Credit Union Administration, the Office of Thrift Supervision, the Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency, and various state regulatory authorities typically assert the right to observe the
operations of companies to which certain functions of financial institutions (such as data processing)
are outsourced. These regulators may from time to time also claim the right to observe the operations
of companies like us that provide software to financial institutions. In addition, financial institutions
with whom we do business may from time to time require, by contract or otherwise, that evaluations of
our internal controls be performed by independent auditors or by the financial institutions themselves.
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There can be no assurance that federal, state or foreign governmental authorities will not adopt new
regulations, and any adoption of new regulations could require us to modify our current or future
solutions. The adoption of laws or regulations affecting us or our customers’ businesses could reduce
our growth rate or could otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our stock price has fluctuated significantly, sometimes for reasons unrelated to our performance.

Historically there has been significant volatility in the market price of our common stock, as well
as in the market price of securities of many companies in the technology sector.

We believe that factors such as quarterly fluctuations in financial results or announcements by us,
our competitors, banks and other bank industry participants could cause the market price of our
common stock to fluctuate substantially. Other factors which may have a significant impact on the
market price of our common stock include, but are not limited to; changes in earnings estimates or
recommendations by securities analysts and the outcome of the securities litigation (see “Item 3. Legal
Proceedings.)

In addition, the stock market may experience extreme price and volume fluctuations that often are
unrelated to the operating performance of specific companies. Market fluctuations or perceptions
regarding the banking industry and general economic or political conditions may adversely affect the
market price of the common stock.

Our intangible assets could become impaired and adversely affect our future results of operations and
financial position.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001. Under SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have
indefinite lives will no longer be amortized but will be subject to annual impairment tests in accordance
with the Statement. There can be no assurance that such tests will not result in a determination that
these assets have been impaired. If at any time it is determined that an impairment has occurred, we
will be required to reflect the impaired value as a charge resulting in a reduction in earnings in the
quarter such impairment is identified and a corresponding reduction in the net asset value of the
Company. The Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $46.0 million in the quarterly
period ended January 31, 2003. The fair values used in this evaluation were estimated based upon the
consideration of a number of fair value estimation techniques including a discounted cash flow analysis
and consideration of the market price of the Company’s stock. Goodwill that remains recorded at
January 31, 2005 was $20.8 million. Declines in market conditions, increases in interest rates and
changes in projections with respect to the Global Payments Technologies reporting unit in which
goodwill is allocated could result in additional impairment charges in the future.

In addition to the Goodwill discussed above, we have other intangible assets which are currently
being amortized. These intangible assets are as follows:

* Capitalized Software—We capitalize the development costs of software, other than internal-use
software, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, “Accounting
for Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed,” (“SFAS 86).
Capitalized software that is recorded at January 31, 2005 was $3.2 million.

* Acquired Developed Technology—Acquired developed technology includes purchased technology
intangible assets associated with acquisitions. These purchased technology intangibles are initially
recorded based on the fair value ascribed at the time of acquisition. The acquired developed
technology that is recorded at January 31, 2005 was $9.9 million.
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* Customer Relationships—Customer relationships includes an intangible asset with a definite
useful life. The customer relationship intangible that is recorded at January 31, 2005 was
$3.3 million.

Declines in both current and projected demand for our software product offerings could result in
impairment charges in the future.

The ultimate realization of revenue from contracted sales, potential sales and backlog cannot always
be predicted with a high degree of accuracy.

From time to time management provides information regarding our contracted sales, potential
sales and our backlog for contracted services, contracted contingent services, contracted licenses and
contracted maintenance. Management also provides our expectations with regard to the realization of
revenue from such contracted sales, potential sales and backlog. These expectations can be influenced
by many factors, some of which are beyond our control, and include but are not limited to the
following:

» Customer buying decisions and implementation timelines and schedules
» Customer budget cycles and priorities

* Our ability to develop new technologies and services in a timely manner
 Customer acceptance of our new technologies or services

* Receipt of cash payment

Changes in the Accounting Treatment of Stock Options and Other Share-Based Compensation Could
Adversely Affect Our Results of Operations.

We currently account for share-based payments to employees (which include stock options) using
the intrinsic value method of APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and, as such,
generally recognize no compensation cost for employee stock options. In December 2004, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payments,” (“SFAS 123(R)”). SFAS 123(R) requires companies to adopt the
fair-value methodology of valuing stock options and other share-based compensation and recognize that
valuation in the financial statements from the date of grant. Adoption is required for all interim and
annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. This change in accounting treatment of employee stock
options will likely have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations, as the share-based
compensation expense will be charged directly against our earnings. Furthermore, adoption of
SFAS 123(R) will require us to make certain assumptions and judgments in the valuation of stock
options that we may grant in the future. A change in any of those assumptions or judgments could
change the compensation expense that is charged against our earnings and, consequently, adversely
affect our results of operations.

The ultimate resolution of the class action lawsuits may have a material adverse effect on our
business.

We are unable to predict or determine the final outcome of the class action lawsuits described
under “Item 3. Legal Proceedings,” and the effect of these proceedings on our financial results, our
business or our management. In addition, it is not feasible to estimate the amounts or potential range
of losses with respect thereto. The potential outcomes or resolutions of the class action lawsuits could
include judgments against us or settlements that could require substantial payments by us. In addition,
the timing of the final resolution of these matters is uncertain. We believe that material adverse
outcomes with respect to the class action lawsuits could have a material adverse effect on our financial
results, our business or our management.
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We cannot predict every event and circumstance which may impact our business and, therefore, the
risks and uncertainties discussed above may not be the only ones you should consider.

The risks and uncertainties discussed above are in addition to those that apply to most businesses
generally. In addition, as we continue to grow our business, we may encounter other risks of which we
are not aware at this time. These additional risks may cause serious damage to our business in the
future, the impact of which we cannot estimate at this time.
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Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive office is a leased facility with approximately 72,433 square feet of space in
Dallas, Texas. The lease agreement for this space expires on May 31, 2010. We also lease approximately
22,491 square feet in Memphis, Tennessee pursuant to a lease agreement which expires August 31,
2010; approximately 40,307 square feet in Charlotte, North Carolina pursuant to a lease agreement
which expires December 31, 2008 and 4,111 square feet in London, England pursuant to a lease
agreement which expires September 30, 2006. We believe that our facilities are well maintained and in
good operating condition and are adequate for our present and anticipated levels of operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

On June 15, 2004, by mutual agreement between the parties, Civil Action No. 303CV1211-M was
reinstated in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division. This
action was originally filed on May 29, 2003, in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Texas, Dallas Division as Civil Action no. 303CV1211-D. On January 15, 2004, the Court,
acting upon the joint motion of the parties, dismissed the action without prejudice. This action was
brought as a shareholders’ derivative action pursuant to Rule 23.1, Fed.R.Civ.P. for the benefit of
Nominal Defendant Carreker Corporation against certain of its current and former officers and
directors, i.e., John D. Carreker, Jr., James D. Carreker, Richard R. Lee, Jr., James L. Fischer,
Donald L. House, David K. Sias, Terry L. Gage, James R. Erwin, Ronald G. Steinhart and Ronald
Antinori, seeking to remedy their individual breaches of fiduciary duty, including their knowing
violations of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”), knowing violations of federal and
state securities laws, acts of bad faith and other breaches of fiduciary duty. The plaintiff seeks redress
(the form of, among others, unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, interest and costs,
including legal fees) for injuries to the Company and its shareholders caused by Defendants’
misfeasance and/or malfeasance during the period from May 20, 1998 through December 10, 2002.

On June 2, 2003, in the District Court, Dallas County, Texas, Walter Evans brought a shareholders’
derivative action, for the benefit of Nominal Defendant Carreker Corporation against James D.
Carreker, John D. Carreker, Jr., James R. Erwin, James L. Fischer, Michael D. Hansen, Donald L.
House, Richard R. Lee, Jr., David K. Sias, Ronald J. Steinhart, and Ernst & Young, LLP and Carreker
Corporation, Nominal Defendant (Cause No. 0305505). The complaint alleges that the director
defendants breached their fiduciary duty to the company. In addition the complaint makes certain
allegations against the Company’s independent auditors Ernst & Young LLP. The complaint seeks
unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, as well as interest and costs, including legal fees from
the director defendants.

On April 16, 2003 the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas
Division, issued an order consolidating a number of purported class action lawsuits against the
Company, John D. Carreker Jr. and Terry L. Gage into a Consolidated Action styled In re Carreker
Corporation Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 303CV0250-M. Also, on March 3, 2003, Claude
Alton Coulter filed a purported class action lawsuit (Civil Action No. 503-CV-5-Q) against the
Company, John D. Carreker Jr. and Terry L. Gage in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas, Texarkana Division. These complaints, filed on behalf of purchasers of the Company’s
common stock between May 20, 1998 and December 10, 2002, inclusive, allege violations of
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 against all defendants and
violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act against the individual defendants. These complaints
also allege, among other things, that defendants artificially inflated the value of the Company’s stock by
knowingly or recklessly misrepresenting the Company’s financial results during the purported class
period. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, interest and costs,
including legal fees. On March 22, 2005, the Court dismissed claims by purchasers of the Company’s
common stock prior to July 30, 1999.

25




The Company and individual defendants deny the allegations in these complaints and intend to
defend themselves vigorously. It is not possible at this time to predict whether the Company will incur
any liability or to estimate the damages, or the range of damages, if any, that the Company might incur
in connection with these lawsuits. The ultimate resolution of these lawsuits could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The Company is periodically involved in various other legal actions and claims which arise in the
normal course of business. In the opinion of management, the final disposition of these matters are not
expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to A Vote of Security Holders.

No matter was submitted to a vote of our stockholders during the quarterly period ended
January 31, 2005.

PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Our Common Stock has traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “CANI” since
May 20, 1998, the date of our inmitial public offering. At March 31, 2005, there were approximately 413
record holders of our Common Stock, although we believe that the number of beneficial owners of our
Common Stock is substantially greater. The table below sets forth for the fiscal quarters indicated the
high and low closing prices for the Common Stock, as reported by the NASDAQ National Market.

High Low
Quarterly Period Ending
January 31,2005 . . . ... .. $ 888 § 7.40(1)
October 31, 2004 . . . . ... e e e e 10.56 7.28
July 31, 2004. ....... e e e e 10.20 6.49
Aprit 30, 2004 . . ... e 15.01 7.28
January 31,2004 . . . ... 16.76 9.36
October 31, 2003 . . . ... i e e 10.25 4.30
July 31, 2003 . . . e e e 5.50 3.75
April 30,2003 . . . . . 3.76 2.01

(1) On March 31, 2005 the closing price for our Common Stock was $5.61 per share.

We have not paid a cash dividend on shares of our common stock since our incorporation. We
currently intend to retain our earnings in the future to support operations and finance our growth and,
therefore, do not intend to pay cash dividends on the common stock in the foreseeable future. Any
payment of cash dividends in the future will be at the discretion of the board of directors and subject
to some limitations under the Delaware General Corporation Law. However, our revolving credit
agreement, which is described in Note 4 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, currently
prohibits the payment of any cash dividends without approval from the banks from which the revolving
credit agreement was entered into.

Please see “Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters” for information about our equity compensation plans.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following consolidated statements of operations data for each of the three years in the period
ended January 31, 2005 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of January 31, 2005 and 2004 have
been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this
Report. The consolidated balance sheet data as of January 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, and the
consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended January 31, 2002 and 2001, have been
derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Report. The selected
financial data set forth below should also be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial Statements
and Notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Report.

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002(1) 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenues:
Consulting fees . . ... ... ... $ 37,193  $ 34,064 $ 39,204 $ 42342 § 71,715
Software license fees . . . . . .. .. i 20,429 27,365 37,946 25,153 17,765
Software maintenance fees . .. ..... .. ... .. L L., 43,293 45,122 41,858 25,908 11,223
Software implementation fees . . .......... .. ... ..... .. 14,799 18,103 24,310 20,723 9,245
Outsourcing service fees . . . . ........ ... o o L, 139 _ — — —_
Out-of-pocket expense reimbursements .. ................ 3,038 4,254 6,458 9,611 11,265
Total revenues . . ... ... ...t e 118,891 128,908 149,776 123,737 121,213
Cost of revenues:
Consulting fees . .. ... . i e 18,989 20,470 25,067 34,322 38,197
Software license fees . . . . .. ... 7,960 8,020 7,701 6,510 5,215
Write-off of capitalized software costs and prepaid software
royalties(2) . . . . . e — — 954 15,031 —
Software maintenance fees . . ... ... . ... ... . . o . 14,771 13,420 10,773 8,311 2,811
Software implementation fees . . ... ........ ... ... .... 14,747 17,901 19,496 15,328 5,498
Outsourcing service fees . . . .. .. ... i e 616 —_ — — —
Out-of-pocket expenses ... ....... . i 3,087 4,335 7,248 10,899 11,494
Total cost of revenues . . . . . ..o v vt e 60,170 64,146 71,239 90,401 63,215
Gross profit . . . ... 58,721 64,762 78,537 33,336 57,998
Operating costs and expenses:
Selling, general and administrative . .................... 46,524 49,733 50,326 50,112 31,743
Research and development . .. ....................... 8,644 7,471 11,307 10,843 6,055
Amortization of customer relationships and goodwill . . .. ... ... 1,400 1,400 1,400 4,339 —
Goodwill impairment(4) . . . . ... .. .. o — —_ 46,000 — —
Restructuring and other charges(5) . .. .................. 3,682 1,901 2,945 22,464 —
Total operating costs and expenses . . ... ......co0 ., 60,250 60,505 111,978 87,758 37,798
Income (loss) from operations . ................. ... (1,529) 4,257 (33,441)  (54,422) 20,200
Other income (expense):
INterest iNCOME . . . . . v v v ittt e e e 306 266 414 1,564 1,954
Interest EXpense . . . . . . oottt e e (442) (1,218) (2,583) (2,216) 97
Other income (eXpense) . . . . .. ... v 1,037 601 505 (144) (135)
Total other income (expense), net .. ...... ... 901 (351) (1,664) (796) 1,722
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes . ....... (628) 3,906 (35,105)  (55,218) 21,922
Provision (benefit) for income taxes(3) .. ........... ... ... 568 200 (1,475) (1,842) 8,330
Netincome (10SS) . . .. v vt i i $ (1,196) § 3,706 $(33,630) 3$(53,376) $ 13,592
Basic earnings (loss) pershare . ......... .. ..., $ (005) $§ 016 $§ (145 § (244) $ 070
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare . . . .............. ... ... $ (005) $ 015 $ (145 $ (244) $ 067
Shares used in computing basic earnings (loss) per share. ... ... .. 24,295 23,736 23,198 21,853 19,305
Shares used in computing diluted earnings (loss) per share . ...... 24,295 24,384 23,198 21,853 20,429
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JANUARY 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002(1) 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term

Imvestments . . ....... ... $34,516 $ 28,605 § 26,986 $ 25,674 $ 78,505
Working capital . ........... ... ... ... 12,598 11,939 17,432 4,130 107,935
Total assets(4) . ......... oo, 93,019 104,530 110,108 184,899 142,646
Longtermdebt ...................... — 6,250 25,000 44,000 —
Total stockholders’ equity ............... 57,362 56,318 48,598 70,628 121,238

1) On June 6, 2001, we completed the acquisition of Check Solutions Company, a New York general
p q g
partnership (“Check Solutions”). The operating results of Check Solutions are included in our
results of operations from the date of acquisition.

(2) These costs are summarized below (in thousands):

Year Ended January 31, 2002

Capitalized X-Port Vault product costs . ......... .. o, $ 2,942
Write-off of prepaid software royalties with Exchange Applications, Inc. . . . 12,089
Total recorded in the year ended January 31,2002 .................. $15,031
Year Ended January 31, 2003

Capitalized eiManager product Costs . .............. ... $ 3586
Write-off of prepaid software royalties with Actuate Corporation......... 368
Total recorded in the year ended January 31,2003 .................. $ 954

During the quarterly period ended July 31, 2001, in connection with our periodic impairment
review of our portfolio of software products, the Vault software acquired in the X-Port business
combination in May 2000 was deemed to be impaired. Based on our calculation of the expected
cash flows of the product, a $2.9 million non-cash charge was recorded. The charge resulted from
the loss of two key transactions and the projected changes in the approach to selling and delivering
the software and related services under a time or usage model.

Effective March 31, 2001, we entered into an alliance with Exchange Applications, Inc.
(“Xchange”). As part of this alliance we became the exclusive provider of the EnAct customer
relationship software and methodology to the banking industry. Under the EnAct agreement, we
became obligated for guaranteed royalty payments of $12.5 million. Based on our periodic
evaluation of the future cash flows associated with this product, a liability for the remaining

$2.5 million obligation was accrued at October 31, 2001, and the carrying value of the prepaid
software royalties, at that time, of $9.6 million was reduced to zero. This resulted in a charge of
$12.1 million to costs of revenue during the quarterly period ended October 31, 2001.

During the quarterly period ended January 31, 2003, in connection with our periodic impairment
review of our portfolio of software products, the eiManager product acquired in the AIS business
combination in January 2000 was deemed to be impaired. Based on the Company’s calculation of
the expected future cash flows of the product, a $586,000 non-cash charge was recorded.

Effective June 2001, we entered into a software license agreement with Actuate Corporation in
which the Company would integrate Actuate Corporation’s software with our Global Tracking and
Cash Solutions within the Global Payments Technologies business segment. We prepaid $400,000
for 40 copies of the software. Based on the expected sales forecasts of this product a $368,000
non-cash charge was recorded in the quarterly period ended January 31, 2003.
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(3) The provision (benefit) for income taxes is based on the estimated annual effective tax rate, and
includes federal, state and foreign income taxes. In fiscal 2004, the majority of our tax provision
consisted of foreign taxes incurred that could not be offset with U.S. tax benefits. Our effective
income tax rate was 5.1% in fiscal 2003, 4.2% in fiscal 2002, 3.3% in fiscal 2001 and 38.0% in
fiscal 2000. The lower tax rate in fiscal 2003 was primarily due to net operating loss carryforwards
offsetting the taxable income generated. The lower tax rate in fiscal 2002 and 2001 was due to
losses we incurred from which we have not yet obtained a tax benefit.

On March 7, 2002, the federal tax law changed to allow net operating losses for taxable years
ended in 2001 and 2002 to be carried back an additional three years. The impact from this change
in tax law, including any reduction in the valuation allowance as a result of the expanded carryback
period, was reflected in our tax provision for the quarterly period ended April 30, 2002. This
resulted in a tax benefit of approximately $1.9 million in fiscal 2002 which was partially offset by
state and foreign taxes.

At January 31, 2005, we had available net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$33.1 million, which begin to expire in 2022.

(4) During the fourth quarter of the year ended January 31, 2003, the Company performed its annual
evaluation for goodwill impairment resulting in a charge of $46.0 million. The impairment charge
was recorded to the Global Payments Technologies (“GPT”) segment as all of the Company’s
goodwill has been assigned to the GPT segment.

(5) A complete description of the Restructuring and other charges for the years ended January 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003 is contained within Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The Restructuring and other charges for the year
ended January 31, 2002, related to our acquisition of Check Solutions, can be summarized as
follows (in thousands):

Workforce reductions . ... . $ 5,408
Charges relating to the discontinuance of our CheckFlow suite ......... 14,018
In-process research and development . .......... ... ... ... .. .... 2,300
Facility closures . . .. ..o oo e 440
Other . .. 298
Total .. e e e $22,464

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion contains forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Qur
actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward looking statements as a result of
various factors, including those set forth under “Business—Forward Looking Statements and Risk Factors,”
elsewhere in this Report or in the information incorporated by reference in this Report. You should read the
following discussion and analysis in conjunction with “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” included in
this Report, as well as our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto appearing elsewhere in
this Report.

Our fiscal year ends on January 31. References contained in this Report to a given fiscal year refer to
the twelve-month period ended January 31 of the succeeding year. For example, our fiscal year ended
January 31, 2005 is referred to in this Report as ‘fiscal 2004.”
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Overview

For the last 27 years Carreker Corporation has designed, developed, sold and delivered payments-
related software and consulting solutions to financial institutions and financial service providers. Our
products and services address a broad spectrum of payment activities and are designed to help our
clients enhance the performance of their payments businesses; improve operational efficiency in
payments processing; enhance revenue and profitability from payments-oriented products and services;
reduce losses associated with fraudulent payment transactions; facilitate compliance with risk-related
laws and regulations; and/or maximize clients’ customer income streams by aligning their customer
interactions and products with customer needs.

We are organized into three primary operating divisions: Global Payments Technologies (“GPT”),
Revenue Enhancement (“RevE”) and Global Payments Consulting (“GPC”). These operating divisions
are operated in discrete yet synergistic ways to bring value to our clients. In addition we have
established a joint venture named Carretek LLC to address the payments outsourcing arena.

Global Payments Technologies. This division is responsible for design, development, sales, and
support of our technology solutions. Revenue is primarily derived from license fees, implementation
fees and maintenance fees.

Revenue Enhancement. This highly specialized practice group provides consulting and software
solutions focused on increasing clients’ revenue streams. Areas of expertise include fee income, market
segmentation, management of customer price structures, account retention, acquisitions and
profitability. A majority of the revenue generated by this division is through benefit-sharing agreements
with our customers, recorded as consulting revenue along with license fees, maintenance fees and
implementation fees from our CVE software offering.

Global Payments Consulting. The objective of this professional services division is to provide our
clients with “applied thought leadership” related to the business of payments. Revenue in the GPC
division is primarily derived through the delivery of consulting services offered primarily on a time and
materials basis to our clients, along with the license fees, maintenance fees and services fees associated
with our Float Pricing System software offering.

In addition to these three divisions, in fiscal 2003 we formed Carretek LLC. Carretek is a
transformational business outsourcer for payment and transaction processing jointly owned by Carreker
Corporation and Majesco Software, Inc., the U.S. subsidiary of Mastek Limited, a leading Indian
outsourcing company with global operations.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins. We strive to control our cost of revenues and thereby
maintain or improve our gross margins. The major items impacting cost of consulting, cost of software
maintenance and cost of software implementation are driven by personnel overhead and related
expenses. The major items impacting cost of software licenses are amortization of both capitalized and
acquired software and also software royalties for software from third parties. While the amortization
expense is relatively fixed, the third party royalty expense can vary significantly based on the relative
product mix.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses, including selling, general and administrative and research
and development, are substantially driven by personnel and overhead expenses. Other significant
operating expenses that we monitor include professional fees, use of contractors, travel, insurance and
office services expenses. Additionally in fiscal 2004, the settlement of the EPG legal action along with
associated legal fees was recorded on the Restructuring and Other Charges financial statement caption
on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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Liguidity and Cash Flows. Cash and cash equivalents at January 31, 2005 and 2004 totaled
$34.5 million and $28.6 million, respectively. During fiscal 2004, we generated $15.3 million in cash
from operating activities, used $5.9 million of cash for investing activities and used $3.5 million for
financing activities. Our primary utilization of cash in fiscal 2004 was to reduce our debt under our
revolving credit agreement, and to invest in our development lab infrastructure along with the

development costs associated with building several new product offerings, especially within our GPT
business segment.

Executive Summary

In fiscal 2004, we generated revenue of $118.9 million and a net loss of $1.2 million. Through
continuing efforts to improve quality and efficiency throughout the company, we generated
$15.3 million of cash from operating activities during fiscal 2004. This cash flow allowed us to pay down
the remaining $6.3 million of our $30.0 million revolving credit agreement, along with making several
investments which enhance and expand our current product offerings. Additionally, we have upgraded
both the hardware and software within our development lab in Charlotte, North Carolina.

While we have made progress in reducing both our cost of revenues and SG&A expenses, our
profitability was hampered by the unfavorable jury verdict awarded to Earnings Performance Group
(“EPG”) in May 2004. The ultimate settlement and legal fees totaled approximately $3.4 million. In
addition, we increased our level of Research and Development expenses approximately $1.2 million in
fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003.

Within our Revenue Enhancement (“RevE”) segment, we experienced $1.8 million, or 5.5%,
growth within our traditional RevE contingent consulting revenues; however, we experienced a decline
of $2.7 million, or 57.9%, within our Customer Value Enhancement (“CVE”) software and proprietary
sales management revenue. Traditional consulting revenues increased in both the domestic and
international markets. The CVE decline was primarily the result of the market softening for traditional
Customer Relationship Management (“CRM”) license sales, and in response we have reformulated the
CVE business model to reflect term software license arrangements as opposed to traditional perpetual
license arrangements. This change in strategy appears to be gaining acceptance, and in November 2004
the CVE group entered into a 6-year term license with a Top 15 U.S. bank that will increase software
and maintenance revenue beginning in fiscal 2005. Additionally, in early fiscal 2005, we also contracted
with a large international bank for a similar multi-year engagement.

Fiscal 2004 was a year of transition for the Global Payments Technology (“GPT”) segment. Several
new products were launched such as ExchgLink, Image Inspector and IRD Author. However, we had
to shift our image technology strategy during the middle of fiscal 2004 because of a change in our
market’s approach to image exchange and our target customers’ timing on implementing these
solutions. Additionally in fiscal 2004, we were late to market with our anti-money laundering
technology. We just recently introduced the latest components of our CORE (Carreker Online Risk
Expert) solution suite. CORE Fraud Manager is a platform that integrates enterprise level risk
management for compliance monitoring and fraud detection. The new products are CORE Fraud
Manager Wires and CORE Fraud Manager AML. These factors had a negative effect on GPT

revenues. For fiscal 2004, total GPT revenues declined $9.7 million, or 11.2%, as compared to fiscal
2003.

Our Global Payments Consulting (“GPC”) segment experienced revenue growth of approximately
$680,000, or 16.6%, in fiscal 2004. These results reflect an expanded sales focus in this segment as we
repositioned this business to focus on Check 21 enterprise-wide payment electronification strategies;
image enablement planning and integration and enterprise risk. New leadership has helped refine our
consulting offerings with a clear value proposition.
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Finally, Carretek is our 51% owned business outsourcer for payment and transaction processing.
Carretek was formed in fiscal 2003 and signed its first agreement in the second quarter of fiscal 2004.
Fiscal 2004 revenues have been minimal, however in late January 2005, we expanded the scope of our
outsourcing engagement with this single customer to include a second set of transaction processing
functions. Even with this expanded scope, we do not expect this business to be profitable until the
scope with this single customer is expanded to its full capacity or until additional customers are added.

We have continued throughout fiscal 2004 to focus on reducing general and administrative costs to
help fund increasing sales and marketing costs in both GPT and GPC, along with increasing research
and development costs to enhance our existing product offerings and more importantly, develop new
product offerings. We managed to these objectives, however with the increase in our Restructuring and
Other Charges, which included the EPG settlement noted above, our total operating costs were
essentially flat in fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003. We are continually evaluating overall expense
levels and remain focused on cost containment initiatives.




Results of Operations

Comparison of Year Ended January 31, 2005 (Fiscal 2004) to Year Ended January 31, 2004 (Fiscal 2003)
and Year Ended January 31, 2003 (Fiscal 2002)

Revenues

Revenues by Segment (§ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ %o $ %
Revenue Enhancement ......... $ 37,404 $ 38544 $ 37,176 $ (1,140) (3.00% $ 1,368 3.7%
Global Payments Technologies . ... 76564 86263 100,612  (9,699) (112) (14,349) (143)
Global Payments Consulting . . . . .. 4,784 4,101 11,988 683 16.6 (7,887) (65.8)
Outsourcing Revenue . ......... 139 — — 139 — — —
Total Revenues . . . ............ $118,891  $128,908  $149,776  $(10,017)  (7.8)% $(20,868) (13.9)%

The decline in revenue within our RevE segment in fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003, was
primarily the result of a $2.7 million, or 57.9%, decline in our CVE software and proprietary sales
management revenue. In fiscal 2004, the market softened for traditional CRM license sales and in
response we have reformulated the CVE business model to reflect term software license arrangements
as opposed to traditional perpetual license arrangements. This change in strategy appears to be gaining
acceptance as the CVE group signed one large term license engagement late in fiscal 2004 and have
signed another similar engagement internationally in early fiscal 2005. The increase in revenue within
the RevE segment in fiscal 2003, as compared to fiscal 2002, was the result of increased demand for
our CVE software offering. CVE revenue increased $1.4 million, or 43.5%, in fiscal 2003. This demand
was being driven by the trend among our customers to expend investments in branch locations,
resulting in pressure to show greater returns on these branch investments through profitable sales
growth, which our CVE solution helps generate.

The declines in revenue within GPT that began in fiscal 2003 also carried over into fiscal 2004.
The lack of a strong backlog of contracted sales from fiscal 2003 and reduced contracted sales activity
in Q1 and Q3 2004 contributed to the reduced revenue. The decline in sales activity was primarily
related to delays in our delivery of new solutions to the market and to unanticipated delays in
technology investments by our customers. We also believe some of these delays are due to the fact that
we bundle our solutions, which cause a slower sales cycle but typically provides a better value for our
customers and the Company. The decline in revenue within the GPT segment in fiscal 2003, as
compared to fiscal 2002, was primarily the result of four factors: (i) Fiscal 2002 had a number of
transactions for software included in the results for the year that did not involve implementation
services and hence revenue was recognized immediately increasing software license revenue in fiscal
2002; (ii) Decisions on technology investments and services projects were delayed out of fiscal 2003 by
several of our customers due to the announcement of several mergers involving our customers;

(iii) Customer decisions on technology investments were delayed generally out of fiscal 2003 as the
industry, our customers, other key constituencies (e.g. Federal Reserve and key processors) and our
competitors focused on Check 21 readiness and opportunities; and (iv) The loss of a few opportunities
to competitors as these competitors dramatically improved their software offerings and services and
offered aggressive pricing proposals.

The increased revenues within GPC in fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003, reflects the result of
expanded sales focus as we completed the repositioning of this business to focus on Check 21
enterprise-wide payment electronification strategies; image enablement planning and integration and
enterprise risk. Additionally, new leadership in this business was introduced in Q4 2004 to capitalize on
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the synergistic nature of the GPC and GPT business segments and refine our solutions with a clear
value proposition. The decline in revenues within our GPC segment in fiscal 2003, as compared to
fiscal 2002, was the result of three primary factors. In fiscal 2002, the majority of the consulting work
performed by GPC was the result of bank consolidation and staff augmentation assignments. The
demand for both of these types of work has declined significantly. Late in fiscal 2002, we began to
reposition this segment to address enterprise-wide payment electronification strategies and image
enablement planning and integration. The timeframe to accomplish these objectives has been longer
than anticipated, and carried over into fiscal 2004,

Our outsourcing revenue is derived through Carretek, our 51% owned business which offers
outsourcing for payment and transaction processing. Carretek was formed in fiscal 2003 and signed its
first agreement in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. The fiscal 2004 revenues have been minimal;
however in late January 2005, we expanded our scope with this single customer to include a second set
of transaction processing functions.

Overall, as we look across our three major business segments along with Carretek, we believe that
we are well positioned, and have a competitive advantage, to capitalize on the significant changes
brought about by the Check 21 legislation, USA Patriot Act and Basel II through our subject matter
expertise in the impacted areas. Based on this outlook, we anticipate contracted sales will improve in
fiscal 2005 as an expanded array of new products are available and have solid references.

Consulting Fees (§ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004  FY 2003 FY2002 $ K2 $ %
Consulting Fees . ................... $37,193  $34,064  $39,204  $3,129 22% $(5,140) (13.1)%

Consulting revenues derived from our RevE segment increased 5.5% to $34.0 million in fiscal 2004
from $32.3 million in fiscal 2003, and increased 1.0% in fiscal 2003 from $31.9 million in fiscal 2002.
Within RevE, we continue to focus on maximizing the value to our existing customer base while
expanding our expertise to new customers, both domestically and internationally. In fiscal 2004, we had
31 revenue producing engagements of which 5 were international and these international engagements
yielded 28.6% of RevE’s consulting revenues. This compares to 22 active engagements of which 3 were
international in fiscal 2003 and 28 active engagements of which 7 were international in fiscal 2002,
Additionally, RevE consulting revenue derived from international customers increased to $9.7 million in
fiscal 2004 from $8.1 million in fiscal 2003 and increased from $7.1 million in fiscal 2002. We anticipate
that RevE consulting revenues in fiscal 2005 will be higher than fiscal 2004 levels.

Consulting revenues derived from our GPC segment increased 72.6% to $2.8 million in fiscal 2004
from $1.6 million in fiscal 2003, and decreased 76.9% in fiscal 2003 from $6.9 million in fiscal 2002.
The increase in consulting revenue in fiscal 2004 is attributable to the momentum gained as we
completed our repositioning of this business to focus on Check 21 enterprise-wide payment strategies
and image enablement planning and integration. The decline in consulting revenue in fiscal 2003, as
compared to fiscal 2002, was due to the fact that the majority of work performed by GPC in fiscal 2002
and prior years was related to banks consolidating and reducing redundant operations, and to staff
augmentation assignments. During fiscal 2002, the demand for this type of work declined significantly
and in fiscal 2003 we took the necessary steps to reposition this business as described above. While we
have gained some momentum in these areas, we continue to be cautiously optimistic about the future
prospects of the GPC segment.
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Software License Fees (§ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002

FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Software License Fees . ... ......... $20,429  $27,365  $37,946  $(6,936) (25.3)% $(10,581) (27.9)%

The majority of our software license revenues are derived from our GPT business segment.
Software license revenues from our GPT business segment decreased 18.6% to $20.1 million in fiscal
2004 from $24.7 million in fiscal 2003 and decreased 31.7% in fiscal 2003 from $36.1 million in fiscal
2002.

License revenues peaked during the first two quarters of fiscal 2002 due to sales of $7.5 million of
software expansion licenses which did not require any implementation services and therefore were
recognized immediately. In the latter half of fiscal 2002, the number and dollar amount of our software
license arrangements began to decline. The decline was in part due to the uncertainty of our special
review and ultimate financial statement restatement; however, our custoniers also began to delay their
purchasing decisions due to both economic and legislative changes within the banking industry, namely
Check 21, which was ultimately signed into law in October 2003 and went into effect in October 2004.
Check 21 permits U.S. banks to accept digital images of checks the same way they accept a paper
check. Several new product initiatives were launched in the latter half of fiscal 2003 and continued into
fiscal 2004. While these products can operate independently and even with other vendor software, these
products were developed to be bundled together to provide one total solution to our customers which
we believe provides increased value. This bundling also tends to delay the sales cycle. We believe that
our customers’ investment decisions and the timing of these decisions have become increasingly visible
in the latter half of fiscal 2004. Combining these factors, we are cautiously optimistic about deriving
license revenue growth for fiscal 2005, as compared to fiscal 2004 levels.

Software license revenues from our CVE product line, within the RevE business segment,
decreased 87.5% to $326,000 in fiscal 2004 from $2.6 million in fiscal 2003 and increased 171.9% in
fiscal 2003 from $959,000 in fiscal 2002. The decline in fiscal 2004 and the increase over fiscal 2002 was
primarily the result of two large international engagements performed in fiscal 2003. Also in fiscal 2003
and carrying over until fiscal 2004, this group lacked sales leadership and capacity. Two new sales
persons were hired in the quarterly period ended October 31, 2004, and in November 2004 the CVE
group signed a multi-year contract to provide software, services and maintenance to a large domestic
bank. However, the impact on fiscal 2004 was negligible.

Software Maintenance Fees ($ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ ﬁ
Software Maintenance Fees . .. .......... $43,203  $45,122  $41,858  §(1,829) (4.1)% $3,264 7.8%

As with software license fees the majority of our maintenance fees are derived from our GPT
business segment. Software maintenance fees are paid pursuant to annually renewable product and
telephone support agreements with our software customers. The annual maintenance fee is generally
paid by the customer at the beginning of the maintenance period and we recognize this maintenance
revenue ratably over the term of the related contract. If the annual maintenance fee is not paid at the
beginning of the maintenance period, we defer revenue recognition until the time that the maintenance
fee is paid by the customer. When the payment is received, maintenance revenue is recognized for the
period that maintenance revenue was previously deferred. Also, maintenance contracts usually carry
annual maintenance fee escalation clauses typically based on an index, such as the consumer price
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index. While we did increase the maintenance fees for selected customers and products in fiscal 2004,
these increases were offset by a major customer that gave notice of their intent to not renew their

$2.5 million maintenance contract for fiscal 2004. The increase in maintenance fees in fiscal 2003 is due
primarily to the expanded product installation base of the products acquired in the Check Solutions
acquisition in fiscal 2001, We are projecting a flat to slightly higher maintenance revenue in fiscal 2005
over fiscal 2004 maintenance revenue levels.

Software Implementation Fees (§ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Software Implementation Fees ........ $14,799  $18,103  $24,310  $(3,304) (18.3)% $(6,207) (25.5)%

The majority of our software implementation fees are derived from our GPT business segment. In
the majority of our customer arrangements, installation services are provided to the customer. In fiscal
2004 and 2003, the decline in software implementation fees paralleled the decline in software license
fees. We estimate modest growth in fiscal 2005 for software implementation revenue consistent with our
anticipated modest increase in software license revenue.

Outsourcing Service Fees (§ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003  FY2002 $ %

1 %
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Outsourcing Service Fees ... ............. $139 $
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Our outsourcing service revenue is derived through Carretek, our 51% owned business which
outsources payment and transaction processing. Carretek was formed in fiscal 2003 and signed its first
agreement in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. The fiscal 2004 revenues have been minimal; however
in late January 2005, we expanded our scope of business with this customer to include a second set of
transaction processing functions. Given our current outlook, we believe that the revenues derived from
this business will increase significantly on a percentage basis over fiscal 2004 levels and increase
modestly on an absolute dollar basis.

Qut-of-Pocket Expense Reimbursements (3 in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Out-of-Pocket Expense Reimbursements ..  $3,038 $4,254  $6,458  $(1,216) (28.6)% $(2,204) (34.1)%

The decrease in these reimbursements in fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003, is the result of
the decline in implementation engagements within the GPT business segment. The decrease in these
reimbursements in fiscal 2003, as compared to fiscal 2002, is primarily due to the decline in the volume
within our GPC business segment. The majority of these GPC engagements in fiscal 2002 was related
to staff augmentation assignments which required our employees to be at the customer location for
extended periods of time, which gives rise to higher out-of-pocket expense reimbursements. In fiscal
2005, we expect these reimbursements to increase modestly with our anticipated increases in both
software implementation and consulting revenues.




Cost of Revenues

Cost of Revenues by Segment (3 in thousands):

2004 vs, 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Revenue Enhancement. . . .. .. ........... $17,818  $ 19,024 $ 17855  $(1,206)  (63)% $ 1,169 6.6%
Zoofrevenue . ... .... .. ... ... 47.6% 49.4% 48.0%
Global Payments Technologies . . .. ......... $36,612  $ 38,551  $ 40439  $(1,939) (5.0)% $(1,888) (4.7)%
Zoofrevenue ... ... ... .. ... ... ... 47.8% 44.7% 40.2%
Global Payments Consulting . . ... ......... $5124  $ 6571  $12945  $(1,447) (22.0)% $(6374) (492)%
Doofrevenue . ............ ... 107.1% 160.2% 108.0%
Outsourcing Services . . ... ... ... ..., § 616 $§ — $§ — % 616 —% $ — —%
Toofrevenue . ... .........uvuei... 443.2% —% —%
Total Cost of Revenues . .. .............. $60,170  $ 64,146 $ 71,239 $(3976)  (62)% $(7,093) (10.0)%
Zofrevenue .. ... ... e 50.6% 49.8% 47.6%

The decrease in total cost of revenues in absolute dollars of $4.0 million in fiscal 2004, as
compared to fiscal 2003, was primarily the result of lower personnel and personnel related costs within
all three of our major business segments. These savings were partially offset by the costs of Carretek,
our 51% owned business process outsourcer which only has one customer and has not achieved the
anticipated economies of scale. The total cost of revenues was 50.6% of total revenue in fiscal 2004. In
fiscal 2005, we expect cost of revenues in absolute dollars to increase slightly; however, the total cost of
revenues as a percentage of total revenues is expected to decline.

The decrease in total cost of revenues in absolute dollars of $7.1 million in fiscal 2003, as
compared to fiscal 2002, was primarily the result of lower personnel and outside independent
contractor and consulting costs within the GPC business segment.

Cost of Consulting ($ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Cost of Consulting . .. .............. $18,989  $20470  $25,067 $(1,481) (7.2)% $(4,597) (18.3)%

% of consulting revenue . . . ......... 51.1% 60.1% 63.9%

The cost of consulting consists primarily of personnel costs related to our consulting engagements
within both our Revenue Enhancement and GPC business segments. The decline in absolute dollars of
$1.5 million, along with the decline in consulting costs as a percentage of consulting revenue in fiscal
2004, as compared to fiscal 2003, was primarily the result of a $1.3 million, or 25.8%, decline in the
cost of consulting within our GPC business segment. The cost reduction efforts within our GPC
business segment that began in late fiscal 2002 continued into fiscal 2004 to bring costs, especially
personnel and related costs, more in line with the expected consulting revenues. RevE’s cost of
consulting remained flat in fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003. The decline in absolute dollars of
$4.6 million along with the decline in consulting costs as a percentage of consulting revenue in fiscal
2003 as compared to fiscal 2002 is the result of a $4.7 million or 48.2% decline in the consulting costs
within the GPC business segment. These cost reduction efforts were primarily lower personnel and
independent contractor costs in response to less demand for our bank consolidation and staff
augmentation services.
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Cost of Software Licenses (3 in thousands):

2004 vs, 2003 2003 vs. 2002

FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 _$__ % $ %
Cost of Software Licenses . ... ............ $7,960 $8,020  $7,701  $(60) (0.8)% $319 4.1%
% of software license revenue. .. ......... 39.0% 29.3% 20.3%

The cost of software licenses consists principally of amortization of capitalized and acquired
software costs along with royalties payable to third parties. The cost of software licenses was relatively
flat in fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003. The decrease in royalty expense, due to a lower volume
of software contracts, was offset by increased amortization expense related to our ExchglLink product
offering and the acquired developed technology related to the purchase of an anti-money laundering
software solution purchased for $1.5 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2003. The increase in absolute
dollars of $319,000 in fiscal 2003, as compared to fiscal 2002, is primarily the result of increased royalty
expense. The increase in the cost of software licenses, as a percentage of software license revenue, is
primarily the result of a 27.9% decline in software license revenue experienced in fiscal 2003.

In connection with software license, maintenance and certain consulting agreements entered into
with certain banks and purchase agreements with vendors under which we acquired software technology
used in products sold to our customers, we are required to pay royalties on sales of certain software
products. Under these arrangements, we recognize royalty expense when the associated revenue is
recognized. The royalty percentages generally range from 20% to 50% of the associated revenue.
Approximately $1.9 million, $2.5 million and $2.5 million of royalty expense was recorded under these
agreements and charged to cost of software licenses in the fiscal years ended January 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively. Depending on our future product mix, our margins from software license fees
may be negatively impacted by increased software royalty expense.

Write-off of Capitalized Software Costs and Prepaid Software Royalties: During the quarterly period
ended January 31, 2003, in connection with our periodic impairment review of our portfolio of software
products, the eiManager product acquired in the AIS business combination in January 2000 was
deemed to be impaired. Based on the Company’s calculation of the expected future cash flows of the
product, a $586,000 non-cash charge was recorded.

Effective June 2001, we entered into a software license agreement with Actuate Corporation in
which the Company would integrate Actuate Corporation’s software with our Global Tracking and Cash
Solutions within the Global Payments Technologies business segment. We prepaid $400,000 for 40
copies of the software. Based on the expected sales forecasts of this product a $368,000 non-cash
charge was recorded in the quarterly period ended January 31, 2003.

These costs are summarized below (in thousands):

Write-off of
Capitalized Software
Costs and Prepaid
Software Royalties

Year Ended January 31, 2003

Capitalized eiManager product costs . ........................... $586
Write-off of prepaid software royalties with Actuate Corporation.. . ...... 368
Total recorded in the year ended January 31,2003 .................. $954

In fiscal 2005, we do not expect any additional impairments of capitalized software or prepaid
software royalties. However, if market conditions deteriorate or demand for software solutions in which
we have capitalized software, or acquired developed technology is not what we expected, these assets
may become impaired and subject to a charge to earnings.
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Cost of Software Maintenance (§ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002

FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Cost of Software Maintenance . . .. ... .... $14,771  $13,420 $10,773  $1351 10.1% $2,647 24.6%
% of software maintenance revenue . . ... 34.1% 29.7% 25.7%

Cost of maintenance consists primarily of personnel and facility costs to provide telephone support,
product defect support and other enhancements to our existing products which are not significant
enough to extend the product’s life cycle, or substantially increase its marketability. These costs are
primarily contained within our GPT business segment. The increase in costs of maintenance in absolute
dollars of $1.4 million and $2.6 million in fiscal 2004 and 2003 is the result of traditional research and
development employees working on software maintenance projects that integrated and enhanced our
legacy products in preparation for new technology and new product offerings. The annual maintenance
fee is generally paid by the customer at the beginning of the maintenance period and we recognize this
maintenance revenue ratably over the term of the related contract. If the annual maintenance fee is not
paid at the beginning of the maintenance period, we defer revenue recognition until the time that the
maintenance fee is paid by the customer. When the payment is received, maintenance revenue is
recognized for the period that maintenance revenue was previously deferred. As a result, our cost of
software maintenance as a percentage of related maintenance revenue will also fluctuate.

Cost of Software Implementation (8 in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Cost of Software Implementation . . . . . . . $14,747  $17901  $19496  $(3,154) (17.6)% $(1,595) (8.2)%

% of software implementation revenue . . 99.7% 98.9% 80.2%

Costs of software implementation consist primarily of personnel and facility costs to provide
software implementation and project management support to customer software implementations
primarily within our GPT business segment. The decline in costs of software implementation in
absolute dollars of $3.2 million in fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003, was primarily driven by a
$2.1 million, or 13.8%, decline in these costs within the GPT business segment and a $1.2 million
decline within the CVE software group contained in the RevE business segment. In both cases, the
decline in these costs was the result of a reduction in new software license and implementation projects
contracted in fiscal 2004. The decline in costs is mostly attributable to a reduction in personnel who
were either terminated or reassigned within the Company. The decline in costs of software
implementation in absolute dollars of $1.6 million in fiscal 2003, as compared to fiscal 2002, was
primarily driven by a $1.0 million decline in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, as a result of the decline
in new software license and implementation projects contracted and also the completion of an
implementation project at the Federal Reserve. The increase in the percentage of software
implementation costs, as a percentage of software implementation revenue, is the result of the decline
of software implementation revenue discussed above.

Cost of Outsourcing Services Fees (§ in thousands):

2004 vs, 2003 2003 vs. 2002

FY 2004  FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ i
Cost of Outsourcing Services Fees . ... ...... $ 616 $§ — $ — 3616 —% $ — —%
% of outsourcing services revenue .. ...... 443.2% —% —%
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The increase in the cost of outsourcing service fees is due to the creation of Carretek, our 51%
owned business outsourcer for payment and transaction processing. In fiscal 2004, this business only
had a single customer. In fiscal 2005, we anticipate the outsourcing service fees cost of revenues, on an
absolute dollar basis to increase and as a percentage of outsourcing service fee revenue, to decline as
we expand the scope of this work.

Out-of-Pocket Expenses ($ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004  FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Cost of Out-of-Pocket Expenses . . . . .. .. $3,087 $4,335  $7,248  $(1,248) (28.8)% $(2,913) (40.2)%
% of out-of-pocket expense
reimbursements . ............... 101.6% 1019% 112.2%

These costs represent travel, meals and other sundry expenses incurred by our employees. These
costs are invoiced to the customer, without mark-up, usually on a monthly basis. Certain customer
contracts do contain expense maximums, so in certain cases not all expenses incurred can be passed
along to the customer. The declines in these costs for both fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 are primarily the
result of the decline in new consulting projects contracted for within the GPC business segment and the
decline in new implementation projects contracted for within the GPT business segment. In fiscal 2005,
we anticipate these costs to increase consistent with the expected increase in out-of-pocket expense
reimbursement revenue.

Operating Costs and Expenses ($ in thousands):

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses ($ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002

FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses . $46,524  $49,733  $50,326  $(3,209) (6.5)% $(593) (1.2)%
% of total revenue . . ....... ... ... 39.1% 38.6% 33.6%

Selling, general and administrative expenses generally consist of personnel costs such as salaries,
commissions and other incentive compensation along with travel associated with selling, marketing,
general management and software management. Additionally, the provision for doubtful accounts,
insurance, including directors and officers insurance, as well as professional services, such as legal and
accounting expenses, and other related costs are classified within selling, general and administrative
expense. The fiscal 2004 selling, general and administrative costs declined $3.2 million, as compared to
fiscal 2003, as we lowered our expense base to better align our cost structure with our current revenue
levels. In fiscal 2004, we expanded our sales capacity in all three business segments and sales costs
increased approximately $1.4 million. These increased sales costs were offset by a decline in general
and administrative expenses of $4.6 million achieved through operating efficiencies and consolidation
efforts. Some of the major declines were personnel and contract labor reductions of $2.6 million, office
service and facilities reductions of $2.0 million and better accounts receivable management which
reduced our bad debt charges by $724,000. These general and administrative savings were partially
offset by $903,000 of professional services related to increased accounting and third party consulting
fees for Sarbanes-Oxley compliance. Even with the decreased expense levels, the selling, general and
administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenue, increased in fiscal 2004 to 39.1%, from 38.6%, due
to the decline in total revenue.

The fiscal 2003 selling, general and administrative costs remained relatively flat, as compared to
fiscal 2002. The increase in the selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of total




revenue, was primarily the result of the decrease in total revenue from fiscal 2003, as compared to
fiscal 2002.

In fiscal 2005, we expect to continue to increase our selling expenses; however, we anticipate that
any increases in selling expenses should be balanced with planned continued decreases within our
general and administrative areas to maintain overall selling, general and administrative costs at a level
that is expected to be consistent with fiscal 2004 levels, exclusive of any expenses related to the
expensing of stock options.

Research and Development ($ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004  FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Research and Development Expenses . . . . . $8,644  $7471  $11,307 $1,173  15.7% $(3.836) (33.9)%

% of total revenue . . .............. 73% 5.8% 7.6%

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel, contract labor, travel and
facilities expenses incurred by our research and development organization. In fiscal 2004, research and
development costs increased as a result of increased new product development. In fiscal 2003, research
and development costs decreased as compared to fiscal 2002 as a result of a concentration of projects
classified as cost of software maintenance which integrated and enhanced our legacy products in
preparation for new technology and new product offerings. Research and development costs are
typically limited to development of new software products, or enhancements to existing software
products, which extend the product’s life cycle and/or substantially increase its marketability.

|
|
In accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for Costs of Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise |
Marketed,” we capitalized $2.6 million in fiscal 2004 as compared to $1.0 million in fiscal 2003 and |
$103,000 in fiscal 2002. In fiscal 2004 and 2003, the majority of our capitalization is related to the |
development of products needed to address the changing market environment due to the Check 21

legislation which went into effect in October 2004. These development initiatives consisted of

ExchgLink, an application to send and receive check images, Express Research, an image-enabled back

office application, Source Capture which enables customers to capture check images at corporate sites,

bank branches and ATM’s, an anti-money laundering application and other fraud detection products.

Software development costs of a product are capitalized from the time technological feasibility is
reached until the general release of the product. We establish technological feasibility through the
process of creating a detailed program design and reviewing the detailed program design for any high
risk development issues or through the creation of a working model. Capitalization only occurs if we
believe costs capitalized are recoverable through future sales of the software product under
development.

In fiscal 2005, we expect this volume of development activity to continue and anticipate that
research and development expense will be slightly higher on an absolute dollar basis.

Amortization of Intangible Assets: Amortization of intangible assets was $1.4 million in each of
fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002. The amortization results from the periodic recognition of amortization
expense of intangible customer relationships acquired in the Check Solutions acquisition in fiscal 2001.

Goodwill Impairment: During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, we performed our annual
evaluation for goodwill impairment resulting in a charge of $46.0 million. The impairment charge was
recorded to the Global Payments Technologies (“GPT”) segment as all of the Company’s goodwill has
been assigned to the GPT segment. The fair value of the reporting unit to which goodwill is assigned
was determined to be less than its carrying amount. Thus, an allocation of the estimated fair value of
the reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit was made to determine the

41



excess of fair value over amounts allocated to net assets. The excess represents the estimated fair value
of the goodwill which was compared to recorded goodwill as of the evaluation date of November 1,
2002 and resulted in an impairment charge of $46.0 million. The fair values used in this evaluation
were estimated based upon the consideration of a number of fair value estimation techniques including
a discounted cash flow analysis and consideration of the market price of our stock. The assumptions in
the discounted cash flow analysis include future revenue volume levels, price levels and rates of
increases in operating expenses to compute projected cash flows for the reporting unit and other
intangible assets within the reporting unit. A discount rate of 26% was applied to determine discounted
cash flows.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 and 2003, we performed our annual evaluation for
goodwill impairment. No impairment resulted from these assessments. We believe that our assumptions
used to estimate future cash flows for these evaluations are reasonable. However, if market conditions
deteriorate or if changes occur in the estimated projections with respect to GPT business, we may be
required to record additional impairment charges in the future, the amount of which could be material
to our results of operations.

Restructuring and Other Charges: 'We recorded various restructuring and other charges during the
fiscal years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 as follows (in thousands):

Charges/

Credits
relating to EPG Legal and
Workforce CheckFlow Facility Litigation Professional
Reductions Suite Closures Settlement Fees Other Total
Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2003:
Quarterly period ended January 31,2003 . ...... $ 633 $ — $ — $ — $2,312 $ — $2,945
Total year ended January 31,2003 . ......... $ 633 § — $§ — $ — $2,312 $§ — $2,945
Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2004:
Quarterly period ended April 30,2003 . .. ... ... $ 545 $ — $ — $ — $ 139 $ — 8 684
Quarterly period ended July 31,2003. .. ....... - 648 — — — 130 — 778
Quarterly period ended October 31,2003 . ... ... (251) — (119) — 141 —  (229)
Quarterly period ended January 31,2004 ... .. .. 390 — — — 181 97 6
Total year ended January 31,2004 . ......... $1,332 $ — $(119) $ — $ 591 $ 97 $1,901
Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2005:
Quarterly period ended April 30,2004 . .. ...... $ 308 $ — $ — $1,686 $ 521 $ — $2,515
Quarterly period ended July 31,2004.......... 192 (1,215) — 14 1,206 — 197
Quarterly period ended October 31, 2004 . . . .. .. 246 — — — 20 — 266
Quarterly period ended January 31, 2005 . ... ... 727 (67) 44 — — — 704
Total year ended January 31,2005 . ....... .. $1,473 $(1,282) $ 44 $1,700 $1,747 $ — $3,682

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2003

During the quarterly period ended January 31, 2003, we recorded a charge of $633,000 relating to
a reduction in the workforce for 44 employees that were terminated. Additionally, we recorded a
charge for approximately $2.3 million for legal and professional fees related to the special investigation
and restatement efforts.

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2004

We recorded $545,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period ended
April 30, 2003, principally associated with the separation of 17 employees, within both the Corporate
and Global Payments Consulting (“GPC”) business segments. During the quarterly period ended
April 30, 2003, we recorded a charge of $139,000 relating to legal and professional fees relating to our
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restatement efforts and the shareholder legal actions described in Note 10 of our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We recorded $648,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period ended
July 31, 2003, principally associated with the separation of 9 employees, within both the Corporate and
GPC business segments. During the quarterly period ended July 31, 2003, we recorded a charge of
$130,000 relating to legal fees relating to the shareholder legal actions described in Note 10 of our
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. ’

As part of our settlement with one of the CheckFlow Suite customers, the customer agreed to pay
us for the replacement product and installation. These payments were recorded directly to this reserve
and all future expenditures to install the replacement product have been charged against this reserve.
During the quarterly period ended July 31, 2003, $366,000 was received from this customer.

We recorded $170,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period ended
October 31, 2003, principally associated with the separation of 3 employees within the Corporate
business segment. During the quarterly period ended October 31, 2003, we recorded a charge of
$141,000 relating to legal fees relating to the shareholder legal actions described in Note 10 of our
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Additionally, during the three months ended October 31, 2003, we reversed $421,000 primarily
related to the true-up of termination benefits as actual costs were lower than estimated amounts.
Additionally, $119,000 was reversed when estimated costs to close certain facilities were lower than our
original estimates. The effect of these revisions in estimates, net of tax, was $0.02 per share on a fully
diluted basis, for the year ended January 31, 2004.

We recorded $390,000 of restructuring and other charges during the three months ended
January 31, 2004, principally associated with the separation of 11 employees. We also discontinued the
marketing of one of our software offerings and recorded a $97,000 charge. Finally, we recorded a
charge of $181,000 relating to legal fees related to the shareholder legal actions described in Note 10 of
our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2005

We recorded $308,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period ended
April 30, 2004, principally associated with the separation of 10 employees. During the three month
period ended April 30, 2004, the Company recorded a charge of $521,000 relating to legal and
professional fees relating to our legal actions described in Note 10 of our Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Company expensed approximately $1.7 million for compensatory damages to EPG after the
jury returned a verdict in favor of EPG on one claim and Carreker on three claims.

We recorded $192,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period ended
July 31, 2004, principally associated with the separation of 8 employees. During the three months ended
July 31, 2004, we recorded a charge of $36,000 relating to legal and professional fees relating to our
shareholder legal actions described in Note 10 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

An additional $14,000 was expensed and the entire $1.7 million EPG settlement was paid to the
plaintiff. Additionally, we recorded a charge for the litigation costs related to this legal action totaling
$1.2 million during the three month period ended July 31, 2004.

We received a final payment of $455,000 from a customer in the settlement with one of our
original CheckFlow Suite customers. This payment was recorded directly to this reserve. Concurrently,
based on revised cost estimates, we lowered our estimate of the cost to develop and install any
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additional software, or software modifications, with these customers and reversed approximately
$1.2 million of this reserve during the three month period ended July 31, 2004.

We recorded $246,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period ended
October 31, 2004, principally associated with the separation of 6 employees. Additionally, we recorded
a charge of $20,000 relating to legal and professional fees relating to the Company’s shareholder legal
actions described in Note 10 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

We recorded $727,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period ended
January 31, 2005, principally associated with the separation of 16 employees. Based on revised cost
estimates, we lowered by $67,000 our estimate of the cost to develop and install additional software, or
modify software for our original CheckFlow customers. Finally, we recorded a charge of $44,000 related
to the closure of our facility in Atlanta, Georgia.




—————EEEEEEEEEEEEE

The activity related to the accrued merger and restructuring charge reserve balance during the
years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows (in thousands):

Charges
relating to

Workforce  CheckFlow  Facility

Reductions Suite Closures  Other Total
Reserve balance at January 31,2002............. $ 3,670 $ 7,213 $367 $ — $11,250
Additions to reserve balance:
Severance charges . . ......... ... ... .. . . ... 633 — — — 633
Reductions to reserve balances:
Cashpaid........ ... . i, (3,222) (6,068) (243) — (9,533)
Reserve balance at January 31,2003 ............. 1,081 1,145 124 — 2,350
Additions to reserve balance:
Severance charges . . .. ........ ., 1,753 —_ —_ — 1,753
Discontinuation of software product . . ........... — — — 97 97
Cash received from customer . .. ............... — 366 — —_ 366
Reductions to reserve balances:
Change inestimate . ..................0vu... (421) — (119) — (540)
Cashpaid.......... ... . .. (1,913) (215) — — (2,128)
Reserve balance at January 31,2004 . ............ 500 1,296 5 97 1,898
Additions to reserve balance:
Severance charges . .. .. .o iv v i i e 1,473 —_ — —_ 1,473
Cash received from customer . . ................ —_ 455 — 47 502
Facility closure charge for Atlanta, GA........... — — 44 — 44
Reductions to reserve balances:
Change inestimate ............ .. .ivun.u... — (1,282) — —  (1,282)
Cashpaid...... ... .. .. i (1,321) (269) — (41)  (1,631)
Reserve balance at January 31,2005............. $ 652 § 200 § 49 $103 $ 1,004

We anticipate that the remaining reserve accruals at January 31, 2005 will be paid or remaining
customer obligations completed within the next 12-15 months.
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Other Income (Expense):

Interest Income (3 in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004  FY 2003  FY2002 $ %o $ %

Interest INCOME « « - -+« o v e oo eee $306  $266  $414  $40  150% $(148) (35.7)%

Interest income consists of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents. Interest income increased
15.0% to $306,000 in fiscal 2004 from $266,000 in fiscal 2003 and decreased 35.7% from $414,000 in
fiscal 2002. The increase in interest income in fiscal 2004, as compared to fiscal 2003, is primarily the
result of higher average cash and cash equivalent balances during fiscal 2004. The decrease in fiscal
2003, as compared to fiscal 2002, primarily resulted from lower interest rates.

Interest Expense ($ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003 FY2002 $ % $ %
Interest Expense . . . .. ...t $442 $1,218  $2,583  $(776) (63.7)% $(1,365) (52.8)%

Interest expense is primarily the result of borrowings used to fund the Check Solutions acquisition
in June 2001. Interest expense decreased 63.7% to $442,000 in fiscal 2004 from $1.2 million in fiscal
2003 and decreased 52.8% from $2.6 million in fiscal 2002. The decline in interest expense in fiscal
2004 and fiscal 2003 was primarily due to continued debt reductions in both fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003.
There is no balance outstanding under our $30.0 million revolving credit agreement at January 31,
2005. The majority of the interest expense incurred in fiscal 2004 consisted of the amortization of the
deferred loan costs and the fees involved to keep the revolving credit agreement active.

Other income (§ in thousands):

2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs, 2002
FY 2004 FY 2003  FY2002 $ % $ %

Gain on sale of Cash Services Australia Pty.

Limited . . . ........... o $ 539 $ — $ — $ 539 —% $— —%
Equity in earnings of Cash Services Australia

Pty. Limited. . ... ................. 17) 172 81 (189) (109.9) 91 112.3
Minority share of net loss of Carretek LLC . . 794 263 — 531 201.9 263 —
Foreign exchange gains (losses) .......... (279) 185 324 (464) (250.8) (139) (42.9)
Other ......... . i, — (19) 100 19 100.0  (119) (119.0)
Total .. ... $1,037 $601 $505 $ 436 72.5% 96 19.0%

Other income (expense) is comprised of our share of income and expense in both our investments
in Cash Services Australia Pty Ltd. and Carretek LLC, along with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Other income (expense) increased 72.5% to $1.0 million in fiscal 2004 from $601,000 in fiscal 2003 and
increased 19.0% from $505,000 in fiscal 2002. The increase in fiscal 2004 was the result of the increase
in the minority share of the net loss of Carretek LLC. Additionally in April 2004, we sold our 25%
interest in Cash Services Australia Pty Limited. The carrying value of our investment was approximately
$383,000 and we received $922,000 in proceeds. As a result of this transaction, we recorded a $539,000
gain. These two increases were offset by foreign exchange losses of approximately $280,000. In fiscal
2003, the increase was primarily the result of the $263,000 recorded as minority interest in the net loss
of Carretek LLC operations.
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Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes: The provision (benefit) for income taxes is based on the
estimated annual effective tax rate, and includes federal, state and foreign income taxes. In fiscal 2004,
the majority of our tax provision consisted of foreign taxes incurred that could not be offset with U.S.
tax benefits. Our effective income tax rate was 5.1% in fiscal 2003 and 4.2% in fiscal 2002. The lower
tax rate in fiscal 2003 was primarily due to net operating losses offsetting the taxable income generated.
The lower tax rate in fiscal 2002 was due to losses we incurred from which we have not yet obtained a
tax benefit. For us to realize the benefit of our net operating loss carryforward and other deferred tax
assets recorded as of January 31, 2005, we must generate substantial future taxable income. Due to
losses incurred in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2002 and 2001, we concluded that the “more likely than not”
criteria required for recognition of deferred tax assets under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 109”) was not met at both January 31, 2005
and 2004. Thus, a valuation allowance was recorded to fully reserve the net deferred tax assets which
resulted in the unbenefitted losses.

On March 7, 2002, the federal tax law changed to allow net operating losses for taxable years
ended in 2001 and 2002 to be carried back an additional three years. Consistent with the requirements
of SFAS No. 109, the impact of this change in tax law and related five year carryback was not used in
the determination of the Company’s tax provision and related deferred tax valuation allowance for the
year ended January 31, 2002. The impact from this change in tax law, including any reduction in the
valuation allowance as a result of the expanded carryback period, was reflected in our tax provision for
the quarterly period ended April 30, 2002. This resulted in a tax benefit of approximately $1.9 million
in fiscal 2002 which was partially offset by state and foreign taxes.

At January 31, 2005, we had available net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$33.1 million, which begin to expire in 2022.
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Selected Consolidated Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)

The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly data for each of our last eight quarters ended
January 31, 2005. We believe all material adjustments necessary to present fairly the results of
operations of the Company have been made.

Three Months Ended

Jan. 31, Oct. 31, July 31, April 30,
2005 2004 2004 2004

(in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
Consultingfees . ......... ... ..., $ 9692 §$ 7930 $10,514 §$ 9,057
Software license fees . .......... ... ... 4,295 5,701 4,577 5,856
Software maintenance fees .. .. ...... .. .. .. .. ... ... 10,486 11,491 10,232 11,084
Software implementationfees . . . .................... 3,656 4,622 3,642 2,879
Outsourcing service fees . . . .......... o i 79 50 10 —
Out-of-pocket expense reimbursements . ............... 673 813 662 890
Total Tevenues . . . .. v e e e e 28,881 30,607 29,637 29,766
Cost of revenues:
Consulting fees ......... ... ... 4,823 4,555 5,082 4,529
Software license fees . ........ ... .. i, 2,189 2,503 1,670 1,598
Software maintenance fees .. .......... ... . ... ... 3,822 3,765 3,386 3,798
Software implementation fees . . ......... ... ... .. ... 3,566 4,002 3,810 3,369
Outsourcing service fees . . . .............. ... ... ... 380 222 14 —
Out-of-pocket expenses .. ........ ..., 754 738 652 943
Total cost of revenues . ... ... oo i i in it e 15,534 15,785 14,614 14,237
Gross profit ... ... . 13,347 14,822 15,023 15,529
Operating costs and expenses:
Selling, general and administrative(4) ................. 11,041 11,320 11,971 12,192
Research and development . . . ...................... 2,542 2,520 1,874 1,708
Amortization of customer relationships ................ 350 350 350 350
Restructuring and other charges(2) . .................. 704 266 197 2,515
Total operating costs and expenses . .................. 14,637 14,456 14392 16,765
Income (loss) from operations . . ...................... (1,290) 366 631  (1,236)
Other income (expense):
Interestincome . . . ........ .. ... . 100 92 66 48
Interest €Xpense . .. ... ...t (107) (106) (121) (108)
Otherincome .. ... s 305 275 27 484
Total other income (expense), net...................... 298 261 (82) 424
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes .. .. (992) 627 549 (812)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes(3) .................. 104 114 350 —
Net income (1I0SS) . . v oottt $(1,096) § 513 $§ 199 § (812)
Basic earnings (loss) pershare ... ......... ... ... ..... $ (004) § 002 § 001 §$ (0.03)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share ...................... $ (0.04) $ 002 § 001 § (0.03)
Shares used in computing basic earnings per share ......... 24,414 24,821 24,671 24,376
Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share ... ..... 24414 25589 25,481 24,376
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Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:

Consulting fees ........... ... ... .. ... ..,
Software license fees ... ........ .. ...,
Software maintenance fees ... ............... ... ...
Software implementation fees . . ............... .. ...
Outsourcing service fees . . . . ..., ...
Out-of-pocket expense reimbursements . ..............

Total revenues .. ...ttt e

Cost of revenues:

Consulting fees .......... ... it i i,
Software license fees . ......... ... ... ... . ... ...
Software maintenance fees(1) ......................
Software implementation fees(1) . ...................
Outsourcing service fees . . .. ...... ...
Out-of-pocket expenses . .........................

Total cost of revenues . . ....... i i i it in e
Grossprofit .. ..... .. . .

Operating costs and expenses:

Selling, general and administrative(1) ................
Research and development(1) .. ....................
Amortization of customer relationships . ..............
Restructuring and other charges(2) ..................

Total operating costs and expenses . . . ..............

Income (loss) from operations . ......................

Other income (expense):

IntereSt iNCOME . . . . . . . o ittt e et et et e
Interest EXPense . . ... ... e
Otherincome . ......... ...

Total other income (expense), net. ....................

Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes .. ..
Provision (benefit) for income taxes(3) .................

Netincome (I0ss) . ... ... ...,
Basic earnings (loss) pershare ... ........... ... ... ...
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare . .....................
Shares used in computing basic earnings per share ........

Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share . ... ...
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Three Months Ended

Jan, 31,
2004

Oct. 31,
2003

July 31,
2003

April 30,
2003

(in thousands, except per share data)

$12,715 § 6,396 § 8202 $ 6,751

5,410 7,026 8,351 6,578
10,358 11,770 14,284 8,710
3,718 4,983 4,508 4,894

887 1,228 816 1,323

33,088 31,403 36,161 28,256

5,277 4,936 5,288 4,969
2,357 2,037 1,905 1,721
3,511 3,600 3,133 3,176
3,503 4,485 5,058 4,855

922 1,122 1,038 1,253

15,570 16,180 16,422 15,974

17,518 15,223 19,739 12,282

13,465 11,797 12,538 11,933
1,950 1,876 1,779 1,866
350 350 350 350
668  (229) 778 684

16,433 13,794 15,445 14,833

1,085 1,429 4294  (2,551)

44 69 73 80
(227)  (234)  (339)  (418)
330 219 36 16

147 54 (230) (322)
1,232 1483 4064  (2,873)
(173) 146 133 94

$ 1,405 $ 1337 $3931 $(2,967)

$ 006 $ 006 $ 017 § (0.13)

$ 005 § 005 $ 017 § (0.13)

24,036 23,812 23,547 23,547

25,979 24,645 23,723 23,547




(1) See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding
reclassification of certain fiscal 2003 amounts to conform to fiscal 2004 presentation.

(2) See Restructuring and Other Charges within Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations for information concerning the Restructuring and Other
Charges.

(3) See Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes within Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations for information concerning the provision (benefit) for income
taxes.

(4) In the quarterly period ended October 31, 2004, we accrued an approximate $500,000 discretionary
bonus for our business segments and corporate support groups which had not qualified for a bonus
under the Carreker Incentive Bonus Plan. During the quarterly period ended January 31, 2005,
operating results were not what had been expected within both the GPT and GPC business
segments and therefore approximately $269,000 of this bonus was reversed. The effect of this
change in estimate, net of tax, was $0.01 per share on a diluted basis, for the quarterly period
ended January 31, 2005.

Our quarterly results may vary significantly depending primarily on factors, such as:
* timing of contract execution and revenue recognition;
* timing of payments, especially maintenance payments, received from our customers;

* increases in costs beyond anticipated levels, especially in the context of costs incurred under
value-pricing contracts, or fluctuations in software royalty expense due to a change in future
product mix;

* the timing and degree of customer acceptance of new solutions;
* fluctuations or delays in schedules for implementation of software licensed to customers;
* the introduction of new or enhanced solutions by us or our competitors;

* our mix of revenues derived from consulting and management service fees on the one hand, and
software-related fees on the other;

* war, terrorist acts and civil unrest;
* timing of consolidation decisions by customers.

Risks over which we have little or no control, including customer budget cycles and priorities, can
significantly affect operating results. Because of the above factors, along with items such as
restructuring and other charges, the results of any particular quarter may not be indicative of the
results for the full year.




Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, we have funded our operations and cash expenditures primarily with cash generated
from operating activities. At January 31, 2005, we had working capital of $12.6 million compared to
$11.9 million at January 31, 2004. We had $34.5 million in cash and cash equivalents at January 31,
2005, an increase of $5.9 million from $28.6 million in cash and cash equivalents at January 31, 2004.
At January 31, 2005, we did not have any long-term debt as compared to $6.3 million at January 31,
2004. We expect that existing cash and cash generated from operating activities will be sufficient to
meet our presently anticipated requirements for the foreseeable future.

Cash provided by operating activities was $15.3 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $20.6 million in
fiscal 2003 and $12.3 million in fiscal 2002. Operating cash flows decreased during fiscal 2004 primarily
as a result of the net loss of $1.2 million in fiscal 2004, as compared to the net income of $3.7 million
in fiscal 2003. The increase in cash generated from operating activities in fiscal 2003, as compared to
fiscal 2002, primarily reflected our need to pay a $6.7 million obligation, assumed during the Check
Solutions acquisition in fiscal 2001, to certain former employees of Check Solutions and other incentive
compensation accrued at January 31, 2002, which caused the decline in accounts payable and accrued
expenses. The increases in both accounts receivable and income taxes payable were offset by the
decline in deferred revenue.

Average days’ sales outstanding fluctuate for a variety of reasons, including the timing of billings
specified by contractual agreement, and receivables for expense reimbursements. The following table
contains the quarterly days’ sales outstanding (DSO):

Quarter ended DSO
January 31,2005 . . ... ... L e e 35
October 31, 2004 . . . . .. .. .. e 35
July 31,2004 . . . ... e e 46
April 30, 2004 . . . ... 46
January 31,2004 . . .. .. e 59

Cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2004 was $5.9 million, and was primarily related to
$3.3 million of routine purchases of property and equipment, mainly computer equipment and the
replacement of certain developmental hardware and software within our development lab based in
Charlotte, North Carolina, along with $2.6 million of capitalized software costs. Cash used in investing
activities during fiscal 2003 was $3.7 million, and was primarily related to $1.2 million of routine
purchases of property and equipment along with $1.0 million of capitalized software costs and a
$1.5 million purchase of acquired developed software related to an anti-money laundering product.
Cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2002 was $3.6 million, and was primarily related to the
purchases of property and equipment. We do not expect significant changes in the purchases of
property and equipment in fiscal 2005. However, we believe that capitalized software development costs
will slightly increase.

Financing activities used cash of $3.5 million in fiscal 2004, $15.2 million in fiscal 2003 and
$7.4 million in fiscal 2002. The cash used in financing activities in fiscal 2004 was comprised of
payments on long term debt offset by proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and cash
received from the minority shareholder in Carretek LL.C. The cash used in financing activities in fiscal
2003 was comprised of $18.8 million of payments on our revolving credit agreement offset by
$3.9 million of stock option exercise proceeds. In addition, we incurred $456,000 of deferred loan costs
when the revolving credit agreement was amended in July 2003. The cash used in financing activities
during fiscal 2002 was comprised of $19.0 million of payments on our revolving credit agreement offset
by $2.3 million of stock option proceeds and proceeds from a private placement of our common stock
on April 5, 2002. The net proceeds from the private placement of $9.3 million were used to satisfy
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obligations due certain employees of Check Solutions of approximately $6.7 million with the remainder
used for working capital.

On June 6, 2001, we entered into a three-year revolving credit agreement with a group of banks in
an amount not to exceed $60.0 million to fund the acquisition of Check Solutions. On July 31, 2003,
the revolving credit agreement was amended to reduce the commitment amount to $30.0 million, and
to extend the maturity date of the outstanding borrowings to July 31, 2006. At January 31, 2005, we
had no outstanding borrowings and at January 31, 2004, we had $6.3 million outstanding under the
credit agreement. Borrowings under the credit agreement currently bear interest equal to either the
greater of prime or federal funds rate plus a margin ranging from 1.25% to 2.25% depending on our
ratio of funded debt to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”);
or London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin equal to 2.75% to 3.75% depending on
our ratio of funded debt to EBITDA. Interest payments are due quarterly. We are required to pay a
commitment fee equal to 0.50% on the unused amount of the revolving credit agreement. The
revolving credit agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, some of which have
been amended, including financial covenants requiring the maintenance of specified interest coverage,
ratio of EBITDA to funded debt, and ratio of 80% of accounts receivable, cash and short-term
investments to funded debt. Additionally, the payment of dividends is precluded subject to the approval
of the banks. Substantially all of our assets collateralize this revolving credit agreement. As of
January 31, 2005, we are in compliance with the covenants of the revolving credit agreement, as
amended.

At January 31, 2005, we had material commitments for our operating leases, as described in
Note 8 in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, including commitments of approximately
$3.6 million in fiscal 2005. The following summarizes our contractual obligations at January 31, 2005
and the effect these contractual obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flows in
future periods (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

1 Year After
Total or Less  Years 2-3  Years 4.5 5 Years

Revolving credit agreement . ... ................. $ — % — 8§ — 8§ — §$—
Operatingleases . . ..., 15,529 3,607 6,126 4,980 816

$15,529 $3,607 $6,126  $4,980  $816

On April 5, 2002, we sold 1,282,214 shares of our common stock to a group of investors in a
private transaction. We utilized the approximately $9.3 million of net proceeds that were received from
the sale to satisfy existing obligations due to certain former employees of Check Solutions, with the
remainder being used for working capital. See Note 6 in Notes to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

We believe that current cash balances and expected future cash flows will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash needs for working capital, capital expenditures and other activities during fiscal 2005.
However, if current sources are not sufficient to meet our needs, we may seek additional equity or debt
financing. There can be no assurance that additional financing would be available on acceptable terms,
if at all. The Company is presently involved in a number of lawsuits, including a shareholder class
action lawsuit. See Note 10 in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The timing of the final
resolution of these matters is uncertain. We believe that a material adverse outcome or outcomes with
respect to the lawsuits could have a material adverse effect on our financial results, our business or our
management including but not limited to, significantly impacting our liquidity in a negative manner as
well as causing covenant violations under our revolving credit agreement, possibly resulting in a default
thereunder. Further, we may in the future pursue acquisitions of businesses, products or technologies




that could complement or expand our business and product offerings, and could change our financing
needs. Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to
support our operations is a forward looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual
results could vary. The failure to secure additional financing when needed could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies

In preparing our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, we use certain estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts and related disclosures and our estimates may vary from actual results. We consider
the following seven accounting policies the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition
and those that require the most subjective judgment. Although we believe that our estimates and
assumptions are reasonable, actual results may differ, and such differences could be significant to our
financial results.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue recognition policies are in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2,
“Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue
Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions,” and Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104,
“Revenue Recognition,” and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements
with Multiple Deliverables.” In the case of software arrangements that require significant production,
modification, or customization of software, or the license agreement requires us to provide
implementation services that are determined to be essential to other elements of the arrangement, we
follow the guidance in SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction—Type and Certain
Production—Type Contracts.”

Consulting Fees. We employ three primary pricing methods in connection with our delivery of
consulting services. First, we may price our delivery of consulting services on the basis of time and
materials, in which case the customer is charged agreed-upon daily rates for services performed and
out-of-pocket expenses. In this case, we are generally paid fees and related amounts usually on a
monthly basis, and we recognize revenues as the services are performed. Second, we may deliver
consulting services on a fixed-price basis. In this case, we are generally paid on a monthly basis or
pursuant to an agreed upon payment schedule, and we recognize revenues on a proportionate
performance basis. We believe that this method is appropriate because of our ability to determine
performance milestones and determine dependable estimates of our costs applicable to each phase of a
contract. Because financial reporting of these contracts depends on estimates, which are assessed
continually during the term of the contract, costs are subject to revisions as the contract progresses.
Anticipated losses on fixed-priced contracts are recognized when estimable. Third, we may deliver
consulting services pursuant to a value-priced contract with the customer. In this case, we are paid, on
an agreed upon basis with the customer, either a specified percentage of (1) the projected increased
revenues and/or decreased costs that are expected to be derived by the customer generally over a
period of up to twelve months following implementation of our solution or (2) the actual increased
revenues and/or decreased costs experienced by the customer generally over a period of up to twelve
months following implementation of our solution, subject in either case to a maximum, if any is agreed
to, on the total amount of payments to be made to us. We must first commit time and resources to
develop projections associated with value-pricing contracts before a bank will commit to purchase our
solutions, and we therefore assume the risk of making these commitments with no assurance that the
customer will purchase the solution. Costs associated with these value-pricing contracts are expensed as
incurred. These contracts typically include payments to be made to us pursuant to an agreed upon
schedule ranging from one to twelve months in length. We recognize revenues generated from
consulting services in connection with value-priced contracts based upon projected results only upon
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completion of all services and agreement upon the actual fee to be paid (even though billings for these
services may be delayed by mutual agreement for periods not to exceed twelve months). In an effort to
allow customers to more closely match expected benefits from our services with payments to us, we
may on occasion, offer payment terms which extend beyond 12 months. When we enter into an
agreement that has a significant component of the total amount payable under the agreement due
beyond 12 months or if it is determined payments are not fixed and determinable at the date the
agreement is entered into, revenue under the arrangement will be recognized as payments become due
and payable. When fees are to be paid based on a percentage of actual revenues and/or savings to our
customers, we recognize revenues only upon completion of all services and as the amounts of actual
revenues or savings are confirmed by the customer with a fixed payment date.

Costs associated with time and materials, fixed-priced and value-priced consulting fee arrangements
are expensed as incurred and are included as a component of the cost of consulting fees.

We expect that value-priced contracts will continue to account for a significant portion of our
revenues in the future. As a consequence of the use of value-priced contracts and due to the revenue
recognition policy associated with those contracts, our results of operations will likely fluctuate
significantly from period to period.

Regardless of the pricing method employed by us in a given contract, we are typically reimbursed
on a monthly basis for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on behalf of our customers.

Software License Fees. A software license is sold either together with implementation services or
on a stand-alone basis. We are usually paid software license fees in one or more installments, as
provided in the customer’s contract but not to exceed 12 months. We recognize software license
revenue upon execution of a contract and delivery of the software, provided that the license fee is fixed
and determinable, no significant production, modification or customization of the software is required
and collection is considered probable by management. When the software license arrangement requires
us to provide implementation services that are essential to the functionality of the software or
significant production, customization or modification of the software is required, both the product
license revenue and implementation fees are recognized as services are performed.

In certain instances, especially with recently developed software, we defer software license revenue
recognition until the earlier of the product being determined to be generally available and subject to
revenue recognition or when the services are completed and the project is accepted by the customer.
This practice is followed for the first two installations of a recently developed software product. After
two successful implementations, the product is considered generally available (“GA”).

Software licenses are often sold as part of a multiple element arrangement that may include
maintenance, implementation or consulting. We determine whether there is vendor specific objective
evidence of fair value (“VSOEFV”) for each element identified in the arrangement to determine
whether the total arrangement fees can be allocated to each element. If VSOEFV exists for each
element, the total arrangement fee is allocated based on the relative fair value of each element. In
cases where there is not VSOEFV for each element, or if it is determined services are essential to the
functionality of the software being delivered, or if significant production, modification or customization
of the software is required, we initially defer revenue recognition of the software license fees until
VSOEFV is established or the services are performed. However, if VSOEFV is determinable for all of
the undelivered elements, and assuming the undelivered elements are not essential to the delivered
elements, we will defer recognition of the full fair value related to the undelivered elements and
recognize the remaining portion of the arrangement value through application of the residual method.
Where VSOEFV has not been established for certain undelivered elements, revenue for all elements is
deferred until those elements have been delivered or their fair values have been determined. Evidence
of VSOEFYV is determined for software products based on actual sales prices for the product sold to a
similar class of customer and based on pricing strategies set forth in our price book. Evidence of
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VSOEFV for services (installation, implementation and consulting) is based upon standard billing rates
and the estimated level of effort for individuals expected to perform the related services. We establish
VSOEFV for maintenance agreements using the percentage method such that VSOEFV for
maintenance is a percentage of the license fee charged annually for specific software product, which in
most instances is 20% of the portion of arrangement fees allocated to the software license element.

Although substantially all of our current software licenses provide for a fixed-price license fee,
some licenses provide for the customer to pay a monthly license fee based on the actual use of the
software product. The level of license fees earned by us under this arrangement will vary based on the
actual amount of use by the customer. Revenue under these arrangements is recognized on a monthly
basis as the usage becomes determinable.

Software Maintenance Fees. In connection with our sale of a software license, a customer may
elect to purchase software maintenance services. Most of the customers that purchase software licenses
from us also purchase software maintenance services, which typically are renewed annually. We charge
an annual maintenance fee, which is typically a percentage of the initial software license fee. The
annual maintenance fee generally is paid to us at the beginning of the maintenance period, and we
recognize these revenues ratably over the term of the related contract. If the annual maintenance fee is
not paid at the beginning of the maintenance period, we defer revenue recognition until the time that
the maintenance fee is paid by the customer. We normally continue to provide maintenance service
while awaiting payment from customers. When the payment is received, revenue is recognized for the
period that revenue was previously deferred. This may result in volatility in software maintenance
revenue from period-to-period.

Software Implementation Fees. In connection with the sale of a software license, a customer may
elect to purchase software implementation services, including software enhancements and other
software services. Most of the customers that purchase software licenses from us also purchase software
implementation services. We price our implementation services on a time-and-material or on a fixed-
price basis, and we recognize the related revenues as services are performed. Costs associated with
these engagements are expensed as incurred.

Outsourcing Services Fees. 'While outsourcing revenue has been minimal to date, we currently
recognize revenue based on the number of items processed multiplied by the contracted price per item.
These services are currently billed on a monthly basis.

Our contracts typically do not include right of return clauses, and as a result, we do not record a
provision for returns.

Royalties

In connection with software license and maintenance agreements entered into with certain banks
and purchase agreements with vendors under which we acquired software technology used in products
sold to its customers, we are required to pay royalties on sales of certain software products. Under
these arrangements, we accrue royalty expense when the associated revenue is recognized. For current
product offerings, the royalty percentages generally range from 20%-50% of the associated revenues.
Royalty expense is included as a component of the cost of software license fees and cost of software
maintenance fees in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of operations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

A large proportion of our revenues and receivables are attributable to our customers in the
banking industry. Our trade accounts receivable balance is recorded net of allowances for amounts not
expected to be collected from our customers. Because our accounts receivable are typically unsecured,
we periodically evaluate the collectibility of our accounts based on a combination of factors, including a
particular customer’s ability to pay as well as the age of receivables. In cases where the evidence
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suggests a customer may not be able to satisfy its obligation to us or if the collection of the receivable
becomes doubtful due to a dispute that arises subsequent to the delivery of our products and services,
we set up a specific reserve in an amount we determine appropriate for the perceived risk. If
circumstances change, such as higher than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change
in a customer’s ability to meet their financial obligations to us, our estimates of recoverability of
amounts due us could be reduced by a material amount.

Software Costs Capitalized, Acquired Developed Technology, Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets
and Other Long-Lived Assets

Software costs capitalized include developed technology acquired in acquisitions and costs incurred
by us in developing our products that qualify for capitalization. We capitalize our software development
costs, other than costs for internal-use software, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 86, “Accounting for Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed”
(“SFAS 86™). Our policy is to capitalize software development costs incurred in developing a product
once technological feasibility of the product has been established. Software development costs
capitalized also include amounts paid for purchased software on products that have reached
technological feasibility. Technological feasibility of the product is determined after completion of a
detailed program design and a determination has been made that any uncertainties related to high-risk
development issues have been resolved. If the process of developing the product does not include a
detailed program design, technological feasibility is determined only after completion of a working
model. All capitalized software development costs are amortized using an amount determined as the
greater of: (1) the ratio that current gross revenues for a capitalized software project bears to the total
of current and future projected gross revenues for that project or (2) the straight-line method over the
estimated remaining economic life of the product (generally three to six years). We continually monitor
the net realizable value of the software capitalized and acquired developed technology for factors that
would indicate impairment, such as a decline in the demand or loss of a significant customer. During
the quarterly period ended January 31, 2005, we performed our annual formal evaluation for
impairment and determined that the carrying amount of these assets were not impaired and have noted
no subsequent factors that would indicate impairment.

Goodwill is assessed on an annual basis for impairment at the reporting unit level by applying a
fair value based test. We performed the initial impairment test of goodwill at February 1, 2002 and a
follow up test at November 1, 2002 to determine if an impairment charge should be recognized under
SFAS 142. The initial impairment analysis did not result in any write-down of capitalized costs. We
perform an annual impairment assessment on November 1% of each year or when factors indicate that
other long-lived assets should be evaluated for possible impairment. We use an estimate of
undiscounted future net cash flows over the remaining life of the asset to determine if impairment has
occurred. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are
largely independent from other asset groups. An impairment in the carrying value of an asset is
assessed when the undiscounted, expected future operating cash flows derived from the asset are less
than its carrying value. Management believes that assumptions used to determine cash flows are
reasonable, but actual future cash flows may differ from those estimated. If we determine an asset has
been impaired, the impairment is recorded based on the estimated fair value of the impaired asset.
During the period ended January 31, 2003, we recorded an impairment charge of $46.0 million due to a
decline in our market valuation. During the quarterly period ended January 31, 2005, we performed
our annual evaluation for goodwill impairment and determined that the carrying amount of goodwill
was not impaired and have not noted any factors subsequent that would indicate impairment. Goodwill
at January 31, 2005 totaled $20.8 million. Any deterioration in market conditions, increases in interest
rates and changes in our projections with respect to the Global Payments Technologies reporting unit to
which goodwill is allocated would result in additional impairment charges in the future.
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Restructuring and Other Charges

During fiscal year 2001, we recorded reserves in connection with our acquisition of Check
Solutions and subsequent operational restructurings. Additional reserves were recorded during fiscal
2002, 2003 and 2004. These reserves contain significant estimates pertaining to work force reductions,
and the settlement of contractual obligations resulting from our actions. In the quarterly period ended
July 31, 2004, we revised our estimate to reflect our remaining costs to develop and install any
additional software, or software modifications, with two customers and reversed approximately
$1.2 million of our reserve, and in the quarterly period ended January 31, 2005 revised this estimate
again and reversed $67,000. Although we do not anticipate any significant changes in the future, the
actual costs may differ from these estimates.

Contingencies

We are subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims. We are required to assess the likelihood
of any adverse judgments of outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A
determination of the amount or reserves required, if any, for these contingencies is made after careful
analysis of each individual issue. The required reserves may change in the future due to new
developments in each matter or changes in insurance coverage or approach such as change in
settlement strategy.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets or liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of
temporary differences between the book and tax basis of assets and liabilities. We review our deferred
tax assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance based on historical taxable income,
projected future taxable income and the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary
differences. As a result of our cumulative net losses we have provided a full valuation allowance against
our net deferred tax assets. In addition, we expect to provide a full valuation allowance of any future
tax benefits until we can sustain a level of profitability that demonstrates our ability to utilize these
assets.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

See “Recently Issued Accounting Standards” in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
Interest Rate Risk

We invest our cash in a variety of financial instruments. The vast majority of these investments are
denominated in U.S. dollars and maintained with nationally recognized financial institutions.

Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest earning instruments carry a degree of
interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair market value adversely impacted due to a
rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest
rates fall. Due in part to these factors, our future investment income may fall short of expectations due
to changes in interest rates, or we may suffer losses in principal if forced to sell securities which have
seen a decline in market value due to changes in interest rates. Our investment securities are held for
purposes other than trading. At January 31, 2005, we did not hold any fixed-rate investments.

We had no outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit agreement at January 31, 2005. As
described in Note 4 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the interest rate under the
revolving credit agreement is variable.
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Foreign Currency Risk

We currently have sales and marketing operations in several international locations including
Canada, United Kingdom, South Africa and Australia. As a result, we have assets and liabilities outside
the United States that are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Due to the nature
of these operations, we currently utilize the U.S. Dollar as the functional currency for all international
operations.

An insignificant portion of our accounts receivable balance at January 31, 2005, was denominated
in a foreign currency. Our exposure to adverse movements in foreign exchange rates is typically not
significant. Therefore, we do not currently hedge our foreign currency exposure; however, we do try to
limit our foreign currency exposure by negotiating these foreign contracts in U.S. Dollars. However, in
the future we may change this practice. We will continue to evaluate the need to adopt a hedge
strategy in the future and may implement a formal strategy if our business transacted in foreign
currencies increases.

Foreign exchange losses were $279,000 in the year ended January 31, 2005. Foreign exchange gains
were $185,000 and $324,000 in the years ended January 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Carreker Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Carreker Corporation and
subsidiaries (the Company) as of January 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
January 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Carreker Corporation at January 31, 2005 and 2004, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended January 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of January 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our
report dated April 6, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/f ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
April 6, 2005
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CARREKER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents . ........ ... ... . . . . i
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $529 and $1,512 at January 31, 2005 and
January 31, 2004, respectively ... ... e
Prepaid expenses and other current assets .. .......... .. i

TOtal CUTTENEL @8SEES . v v v v i ot e et e e ettt e e e e e e e e e

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $20,194 and $17,140 at
January 31, 2005 and January 31, 2004, respectively . ... ... ... . .. L oL
Capitalized software costs, net of accumulated amortization of $12,426 and $11,050 at
January 31, 2005 and January 31, 2004, respectively . .. ... ... . ..o
Acquired developed technology, net of accumulated amortization of $15,773 and $11,153 at
January 31, 2005 and January 31, 2004, respectively . . ... ... ... ... .. .. L
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $3,405 at January 31, 2005 and January 31,
2004 . . e e e
Customer relationships, net of accumulated amortization of $5,133 and $3,733 at
January 31, 2005 and January 31, 2004, respectively . . . . ... ... oL
Deferred loan costs, net of accumulated amortization of $1,300 and $1,028 at January 31,
2005 and January 31, 2004, respectively .. ........ ... ... L oo
OtheT A88ES . . o i e e e e e e e e e e

03 72 B 1T«

Current liabilities
Accounts payable . . ... ... .. e
Accrued compensation and benefits . . ... ... L. oL oL
Other accrued EXPENSES . . . . . v vt vt e e
Income tax payable . . . ... ... . ...
Deferred 1evenUe . . . . .. oottt e e
Accrued merger and restructuring Costs . .. ... ... ...

Total current Liabilities . . . . . ... ottt e e e e e
Long-termdebt . ... ... . .. .

Total liabilities . . . . . . . oo e e
Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $.01 par value: 2,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding .
Common stock, $.01 par value: 100,000 shares authorized; 24,852 and 24,357 shares
issued at January 31, 2005 and January 31, 2004, respectively . . .. ......... ... ..
Additional paid-in capital . . ... ... L
Accumulated deficit . . ... ...
Less treasury stock, at cost: 1 common shares at January 31, 2005 and January 31, 2004 .

Total stockholders’ equity . ... .. .. ..
Total liabilities and stockholders” equity . . . ... ... .. .

See accompanying notes.
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January 31,

2005 2004
$ 34516 § 28,605
11,144 21,751
2,595 3,545
48,255 53,901
6,604 6,690
3,245 2,028
9,927 14,547
20,765 21,193
3,267 4,667
407 680
549 824
$ 93,019  $104,530
$ 992 § 913
7,818 9,219
3,323 4,621
339 80
22,181 25,231
1,004 1,898
35,657 41,962
— 6,250
35,657 48,212
249 244
110,992 108,757
(53,876) (52,680)
€) 3
57,362 56,318
$ 93,019  $104,530




CARREKER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended January 31,

2005 2004 2003
Revenues:
Consulting fe€5 . . . oo e $ 37,193 § 34,064 $ 39,204
Software license fees .. ... ... ... i e 20,429 27,365 37,946
Software maintenance fees . .. .. ... ... . e e . 43,293 45,122 41,858
Software implementation fees ... .......... . ... . ol 14,799 18,103 24,310
Outsourcing service fees . ... ... ... . e 139 — —
Out-of-pocket expense reimbursements . . .............. ... 3,038 4,254 6,458
JOtal TEVENUES . . v i e e e e 118,891 128,908 149,776
Cost of revenues:
Consulting fees . . ... ... 18,989 20,470 25,067
Software license fees . . ... v v i it e e 7,960 8,020 7,701
Write-off of capitalized software costs and prepaid software royalties . . . .. .. — — 954
Software maintenance fees . .. .. . .. i i e e 14,771 13,420 10,773
Software implementation fees ... ...... ... ... . oo L, 14,747 17,901 19,496
Outsourcing service fees ... ... ... . . 616 — —_
Out-of-pocket €Xpenses . . . . . . v ittt 3,087 4,335 7,248
Total COSt Of TEVEIMUES . . v v v v v ettt e e et ettt e e eun 60,170 64,146 71,239
Gross Profit . . . . oot e 58,721 64,762 78,537
Operating costs and expenses:
Selling, general and administrative ... ......... .. ... .. . .., 46,524 49,733 50,326
Research and development ... ........ ... ... ... . .. ... 8,644 7,471 11,307
Amortization of customer relationships . ... ... ... ... . L. 1,400 1,400 1,400
Goodwill impairment . .......... .. ... - — 46,000
Restructuring and other charges . . . . ....... ... ... . ... ... ... ... 3,682 1,901 2,945
Total operating costs and €XpENsSes . . ...........uiiiinieriin.n 60,250 60,505 111,978
Income (loss) from operations. . ... .. ... oo i (1,529) 4,257  (33,441)
Other income (expense):
Interest income . . . ... . ... ... e e 306 266 414
INtErest EXPEnse . . . o v vttt e e (442) (1,218) (2,583)
Other INCOME . . . vttt e et e et et e e e 1,037 601 505
Total other income (eXpense), Net . . .. .. ..o it 901 (351) (1,664)
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes .. .............. (628) 3,906 (35,105)
Provision (benefit) forincome taxes . . . ........... . . . 568 200 (1,475)
Net income (I0S8) . . . ittt e $ (1,196) $ 3,706 $(33,630)
Basic earnings (loss) pershare . ... ..... ... .. $ (005 $ 016 § (145
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare . . . ... ... i i $ (005 8 015 § (145
Shares used in computing basic earnings (loss) per share ................ 24,295 23,736 23,198
Shares used in computing diluted earnings (loss) per share .. ............. 24,295 24,384 23,198

See accompanying notes.
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CARREKER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Additional Total
M Paid-In  Accumulated M’Y_S“’EE Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Shares Amount Equity

Balance at January 31,2002 ............ 21,924 $219 $ 93,680 $(22,756) 27  $(515) $ 70,628
Sale of common stock . ............... 1,282 13 9,310 — — — 9,323
Issuance of shares of common stock upon

exercises of stock options. . . .......... 368 4 2,273 — — —_ 2,277
Netloss .. ... — — —  (33,630) — — (33,630)

Balance at January 31,2003 ........... 23,574 236 105,263  (56,386) 27 (515) 48,598
Reissuance of treasury stock as restricted

SOk L. e — — (512) — (26 512 —
Cancellation of restricted stock .......... (10 — — — — — —_
Compensation expense related to issuance of

restricted stock . . .. ... ... L 218 2 135 — — — 137
Issuance of shares of common stock upon

exercises of stock options. . . .......... 575 6 3,871 — —_ — 3,877
Netincome . . . v v vt v e e e et — — — 3,706 — — 3,706

Balance at January 31,2004 . ... ....... 24357 244 108,757  $(52,680) 1 3) 56,318
Cancellation of restricted stock .......... (83) §9) (64) — — — (65)
Compensation expense related to issuance of

restricted stock . . .. ... .. L L 273 3 491 — — — 494
Issuance of shares of common stock upon

exercises of stock options . . . .. ........ 305 3 1,808 — — — 1,811
Netloss . .....ccooovvv.... — — — (1,196) — — (1,196)

Balance at January 31,2005 ........... 24,852 $249 $110,992  $(53,876) 1 8§ (3) 8§57362

|

See accompanying notes.
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CARREKER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended January 31,

Operating Activities: 2005 2004 2003
Net income (I0SS) . . . . .o oot $(1,196) $ 3,706 $(33,630)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment . . . ... .......... ... .. 3,364 3,443 4,361
Amortization of capitalized software costs and acquired developed technology . ....... 5,994 5311 5,882
Amortization of customer relationships . ... ... .. . . L o 1,400 1,400 1,400
Goodwill impairment . . .. .. ... e e e — — 46,000
Compensation earned under employee/director stock awards. . . ... .............. 429 137 —
Minority share of loss in Carretek LLC . . . .. ... ... o o (794) (263) —
Gain on sale of Cash Services Australia Pty Limited . . . . ..................... (539) — —
Change in estimate related to restructuring and other charges . . . ... ............. (1,282) (540} —
Wirite-off of capitalized software costs and prepaid software royalties ... ........... — — 954
Provision (credit) for doubtful accounts . . . ... ... ... . L L L oL (729) (60) 630
Amortization of deferred 10anm COSIS . . . . . vt i 273 352 432
Lossonsale of assets ... ... . i i e 6 — 1
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable . . ... L. e e e e e e e e 11,336 1,068 13,632
Prepaid expenses and other assets . .. ... ... .. .. i 1,634 5 939
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . ... ... e (1,702) (1,062)  (22,755)
Income taxes payable/receivable . . ........ .. ... ... L oo oo 158 241 4,823
Deferred revenue . . ... .. .. e e (3,050) 6,814 (10,330)
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . ... ... ... ... 0 e 15,302 20,552 12,339
Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment. . . ... ... ... (3,284) (1,158) (3,527)
Software costs capitalized . . ... ... ... e (2,591) (1,043) (103)
Purchase of acquired developed software . .......... ... ... ... .. .. .. .. ... — (1,500) —
Proceeds from disposition of assets . . .. ... .. ... o — — 3
Net cash used in investing activities . .. ... ... .. i (5,875) (3,701) (3,627)
Financing Activities:
Payments on long-term debt. . . . ... ... . L (6,250)  (18,750)  (19,000)
Payment of deferred loan costs . . . . . . ... . e — (456) —_
Proceeds from exercises of stock options . . . . . ... ... ... L Lo o e 1,811 3,877 2,277
Proceeds from sale of common stock . . . . . ... L L e — — 9,323
Proceeds of minority shareholder loan to Carretek LLC . . . .. ....... . ... ... ..... 923 97 —

Net cash used in financing activities . .. . ... .. ... .. .. .. . . o (3,516)  (15,232) (7,400)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . ... .. .. ... ... ... ... ... .. .. .. ... 5,911 1,619 1,312

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . . . . ... ... ... ... . o o ., 28,605 26,986 25,674

Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . . . .. . ... ... .. ... ... .. $34,516 $ 28,605 $ 26,986

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest. . . . . . vt e e e e $ 185 § 950 $ 2,206
Cash paid (received) for income taxes, net .. .. ... ...... ... ..., $ 377 8§ 259 3 (6071)

See accompanying notes.




CARREKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business

Carreker Corporation (“the Company,” “Carreker,” “our,” “we”’) provides payments-related
software, consulting and business process outsourcing solutions to financial institutions and financial
service providers. These solutions help the Company’s customers set winning strategies in their payment
businesses; improve operational efficiency in how payments are processed; enhance revenue and
profitability from payments-oriented products and services; reduce losses associated with fraudulent
payment transactions; and/or improve the alignment of product offerings with customer needs.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Procedures
Principles of Consolidation and Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

In the years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004, the consolidated financial statements also contain
Carretek LLC which is a 51% owned subsidiary. The minority interest and minority interest in income
(loss) of Carretek LLC represent the 49% minority stockholders’ investment and share of the loss of
this consolidated subsidiary for the years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. For
the year ended January 31, 2004, selling, general and administrative expenses have been reduced by
$836,000, while cost of sales-software maintenance fees, cost of sales-software implementation fees and
research and development expenses increased $370,000, $185,000 and $281,000, respectively. The
reclassification was made to conform the presentation of certain information technology costs to the
presentation used for the years ended January 31, 2005 and 2003.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the financial statements and accompanying notes. As discussed below, the Company makes significant
estimates and assumptions in the areas of accounts receivable, impairment of intangibles and revenue
recognition. Although the Company believes that the estimates and assumptions are reasonable, actual
results may differ, and such differences could be significant to the Company’s financial results.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of demand
deposit accounts and shares in a demand money market account comprised of domestic and foreign
comimercial paper, certificates of deposit and U.S. government obligations which are maintained with
nationally recognized financial institutions.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company considers the U.S. Dollar to be the functional currency for its international
subsidiaries. All remeasurement adjustments are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations.
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CARREKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Procedures (Continued)
Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist
principally of temporary cash investments and accounts receivable. The Company places temporary cash
investments with major banks and limits its exposure with any one financial institution.

A significant portion of the Company’s business consists of providing consulting services and
licensing software to major domestic and international banks, which gives rise to a concentration of
credit risk in receivables. Because the Company’s accounts receivable are typically unsecured, the
Company periodically evaluates the collectibility of its accounts based on a combination of factors,
including a particular customer’s ability to pay as well as the age of receivables. In cases where the
evidence suggests a customer may not be able to satisfy its obligation to the Company or if the
collection of the receivable becomes doubtful due to a dispute that arises subsequent to the delivery of
the Company’s products and services, the Company sets up a reserve in an amount determined
appropriate for the perceived risk. Most of the Company’s contracts include multiple payment
milestones, some of which occur in advance of revenue recognition, which mitigates the risk both in
terms of collectibility and adjustments to recorded revenue. Write-offs of receivables during the three
years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $254,000, $189,000 and $1.2 million, respectively.

The fair value of accounts receivable approximates the carrying amount of accounts receivable.

Accounts receivable, net of related deferred revenue and allowances, consist of the following (in
thousands):

January 31,
2005 2004
Gross accounts receivable . ... $ 47,000 $ 56,909
Less related deferred revenue . ........... ... i (35,327) (33,646)
Less allowance for doubtful accounts . ....................... (529) (1,512)
Net accounts receivable . . . .o .o vttt i $ 11,144 $ 21,751

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is caiculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally from three to five years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the terms of
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the related leases or the respective useful lives of the assets. The components of property and
equipment are as follows (in thousands):

January 31,
2005 2004
FurnitUre .. ... ... . $ 5,089 $ 5,070
Equipment and software . .............. ... ., 20,440 17,686
Leasehold improvements . .. ... e 1,269 1,074
Total COSt . v v v i e 26,798 23,830
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . .. ............. (20,194) (17,140)
Net property and equipment . . . .. ... vttt $ 6,604 $ 6,690

The Company accounts for the costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use
in accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. The Company capitalizes costs of consultants, and payroll and
payroll-related costs for employees incurred in developing internal-use computer software. These costs
are included in “Equipment and Software”. Costs incurred during preliminary project and
post-implementation stages are charged to expense.

Long Lived Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” (“SFAS 142”), Under
the provisions of SFAS 142, an annual assessment of goodwill impairment is performed. This
assessment involves the use of estimates related to fair market values of the Company’s reporting units
with which the goodwill is associated. The assessment of goodwill impairment in the future will be
impacted if future operating cash flows of the Company’s reporting units decline, which would result in
decreases in the related estimate of fair market value. The Company performs its annual impairment
analysis as of November 1% of each year and whenever facts and circumstances indicate impairment
may exist.

The Company accounts for long lived assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” (“SFAS 144").
Under the provisions of SFAS 144, long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment and
purchased intangibles subject to amortization, are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability
of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount
by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the asset.

Deferred Loan Costs

Deferred loan costs consist of loan closing costs and other administrative expenses associated with
the Revolving Credit Agreement. On July 31, 2003, the Revolving Credit Agreement was amended as
described in Note 4. In connection with this amendment, the Company incurred approximately
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$456,000 of deferred loan costs. These costs, along with the net book value of the original deferred
loan costs, are being amortized to interest expense over the 36 month life of the Revolving Credit
Agreement.

Capitalized Software Costs and Acquired Developed Technology

The Company capitalizes the development costs of software, other than internal-use software, in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, ‘“Accounting for Costs of
Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed” (“SFAS 86”). The Company’s policy is to
capitalize software development costs incurred in developing a product once technological feasibility of
the product has been established. Technological feasibility of the product is determined after
completion of a detailed program design and a determination has been made that any uncertainties
related to high-risk development issues have been resolved. If the process of developing the product
does not include a detail program design, technological feasibility is determined only after completion
of a working model. All software development costs capitalized are amortized using an amount
determined as the greater of: (1) the ratio that current gross revenues for a capitalized software project
bears to the total of current and estimated future gross revenues for that project or (2) the straight-line
method over the estimated remaining economic life of the product (generally three to five years). The
Company capitalized $2.6 million, $1.0 million and $103,000 in the years ended January 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively. The Company developed software for sending and receiving check images, and
is currently developing software for distributed capture of checks and check images and extending the
functionality of the anti-money laundering software discussed below.

The Company recorded amortization relating to software development costs capitalized of
$1.4 million, $1.0 million, and $2.4 million in the years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Amortization expense is recorded as a component of cost of software license fees in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Acquired developed technology includes purchased technology intangible assets associated with
acquisitions. These purchased technology intangibles are initially recorded based on the fair value
ascribed at the time of acquisition.

In October 2003, the Company purchased an anti-money laundering software solution designed to
help banks protect both their customers and their corporate reputations from the growing risk of
financial fraud and to comply with a growing number of laws and regulations. The $1.5 million
purchase price was recorded in acquired developed technology in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets and is being amortized over a 3-year period.

Acquired developed technology with a useful life of 3-6 years is amortized on a straight-line basis,
resulting in amortization expense of $4.6 million, $4.3 million and $4.1 million for the years ended
January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amortization expense is recorded as a component of cost
of software license fees in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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The following table sets forth the estimated amortization expense of capitalized software costs and
acquired developed technology for the indicated fiscal years ending January 31 (in thousands):

Capitalized Acquired
Software Developed

‘x_’e_a: Costs Technology
2006 . . e e e e e $517 $4,620
2007 . o e e e e 407 4,107
2008 L . e e e e 258 1,200

The table does not include the estimated amortization expense for $2.1 million of capitalized
software products that are currently being developed, and for which amortization has not commenced.

The Company continually monitors the net realizable value of software capitalized and acquired
developed technology for factors that would indicate impairment such as a decline in demand or a loss
of a significant customer. During the quarterly period ended January 31, 2005, the Company performed
its annual formal evaluation for impairment and determined that the carrying amount of these assets
was not impaired and has subsequently noted no factors that would indicate impairment.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue recognition policies are in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”)
97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software
Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions,” Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104,
“Revenue Recognition” and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements
with Multiple Deliverables.” In the case of software arrangements that require significant production,
modification, or customization of software, or the license agreement requires the Company to provide
implementation services that are determined to be essential to other elements of the arrangement, the
Company follows the guidance in SOP 81-1, ““Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and
Certain Production-Type Contracts.”

Consulting Fees. The Company employs three primary pricing methods in connection with its
delivery of consulting services. First, the Company may price its delivery of consulting services on the
basis of time and materials, in which case the customer is charged agreed-upon daily rates for services
performed and out-of-pocket expenses. In this case, the Company is generally paid fees and related
amounts usually on a monthly basis, and the Company recognizes revenues as the services are
performed. Second, the Company may deliver consulting services on a fixed-price basis. In this case, the
Company is paid on a monthly basis or pursuant to an agreed upon payment schedule, and the
Company recognizes revenues on a proportionate performance basis. The Company believes that this
method is appropriate because of its ability to determine performance milestones and determine
dependable estimates of its costs applicable to each phase of a contract. Because financial reporting of
these contracts depends on estimates, which are assessed continually during the term of the contract,
costs are subject to revisions as the contract progresses. Anticipated losses on fixed-price contracts are
recognized when estimatable. Third, the Company may deliver consulting services pursuant to a value-
priced contract with the customer. In this case, the Company is paid, on an agreed upon basis with the
customer, either a specified percentage of (1) the projected increased revenues and/or decreased costs
that are expected to be derived by the customer generally over a period of up to twelve months
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following implementation of its solution or (2) the actual increased revenues and/or decreased costs
experienced by the customer generally over a period of up to twelve months following implementation
of its solution, subject in either case to a maximum, if any is agreed to, on the total amount of
payments to be made to the Company. The Company must first commit time and resources to develop
projections associated with value-pricing contracts before a customer will commit to purchase its
solutions, and the Company therefore assumes the risk of making these commitments with no assurance
that the customer will purchase the solution. Costs associated with these value-pricing contracts are
expensed as incurred. These contracts typically include payments to be made to the Company pursuant
to an agreed upon schedule ranging from one to tweive months in length. The Company recognizes
revenues generated from consulting services in connection with value-priced contracts based upon
projected results only upon completion of all services and agreement upon the actual fee to be paid
(even though billings for these services may be delayed by mutual agreement for periods not to exceed
twelve months). In an effort to allow customers to more closely match expected benefits from services
with payments to the Company, the Company on occasion, may offer payment terms which extend
beyond 12 months. When the Company enters into an agreement which has a significant component of
the total amount payable under the agreement due beyond 12 months or if it is determined payments
are not fixed and determinable at the date the agreement was entered into, revenue under the
arrangement will be recognized as payments become due and payable. When fees are to be paid based
on a percentage of actual reveénues and/or savings to customers, the Company recognizes revenues only
upon completion of all services and as the amounts of actual revenues or savings are confirmed by the
customer with a fixed payment date.

Costs associated with time and materials, fixed-priced and value-priced consulting fee arrangements
are expensed as incurred and are included as a component of the cost of consulting fees.

The Company expects that value-pricing contracts will continue to account for a significant portion
of its revenues in the future. As a consequence of the use of value-pricing contracts and due to the
revenue recognition policy associated with those contracts, the Company’s results of operations will
likely fluctuate significantly from period to period.

Regardless of the pricing method employed by the Company in a given contract, the Company is
typically reimbursed on a monthly basis for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on behalf of its customers.

Software License Fees. A software license is sold either together with implementation services or on
a stand-alone basis. The Company is usually paid software license fees in one or more installments, as
provided in the customer’s contract but not to exceed twelve months. The Company recognizes
software license revenue upon execution of a contract and delivery of the software, provided that the
license fee is fixed and determinable, no significant production, modification or customization of the
software is required and collection is considered probable by management. When the software license
arrangement requires the Company to provide implementation services that are essential to the
functionality of the software or significant production, customization or modification of the software is
required, both the product license revenue and implementation fees are recognized as services are
performed.

In certain instances, especially with recently developed software, the Company defers software
license revenue recognition until the earlier of the product being determined to be generally available
and subject to revenue recognition or when the services are completed and the project is accepted by
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the customer. This practice is followed for the first two installations of a recently developed software
product. After two successful implementations, the product is considered generally available (“GA”).

Software licenses are often sold as part of a multiple element arrangement that may include
maintenance, implementation or consulting. The Company determines whether there is vendor specific
objective evidence of fair value (“VSOEFV”) for each element identified in the arrangement to
determine whether the total arrangement fees can be allocated to each element. If VSOEFYV exists for
each element, the total arrangement fee is allocated based on the relative fair value of each element. In
cases where there is not VSOEFV for each element, or if it is determined services are essential to the
functionality of the software being delivered, or if significant production, modification or customization
of the software is required, the Company initially defers revenue recognition of the software license
fees until VSOEFYV is established or the services are performed. However, if VSOEFV is determinable
for all of the undelivered elements, and assuming the undelivered elements are not essential to the
delivered elements, the Company will defer recognition of the full fair value related to the undelivered
elements and recognize the remaining portion of the arrangement value through application of the
residual method. Where VSOEFV has not been established for certain undelivered elements, revenue
for all elements is deferred until those elements have been delivered or their fair values have been
determined. Evidence of VSOEFYV is determined for software products based on actual sales prices for
the product sold to a similar class of customer and based on pricing strategies set forth in the
Company’s price book. Evidence of VSOEFV for services (implementation and consulting) is based
upon standard billing rates and the estimated level of effort for individuals expected to perform the
related services. The Company establishes VSOEFV for maintenance agreements using the percentage
method such that VSOEFV for maintenance is a percentage of the license fee charged annually for a
specific software product, which in most instances is 20% of the portion of arrangement fees allocated
to the software license element.

Although substantially all of the Company’s current software licenses provide for a fixed price
license fee, some licenses instead provide for the customer to pay a monthly license fee based on actual
use of the software product. The level of license fees earned by the Company under these
arrangements will vary based on the actual amount of use by the customer. Revenue under these
arrangements is recognized on a monthly basis as the usage becomes determinable.

Software Maintenance Fees. In connection with the sale of a software license, a customer may
elect to purchase software maintenance services. Most of the customers that purchase software licenses
from the Company also purchase software maintenance services, which typically are renewed annually.
The Company charges an annual maintenance fee, which is typically a percentage of the initial software
license fee. The annual maintenance fee generally is paid to the Company at the beginning of the
maintenance period, and the Company recognizes these revenues ratably over the term of the related
contract. If the annual maintenance fee is not paid at the beginning of the maintenance period, the
Company defers revenue recognition until the time that the maintenance fee is paid by the customer.
The Company normally continues to provide maintenance service while awaiting payment from
customers, When the payment is received, revenue is recognized for the period that revenue was
previously deferred. This may result in volatility in software maintenance revenue from period to
period.
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Software Implementation Fees. In connection with the sale of a software license, a customer may
elect to purchase software implementation services, including software enhancements and other
software services. Most of the customers that purchase software licenses from the Company also
purchase software implementation services. The Company prices its implementation services on a
time-and-materials or on a fixed-price basis, and the Company recognizes the related revenues as
services are performed. Costs associated with these engagements are expensed as incurred.

Outsourcing Services Fees. 'While outsourcing revenue has been minimal to date, we currently
recognize revenue based on the number of items processed multiplied by the contracted price per item.
These services are currently billed on a monthly basis.

The Company’s contracts typically do not include right of return clauses, and as a result, the
Company does not record a provision for returns.

Royalties

In connection with software license, maintenance, and consulting agreements, entered into with
certain banks and purchase agreements with vendors under which the Company acquired software
technology used in products sold to its customers, the Company is required to pay royalties on sales of
certain software products. Under these arrangements, the Company recognizes royalty expense when
the associated revenue is recognized. For current product offerings, the royalty percentages generally
range from 20% to 50% of the associated revenues. Approximately $2.3 million, $2.6 million and
$2.5 million of royalty expense was recorded under these agreements in the years ended January 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Royalty expense is included as a component of the cost of consulting
fees, cost of software license fees and cost of software maintenance fees in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts paid by customers under terms specified in consulting,
software licensing, and maintenance contracts for which completion of contractual terms or delivery of
the software has not occurred.

Deferred revenue and advance payments from customers consist of the following (in thousands):

January 31,
2005 2004
Deferred software maintenance fees . . ........... ... ........ $ 33,850 $ 35917
Deferred software implementation and license fees . .. ........... 23,658 22,960
57,508 58,877
Less related accounts receivable . . .. ............ ... ... ... .. (35,327) (33,646)

$ 22,181 $ 25,231
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Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs, which are not subject to capitalization under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, “Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software to be Sold,
Leased, or Otherwise Marketed,” (“SFAS 86”) are expensed as incurred and relate mainly to the
development of new products, new applications, new features or enhancements for existing products or
applications. Sustaining maintenance activities are expensed as incurred and charged to cost of
revenues-software maintenance fees.

Other income (expense)

Other income (expense) is comprised of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended January 31,
2005 2004 2003

Gain on sale of Cash Services Australia Pty. Limited. ............. $ 539 § — § —
Equity in earnings of Cash Services Australia Pty. Limited. ......... 17y 172 81
Minority share of net loss of Carretek LLC . ............ ... .... 794 263 —
Foreign exchange gains (10sses) . ... ..... ..., (279) 185 324
L@ T 1T — (19) 100

Total . ..o e e e $1,037 $601 8505

In April 2004, the Company sold its 25% interest in Cash Services Australia Pty. Limited. The
carrying value of this investment was approximately $383,000 and the Company received $922,000 in
proceeds collected in May 2004. As a result of this transaction, the Company recorded a $539,000 gain.

During fiscal 2003, the Company formed Carretek LLC (“Carretek”), in which the Company owns
a 51% interest, to offer financial institutions offshore-centric outsourcing of their business processes.
The minority interest in this loss was recorded in other income (expense) and was $794,000 and
$263,000 for the years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method, whereby deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and the tax basis of
assets and liabilities measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. The measurement of deferred tax assets is adjusted by a valuation
allowance, if necessary, to recognize the extent to which, based on available evidence, it is more likely
than not that the future tax benefits will not be realized.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common
stock outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period and common equivalent
shares consisting of stock options and unvested restricted stock (using the treasury stock method), if
such stock options and unvested restricted stock have a dilutive effect.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” in accounting for its employee and director stock options.
Under APB 25, if the exercise price of a stock option equals or exceeds the market price of the
underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized. In October 1995, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS 123 allows the Company to continue
to follow the present APB Opinion 25 guidelines, but requires pro-forma disclosures of net income and
earnings per share as if the Company had adopted the provisions of the Statement. In December 2002,
the FASB issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an
Amendment of FASB Statement No.123,” which provides alternative methods of transition for an entity
that voluntarily changes to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation, The Company continues to account for stock-based compensation under the provisions
of APB Opinion 25 using the intrinsic value method.

The stock compensation expense recorded under the intrinsic value method is primarily the result
of restricted common stock issued to employees and officers in fiscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The Company is amortizing the compensation expense on a straight line basis over the period that the
restrictions on the common stock lapse.

The Company recorded $429,000 and $137,000 of compensation expense, during the years ended
January 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 425,070 restricted common shares remain outstanding at
January 31, 2005.

Had compensation cost for stock-based compensation plans been determined based on the fair
value at the grant dates for awards under those plans in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123,
net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been as follows (in thousands, except per
share data):

Year Ended January 31,

2005 2004 2003

Net income (loss), as reported . ....................... $(1,196) $ 3,706 $(33,630)
Stock compensation expense recorded under the intrinsic value

method . ... ... 429 137 —
Pro forma stock compensation expense computed under the fair

valuemethod . ... ... ... . .. (4,525) (4,147) (5,108)
Pro forma net income (loss) . .......... ... .o . $(5,292) $ (304) $(38,738)
Basic earnings (loss) per common share, as reported ........ $ (0.05) § 016 $ (145
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share, as reported . . . . ... $ (0.05) $ 015 §$ (145
Pro forma basic earnings (loss) per common share .......... $ (022) $ (0.01) § (1.67)
Pro forma diluted earnings (loss) per common share ........ $ (0.22) § (0.01) § (1L67)

The pro forma net loss for the years ended January 31, 2004 and 2003 has been revised to
eliminate the tax benefit previously recognized for the pro forma stock compensation expenses. This
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revision was necessary to conform with the Company’s position of providing a full valuation allowance
for its net deferred tax assets.

The Company calculated the estimated fair value of each stock option using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model and utilized the following assumptions:

Year Ended January 31,

2005 2004 2003
Volatility . . ... 0.780 0953 1.014
Weighted-average expected lives . . ........................ 5250 4500 4500
Expected dividend yields ........... ... ... ... ... ... . .... — — —
Weighted-average risk-free interest rates .. .................. 396% 2.56% 4.0%
Weighted-average fair value of options granted ............... $612 $320 $ 449

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company’s future results of operations and financial condition could be impacted by the
following factors, among others: dependence on the banking industry, decline in check volumes,
fluctuations in operating results, lack of long-term agreements, dependence on key personnel, rapid
technological change and dependence on new products, focus on providing business process outsourcing
with significant offshore component, ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, customer
concentration, competition, proprietary rights, infringement claims, dependence on third parties for
technology licenses, liability claims, information and data security requirements, international
operations, changing government and tax regulations, stock price fluctuations, impairment of goodwill
or intangible assets, realization of revenue from contracted sales, potential sales and backlog, changes
in the accounting treatment of stock options and other share-based compensation and pending class
action lawsuits, Negative trends in the Company’s operating results could result in noncompliance with
financial covenants related to its revolving credit agreement, which could impair the Company’s future
liquidity. See description of the Company’s revolving credit agreement and related financial covenants
in Note 4.

Financial Guarantees

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 457), “Guarantor’s Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.”
FIN 45 requires that a guarantor recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value
of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee or indemnification. FIN 45 also requires
additional disclosure by a guarantor in its interim and annual consolidated financial statements about
its obligations under certain guarantees and indemnifications. The following is a summary of the
agreements that the Company has determined are within the scope of FIN 45:

Under the terms of the majority of the Company’s software license agreements with its customers,
the Company agrees that in the event the software sold infringes upon any patent, copyright,
trademark, or any other proprietary right of a third party, it will indemnify its customer licensee,
against any loss, expense, or liability from any damages that may be awarded against its customer. The
Company includes this infringement indemnification in all of its software license agreements. In the
event the customer cannot use the software or service due to infringement and the Company cannot
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obtain the right to use, replace or modify the license or service in a commercially feasible manner so
that it no longer infringes, then the Company may terminate the license and provide the customer a
pro-rata refund of the fees paid by the customer for the infringing license or service. The Company has
recorded no liability associated with this indemnification, as it is not aware of any pending or
threatened infringement actions that are probable losses. The Company believes the estimated fair
value of these intellectual property indemnification clauses is minimal.

The Company has agreed to indemnify members of the board of directors, officers and certain key
employees of the Company, if they are made a party or are threatened to be made a party to any
proceeding (other than an action by or in the right of the Company) by reason of the fact that they are
acting in their capacities on behalf of the Company, or by reason of anything done or not done by
them in any such capacities. The indemnity is for any and all expenses and liabilities of any type
whatsoever (including but not limited to, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement) actually and
reasonably incurred by the directors or officers in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement
or appeal of such proceeding, provided they acted in good faith. The Company maintains insurance
coverage for directors and officers liability (“D&O insurance”). No maximum liability is stipulated in
these agreements that include indemnifications of members of the board of directors, officers and
certain key employees of the Company. The Company has recorded no liability associated with these
indemnifications as it is not aware of any pending or threatened actions or claims against the members
of its board of directors or officers that are probable losses in excess of amounts covered by its D&O
insurance. As a result of the insurance policy coverage, the Company believes the estimated fair value
of these indemnification agreements is minimal.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment,” which is a revision of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123 (R) supersedes APB
No. 25, and amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.” Generally, the approach in SFAS
No. 123 (R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS No. 123. However, SFAS No. 123 (R)
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
recognized in the statement of operations based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer
an alternative. The Company expects to adopt SFAS No. 123 (R) in the third quarter of fiscal 2005.
SFAS No. 123 (R) permits companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods:

* A “modified prospective” method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the
effective date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123 (R) for all share-based payments
granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123 for all
awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of SFAS No. 123 (R) that remain
unvested on the effective date.

* A “modified retrospective” method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective
method described above, but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously
recognized under SFAS No. 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all prior
periods presented or (b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.

The Company is still assessing the appropriate transition method.
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As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the Company currently accounts for share-based payments to
employees using the APB No, 25 intrinsic value method and, as such, generally recognizes no
compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS No. 123 (R)’s fair
value method will have a significant impact on our results of operations, although it will have no
impact on our overall financial position and cash flows. Had we adopted SFAS No. 123 (R) in prior
periods, the impact of that standard would have approximated the impact of SFAS No. 123 as described
in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share contained in Note 2 above under the
caption Stock Based Compensation. Statement No. 123 (R) also requires the benefits of tax deductions
in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an
operating cash flow. This requirement currently does not have an effect on the Company as all of our
deferred tax benefits are fully reserved, with a valuation allowance.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of ARB No. 41 (“FIN 46”).” In December 2003, the FASB modified FIN 46 to make
certain technical corrections and address certain implementation issues that had arisen subsequently
referred to as “FIN 46R”. FIN 46 and FIN 46R provide a new framework for identifying variable
interest entities (“VIEs”) and determining when a company should include these assets, liabilities,
non-controlling interests and results of activities of a VIE in its consolidated financial statements.

In general, a VIE is a corporation, partnership, limited liability corporation, trust or any other
legal structure used to conduct activities or hold assets that either (1) has an insufficient amount of
equity to carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated financial support, (2) has a
group of equity owners that are unable to make significant decisions about its activities, or (3) has a
group of equity owners that do not have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns
generated by its operations.

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 46 and FIN 46R as of April 30, 2004. The effect of
adopting the provisions of FIN 46 and FIN 46R was not material.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue 00-21, “Multiple Deliverable Revenue
Arrangements.” EITF 00-21 addresses certain aspects of the accounting by a vendor for arrangements
under which it will perform multiple revenue-generating activities. It also addresses when and how an
arrangement involving multiple deliverables should be divided into separate units of accounting. The
guidance in EITF 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning
after June 15, 2003, with early application permitted. Companies may elect to report the change in
accounting as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in accordance with APB Opinion
20, “Accounting Changes” and SFAS 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements
(an amendment of APB Opinion No. 28).” The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a significant
impact on the Company’s accounting for multiple element arrangements.

3. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are no longer amortized but are
subject to annual impairment tests. Other intangible assets which include acquired developed
technology and customer relationships are amortized over their estimated useful lives.

77




CARREKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Goodwill and Intangible Assets (Continued)

Customer relationships with definite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis, which
resulted in amortization expense of $1.4 million during the years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

The following table sets forth the estimated amortization expense of customer relationships for the
indicated fiscal years ending January 31 (in thousands):

E Amount
2006 ... e e e $1,400
2007 e e e e e 1,400
2008 .. e e e e 467

Certain accrued liabilities were recorded during the acquisition of Check Solutions Company in
June 2001. During the year ended January 31, 2005, these estimates were revised and $428,000 of these
accrued liabilities were reversed and recorded as a reduction of goodwill.

During the fourth quarters of the years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company performed
its annual evaluation for goodwill impairment and determined that the carrying amount of goodwill was
not impaired.

During the fourth quarter of the year ended January 31, 2003, the Company performed its annual
evaluation for goodwill impairment resulting in a charge of $46.0 million. The impairment charge was
recorded to the Global Payments Technologies (“GPT”) segment as all of the Company’s goodwill has
been assigned to the GPT segment. The fair value of the reporting unit to which goodwill is assigned
was determined to be less than its carrying amount. Thus, an allocation of the estimated fair value of
the reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit was made to determine the
excess of fair value over amounts allocated to net assets. The excess represents the estimated fair value
of the goodwill which was compared to recorded goodwill as of the evaluation date of November 1,
2002 and resulted in an impairment charge of $46.0 million. The fair values used in this evaluation
were estimated based upon the consideration of a number of fair value estimation techniques including
a discounted cash flow analysis and consideration of the market price of the Company’s stock. The
assumptions in the discounted cash flow analysis include future revenue volume levels, price levels and
rates of increases in operating expenses to compute projected cash flows for the reporting unit and
other intangible assets within the reporting unit. A discount rate of 26% was applied to determine
discounted cash flows.

4. Revolving Credit Agreement

The Company is a party to a revolving credit agreement with a group of banks providing for a
commitment amount of $30.0 million and a maturity date of July 31, 2006. Borrowings under the credit
agreement currently bear interest equal to either the greater of prime or federal funds rate plus a
margin ranging from 1.25% to 2.25% depending on the Company’s ratio of funded debt to Earnings
before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”), or LIBOR plus a margin equal to
2.75% to 3.75% depending on the Company’s ratio of funded debt to EBITDA. Interest payments are
due quarterly. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee equal to 0.50% on the unused
amount of the revolving credit agreement. The revolving credit agreement contains customary
affirmative and negative covenants, including financial covenants requiring the maintenance of specified

78



CARREKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. Revolving Credit Agreement (Continued)

interest coverage, ratio of EBITDA to funded debt, and ratio of 80% of accounts receivable, cash and
short-term investments to funded debt. Additionally, the payment of dividends is precluded except upon
approval of the banks. Substantially all of the Company’s assets collateralize the revolving credit
agreement. As of January 31, 2005, the Company is in compliance with the covenants of the revolving
credit agreement.

The Company did not have any borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit agreement at
January 31, 2005. Interest expense, including the commitment fee and exclusive of the amortization of
deferred loan costs, on the credit agreement was $169,000, $864,000 and $2.1 million for the years
ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

5. Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

The Company’s provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended January 31,
2005 2004 2003

Federal:

CUITENT . . v oottt et e e et $(101) $170 $(2,409)
Deferred _

.......................................... -_—

(101) 170 $(2,409)
State and Foreign:

(@21 5 =1 1) 669 30 934
Deferred . ... e — — —

669 30 934
$568 $200 $(1,475)

The provisions (benefit) for income taxes differ from the amounts computed by applying the
statutory United States federal income tax rate to income before provision (benefit) for income taxes as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ended January 31,
2005 2004 2003

Provision (benefit) for income taxes at statutory rate. . . ... ....... $(220) $ 1,328 $(11,935)
State and foreign income taxes, net of U.S. federal benefit ........ 451 20 785
Nondeductible expenses .. .......... ... ... 234 245 319
Change in valuation allowance . . . ... ... v, 229 (1,581) 9,356
Other, Net . . . .. e e (126) 188 —
Provision (benefit) for income taxes . . ....................... $568 § 200 $ (1,475)

During the quarterly period ended April 30, 2002, a tax benefit of approximately $1.9 million was
generated by additional tax loss carrybacks available to the Company as a result of new tax legislation
passed under the Job Creation and Workers Assistance Act of 2002.
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5. Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes (Continued)

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“the Act”) was signed into law,
which provides for a special one-time tax deduction for certain foreign earnings that are repatriated in
2005. Based on the Company’s review of the repatriation provisions of this Act, and our current tax
position the Company believes the repatriation provisions of the Act will not be material.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
purposes. The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

January 31,
2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:

Accruals not currently deductible . . . ... ... ..o oL, $ 1,403 $ 1,619

Allowance for doubtful accounts ............. ... .. ... ... .... 191 545

Accrued merger and restructuring costs .. ....... ... . 0. 312 682

Deferred revenue . . ... i it i e e e -— 3,088

Net operating 108s. . . ... oo i ittt 11,914 5,346

Intangible assets . .. ....... . i 17,649 18,064

Previously taxed income from foreign subsidiaries . . . ............ 235 —

Less valuation allowance . . ............ ... ... . ... (29,969)  (28,432)
Total deferred tax aSSELS « . v v i i it it i it s e e e e 1,735 912
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation of property and equipment . .................... 523 153

Capitalized software costs . ...... ... ... .. i, 1,168 730

Other. . . e e e e e 44 29
Total deferred tax liabilities. . ... ....... ... ... .. .. ... 1,735 912
Net deferred tax liabilities . ... ...... ... it onn. $ —  $ —

At January 31, 2005, the Company had available to it Federal net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $33.1 million which begin to expire in 2022. The Company has established a valuation
allowance to reserve its net deferred tax assets at January 31, 2005 and 2004 because the more likely
than not criteria for future realization of the Company’s net deferred tax assets specified in SFAS
No. 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes”, were not met.

6. Common Stock Offering

On April 5, 2002, the Company sold 1,282,214 shares to a group of institutional investors in a
private transaction. In connection with this transaction, the Company filed a registration statement on
Form S-3 following the filing of its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2002
seeking to register the resale of such shares. The Form S-3 was deemed effective on May 15, 2002. On
April 5, 2002, the Company utilized the approximately $9.3 million of net proceeds that were received
from the sale to satisfy obligations due to certain former employees of Check Solutions described in
Note 14, with the remainder being used for working capital.
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7. Benefit Plans
Stock Option Plans

Effective October 7, 1994, the Company adopted the 1994 Long Term Incentive Plan (“the Long
Term Incentive Plan”) under which all employees, consultants, officers and non-employee directors may
be granted awards in the form of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options and restricted
shares. The exercise price per share for the common stock issued pursuant to stock options under the
Long Term Incentive Plan shall be no less than 100% of the fair market value on the date the option is
granted. Options granted under the Long Term Incentive Plan become exercisable and vest as
determined by the Committee. To date, options granted under the Long Term Incentive Plan fully vest
within three to five years from the date of grant. The term of each option granted under the Long
Term Incentive Plan shall be as the Committee determines, but in no event shall any option have a
term of longer than ten years from the date of grant. Options may be granted pursuant to the Long
Term Incentive Plan through July 19, 2010.

The Company has a Director Stock Option Plan (“the Director Plan”) under which non-employee
members of the Company’s Board of Directors may be granted options to purchase shares of the
Company’s Common Stock. Effective July 19, 2001, options granted under the Director Plan are
granted at fair market value as of the grant date, vest at the rate of 25% per calendar quarter, and
expire if not exercised ten years from the date of grant or at an earlier date as determined by the
Committee and specified in the applicable stock option agreement. Prior to July 19, 2001, options
granted under the Director Plan were granted at 50% of the fair market value on the grant date,
became exercisable one year from the date of the grant or in one or more installments and expired
fifteen years from the date of grant or at an earlier date as determined by the Committee and specified
in the applicable stock option agreement. During the years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
options to purchase 93,135 shares, 70,968 shares and 56,231 shares, respectively, of common stock were
granted to Directors. Options granted to the Company’s Board of Directors in the year ended
January 31, 2005 were granted from the Long Term Incentive Plan.

Stock option transactions under all plans for the years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, are
as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2005 2004 - 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number Average Number Average Number Average
of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price
Options outstanding at beginning of year ........ 4,167 $846 4,543 § 929 4363 $10.49
Granted ....... . .. i i i 800 9.79 1,131 461 1462 6.05
Exercised ........... ... ... ... . ... (305) 5.96 (575) 6.74  (368) 6.18
Forfeited . .. ........ ... .. .. . (511) 8.05 (932) 8.80 (914) 11.08
Options outstanding at end of year. . ........... 4,151 8.95 4,167 8.46 4543 9.29
Options exercisable at end of year ............. 2,336 $9.92 1918 $1041 1,908 § 9.75
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Information related to options outstanding at January 31, 2005 is summarized below (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Options Options

Outstanding at Weighted Average Weighted Exercisable at Weighted
January 31, Remaining Average January 31, Average

Range of Exercise Price 2005 Contractual Life Exercise Price 2005 Exercise Price
$297t08497 .. ... .. 1,273 5.70 $ 462 486 $ 4.67
$506t0%8890............. 963 5.18 7.84 736 7.90
$919to $11.00 ............ 1,099 4.92 9.99 434 10.01
$11.05t0$2544 ............ 816 6.12 15.61 680 15.80

4,151 2,336

As of January 31, 2005, the Company has reserved for issuance under the Long Term Incentive
Plan 4,943,783 shares of common stock, of which 3,958,074 shares are subject to currently outstanding
options to employees and directors, and 985,709 shares are reserved for future awards. As of
January 31, 2005, the Company has reserved for issuance under the Director Plan 195,314 shares of
Common Stock, of which 193,094 shares are subject to currently outstanding options, and 2,220 shares
are reserved for future awards.

401(k) Plan

The Company has adopted a plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (“the
Code”) whereby participants may contribute a percentage of compensation not in excess of the
maximum allowed under the Code. The plan provides for a matching contribution by the Company
which was reinstated as of January 31, 2004. Employer matching contributions amounted to $457,000,
$53,000 and $0 for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company
may make additional contributions at the discretion of the Board of Directors. No discretionary
contributions were made during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2005, 2004, or 2003.

Incentive Compensation Plans

Effective May 3, 2004, the variable compensation plan was terminated. The Company did not
record expense under this plan for the years ended January 31, 2005 and 2004; however, the Company
recorded expense of $1.5 million for the year ended January 31, 2003,

The Carreker Incentive Bonus Plan (“CIBP”) awards employees based on the Company’s or the
applicable business unit’s operating results. Substantially all employees are eligible to receive cash
awards under the CIBP. Awards from this plan are paid to employees subsequent to the end of the
fiscal year. In the fiscal year ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded expense
under this plan of approximately $1.8 million, $2.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively. At January 31,
2005, approximately $1.8 million of incentive bonus was accrued.

The Company pays discretionary bonuses to key employees based primarily on the extent to which
individuals meet agreed-upon objectives for the year. The Company recorded discretionary bonus
expense of approximately $1.1 million, $958,000 and $853,000 for the fiscal years ended January 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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8. Lease Commitments

The Company leases office facilities and certain equipment under operating leases for various
periods. Leases that expire are generally expected to be renewed or replaced by other leases. The
Company’s corporate office lease agreement in Dallas, Texas has average minimum annual rent
payments of $1.7 million and expires in 2010. Rental expense under operating leases for the fiscal years
ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was approximately $4.5 million, $4.8 million and $4.9 million,
respectively. Puture minimum base rents under terms of non-cancelable operating leases are as follows
(in thousands):

Year ending January 31:

2006 .. e $ 3,607
2007 . e e e e e 3,239
2008 .. e e e 2,887
2009 . 2,875
2000 L 2,105
Thereafter . . ... .. 0 e 816
T} 7 1 $15,529

9. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended January 31,

2005 2004 2003

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Net income (I0SS) . . . .ot v ottt e e e $(1,196) $ 3,706 $(33,630)

Weighted average shares outstanding. . ....................... 24,295 23,736 23,198

Basic earnings (loss) pershare . ............ .. ... ... $ (0.05) § 016 $ (1.45)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Net income (lOSS). . v oot v vttt e e e $(1,196) $ 3,706 $(33,630)

Weighted average shares outstanding. . .. ..................... 24,295 23,736 23,198

Assumed conversion of employee stock options and unvested

restricted StOCK . . . ... e — 648 —

Shares used in diluted earnings per share calculation . . ........... 24,295 24,384 23,198

Diluted earnings (loss) pershare . ......... .. ... ... .. ......... $ (005) $ 015 § (1.45)

Options totaling 4,151,168, 2,705,293 and 4,543,444 in fiscal years ending January 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003 respectively, have been excluded from the diluted earnings per share computation, as the
options were anti-dilutive.
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10. Contingencies

On June 15, 2004, by mutual agreement between the parties, Civil Action No. 303CV1211-M was
reinstated in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division. This
action was originally filed on May 29, 2003, in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Texas, Dallas Division as Civil Action no. 303CV1211-D. On January 15, 2004, the Court,
acting upon the joint motion of the parties, dismissed the action without prejudice. This action was
brought as a shareholders’ derivative action pursuant to Rule 23.1, Fed.R.Civ.P. for the benefit of
Nominal Defendant Carreker Corporation against certain of its current and former officers and
directors, i.e., John D. Carreker, Jr., James D. Carreker, Richar«. R, Lee, Jr., James L. Fischer,
Donald L. House, David K. Sias, Terry L. Gage, James R. Erwin. Ronald G. Steinhart and Ronald
Antinori, seeking to remedy their individual breaches of fiduciar. duty, including their knowing
violations of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP ), knowing violations of federal and
state securities laws, acts of bad faith and other breaches of fidu - ary duty. The plaintiff seeks redress
(the form of, among others, unspecified amounts of compensato. damages, interest and costs,
including legal fees) for injuries to the Company and its shareho’ “ers caused by Defendants’
misfeasance and/or malfeasance during the period from May 20, 998 through December 10, 2002.

On June 2, 2003, in the District Court, Dallas County, Texa Walter Evans brought a shareholders’
derivative action, for the benefit of Nominal Defendant Carreke = “orporation against James D.
Carreker, John D. Carreker, Jr., James R. Erwin, James L. Fisc! . Michael D. Hansen, Donald L.
House, Richard R. Lee, Jr., David K. Sias, Ronald J. Steinhart, ! Ernst & Young, LLP and Carreker
Corporation, Nominal Defendant (Cause No. 0305505). The co:.. aint alleges that the director
defendants breached their fiduciary duty to the company. In ad:** " the complaint makes certain
allegations against the Company’s independent registered public  :ounting firm Ernst & Young LLP.
The complaint seeks unspecified amounts of compensatory dan.- - 3, as well as interest and costs,
including legal fees from the director defendants.

On April 16, 2003 the United States District Court for the  -thern District of Texas, Dallas
Division, issued an order consolidating a number of purported « ; action lawsuits against the
Company, John D. Carreker Jr. and Terry L. Gage into a Consc - ited Action styled In re Carreker
Corporation Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 303CV0250-' © Also, on March 3, 2003, Claude
Alton Coulter filed a purported class action lawsuit (Civil Actio® ... 503-CV-5-Q) against the
Company, John D. Carreker Jr. and Terry L. Gage in the Unite . *. ates District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas, Texarkana Division. These complaints, filed on by nalf of purchasers of the Company’s
common stock between May 20, 1998 and December 10, 2002, inclusive, allege violations of
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 against all defendants and
violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act against the individual defendants. These complaints
also allege, among other things, that defendants artificially inflated the value of the Company’s stock by
knowingly or recklessly misrepresenting the Company’s financial results during the purported class
period. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, interest and costs,
including legal fees. On March 22, 2005, the Court dismissed claims by purchasers of the Company’s
common stock prior to July 30, 1999.

The Company and individual defendants deny the allegations in these complaints and intend to
defend themselves vigorously. It is not possible at this time to predict whether the Company will incur
any liability or to estimate the damages, or the range of damages, if any, that the Company might incur
in connection with these lawsuits. The ultimate resolution of these lawsuits could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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10. Contingencies (Continued)

The Company is periodically involved in various other legal actions and claims which arise in the
normal course of business. In the opinion of management, the final disposition of these matters are not

expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

11. Business Segments and Revenue Concentration

The tables below show revenues and income (loss) from operations for the periods indicated for
our three reportable business segments: Revenue Enhancement, Global Payments Technologies and
Global Payments Consulting. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
current year business segment presentation. Our customer projects are sold on a solution basis, so it is
necessary to break them down by segment and allocate accordingly. Included in “Corporate
Unallocated” are costs related to selling and marketing, unallocated corporate overhead expense and
general software management. Business segment results, which include costs for research and
development as well as product royalty expense, the amortization and impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets, the write-off of capitalized software costs and restructuring and other charges, were as

follows (in thousands):

Revenues:

Consulting fees ............

Software license fees ........

Software maintenance fees . . . .

Software implementation fees . .

Outsourcing services fees ... ..

Out-of-pocket expense
reimbursements ..........

Total revenues . ..........

Income (loss) from operations
before amortization of customer
relationships and restructuring
and other charges ..........
Amortization of customer

relationships. .. ..........
Restructuring and other charges
(credits) . . ..............

Income (loss) from operations . . .

Year ended January 31, 2005
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Revenue Global Payments  Global Payments  Corporate
Enhancement Technologies Consulting Unallocated Total

$34,015 § 425 $ 2,753 $ — § 37,193
326 20,070 33 — 20,429
992 41,445 856 — 43293
673 13,373 753 — 14,799
_ — — 139 139
1,398 1,251 389 — 3,038
$37,404 $76,564 $ 4,784 $§ 139 $118,891
$17,379 $13,909 $(1,900) $(25,835) § 3,553
— 1,400 — — 1,400
1,837 (468) 248 2,065 3,682
$15,542 $12,977 $(2,148) $(27,900) $ (1,529)
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11. Business Segments and Revenue Concentration (Continued)

Year ended January 31, 2004

Revenue Global Payments  Global Payments Corporate

Enhancement Technologies Consulting Unallocated Total
Revenues:
Consulting fees ............ $32,247 $ 222 $ 1,595 $ — § 34004
Software license fees . ....... 2,608 24,667 90 —_ 27,365
Software maintenance fees . . . . 1,141 43,091 890 — 45,122
Software implementation fees . . 984 16,204 915 — 18,103
Out-of-pocket expense
reimbursements . ......... 1,564 2,244 446 — 4,254
Intercompany revenue . ...... — (165) 165 — —
Total revenues . . . ... ... ... $38,544 $86,263 $ 4,101 $ —  $128,908
Income (loss) from operations
before amortization of customer
relationships and merger,
restructuring and other charges .  $18,414 $23,245 $(3,781) $(30,320) $§ 7,558
Amortization of customer
relationships. . . .......... — 1,400 —_ —_ 1,400
Restructuring and other charges
(credits) . . .. ... ... — (529) 571 1,859 1,901
Income (loss) from operations ...  $18,414 $22,374 $(4,352) $(32,179) $ 4,257
Year ended January 31, 2003
Revenue Global Payments  Global Payments Corporate
Enhancement Technologies Consulting Unallocated Total
Revenues:
Consulting fees ............ $31,909 $ 402 $ 6,893 $ — $ 39,204
Software license fees . ....... 959 36,133 854 — 37,946
Software maintenance fees . . . . 651 40,354 853 — 41,858
Software implementation fees . . 1,688 21,482 1,140 — 24,310
Out-of-pocket expense
reimbursements . ......... 1,969 2,720 1,769 — 6,458
Intercompany revenue ....... — (479) 479 — —
Total revenues ........... $37,176 $100,612 $11,988 $ —  $149,776
Income (loss) from operations
before amortization and
impairment of goodwill and
customer relationships and
merger, restructuring and other
charges .................. $16,846 $ 32,564 $(1,486) $(30,066) §$ 17,858
Amortization of customer
relationships. . ........... — 1,400 — — 1,400
Goodwill impairment . . ... ... — 46,000 — — 46,000
Write-off of capitalized software
costs and prepaid software
royalties. . .............. — 954 — — 954
Restructuring and other charges . 20 445 133 2,347 2,945
Income (loss) from operations ...  $16,826 $(16,235) $(1,619) $(32,413) $(33,441)
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During the three months ended July 31, 2003, the Company formed Carretek LLC (Carretek), a
51% jointly owned company to offer financial institutions offshore-centric outsourcing of their business
processes and IT services needs. During July 2004, Carretek signed its first contract to perform
outsourced services with a customer. As this outsourcing business is in the development phase and its
operations immaterial, the financial results for the fiscal years 2004 and 2003 are contained in the
Corporate-Unallocated business segment in the tables above.

For the fiscal year 2004, Carretek recorded $139,000 of revenue and recorded expense of
$1.8 million. Accordmf'\y, the 49% share, or $794,000, of the minority interest in this loss was recorded
in other income in the c,companymg consolidated statements of operations. The Company and its
partner have funded Caifetek to date with an aggregate amount of $2.1 million from both partners
consisting of $100,000 in equity and $2.0 million in the form of notes payable.

For the fiscal year 2003, Carretek did not record any revenue and incurred expense of $537,000.
Accordingly, the 49% share or $263,000 of the minority interest in this loss was recorded in other
income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The following table summarizes revenues, exclusive of out-of-pocket expense reimbursements,
derived from the Company’s largest customer and top five customers during the periods indicated.

Year Ended

January 31,
205 2004 200
Single CuStOmMET . . . . . oo e e 14% 9% 10%
Top five CUSLOMETS. . . . . ..ot e 31% 28% 34%

Wells Fargo accounted for approximately 14% of total revenues during the year ended January 31,
2005, no single customer accounted for greater than 10% of total revenues during the year ended
January 31, 2004 and U.S. Bank, N.A. accounted for approximately 10% of total revenues during the
year ended January 31, 2003.

The Company markets its solutions in several foreign countries. Revenues, exclusive of
out-of-pocket expense reimbursements, for fiscal years ended indicated attributed to countries based on
the location of the customers were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended January 31,

2005 2004 2003

Percent Percent Percent

of total of total of total

Amount revenues Amount revenues Amount revenues

United States . . ....... ... .. . 0., $ 88,643 76% $ 94,202 75% $116,018 81%
Europe . ........ i e 11,206 10 14,949 12 9,794 7
AsiaPacific. ........ ... . .. 4,103 3 4,508 4 4,880 3
Canada .......... i e e 5,395 5 6,234 5 8,711 6
South Africa . . ....co ittt i it 5,738 5 3,996 3 3,634 3
Other . ... e e e 768 _1 765 _1 281 e

Totalrevenues . ... . it $115,853 100% $124,654 100% $143,318 _1__9%

H
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12. Restructuring and Other Charges

The Company recorded various restructuring and other charges (credits) during the fiscal years
ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 as follows (in thousands):

Charges/
Credits
relating to EPG Legal and
Workforce CheckFlow Facility Litigation Professional
Reductions Suite Closures Settlement Fees Other Total

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2003:

Quarterly period ended January 31, 2003 . .. .. .. $ 633 $ — $ — $ — $2,312 $—  $2,945
Total year ended January 31,2003 . . ........ $ 633 8 — $ —~ $ — $2,312 $— $2,945
Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2004:
Quarterly period ended April 30,2003 . . .. ... .. $ 545 $ — $ — $ — $ 139 $— § o84
Quarterly period ended July 31,2003. ......... 648 — — — 130 — 778
Quarterly period ended October 31,2003 ., ... .. (251) — (119) — 141 — (229)
Quarterly period ended January 31, 2004 . ... ... 390 — — — 181 97 668
Total year ended January 31,2004 .. ........ $1,332 $ — a1y 3 — $ 591 $97  $1,901
Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2005:
Quarterly period ended April 30,2004 . ... ... .. $ 308 $ — $ — $1,686 $ s21 $— $2515
Quarterly period ended July 31,2004. . ... .. ... 192 (1,215) — 14 1,206 — 197
Quarterly period ended October 31,2004 . . ... .. 246 — — - 20 — 266
Quarterly period ended January 31,2005 . ... ... 727 67) 44 — — — 704
Total year ended January 31,2005 . ......... $1,473 $(1,282) § 44 $1,700 $1,747 $— $3,682

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2003

During the quarterly period ended January 31, 2003, the Company recorded a charge of $633,000
related to severance costs for 44 employees that were terminated. Additionally, the Company recorded
a charge for approximately $2.3 million for legal and professional fees related to the special
investigation and restatement efforts.

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2004

The Company recorded $545,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period
ended April 30, 2003, principally associated with the separation of 17 employees, within both the
Corporate and Global Payments Consulting (“GPC”) business segments. During the quarterly period
ended April 30, 2003, the Company recorded a charge of $139,000 relating to legal and professional
fees relating to the Company’s restatement efforts and the shareholder legal actions described in
Note 10.

The Company recorded $648,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period
ended July 31, 2003, principally associated with the separation of 9 employees, within both the
Corporate and GPC business segments. During the quarterly period ended July 31, 2003, the Company
recorded a charge of $130,000 relating to legal fees relating to the shareholder legal actions described
in Note 10.

As part of the Company’s settlement with one of the CheckFlow Suite customers, the customer
agreed to pay the Company for the replacement product and installation. These payments were
recorded directly to this reserve and all future expenditures to install the replacement product have




CARREKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Restructuring and Other Charges (Continued)

been charged against this reserve. During the quarterly period ended July 31, 2003, $366,000 was
received from this customer.

The Company recorded $170,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period
ended October 31, 2003, principally associated with the separation of 3 employees within the Corporate
business segment. During the quarterly period ended October 31, 2003, the Company recorded a
charge of $141,000 relating to legal fees relating to the shareholder legal actions described in Note 10.

Additionally, during the three months ended October 31, 2003, the Company reversed $421,000
primarily related to the true-up of termination benefits as actual costs were lower than estimated
amounts. Additionally, $119,000 was reversed when estimated costs to close certain facilities were lower
than our original estimates. The effect of these revisions in estimates, net of tax, was $0.02 per share
on a fully diluted basis, for the year ended January 31, 2004.

The Company recorded $390,000 of restructuring and other charges during the three months
ended January 31, 2004, principally associated with the separation of 11 employees. The Company also
discontinued the marketing of one of our software offerings and recorded a $97,000 charge. Finally, the
Company recorded a charge of $181,000 relating to legal fees related to the shareholder legal actions
described in Note 10.

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2005

The Company recorded $308,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period
ended April 30, 2004, principally associated with the separation of 10 employees. During the quarterly
period ended April 30, 2004, the Company recorded a charge of $521,000 relating to legal and
professional fees relating to the Company’s legal actions described in Note 10.

The Company expensed $1.686 million for compensatory damages to EPG after the jury returned a
verdict in favor of EPG on one claim and Carreker on three claims.

The Company recorded $192,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period
ended July 31, 2004, principally associated with the separation of 8 employees. During the quarter
ended July 31, 2004, the Company recorded a charge of $36,000 relating to legal and professional fees
relating to the Company’s shareholder legal actions described in Note 10.

An additional $14,000 was expensed and the entire $1.7 million EPG settlement was paid to the
plaintiff. Additionally, the Company recorded a charge for the litigation costs related to this legal
action totaling $1.2 million during the three month period ended July 31, 2004.

The Company received a final payment of $455,000 from a customer in the settlement with one of
its original CheckFlow Suite customers. This payment was recorded directly to this reserve.
Concurrently, based on revised cost estimates, the Company lowered its estimate of the cost to develop
and install any additional software, or software modifications, with these customers and reversed
approximately $1.2 million of this reserve during the three month period ended July 31, 2004.

The Company recorded $246,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period
ended October 31, 2004, principally associated with the separation of 6 employees. During the quarter
ended October 31, 2004, the Company recorded a charge of $20,000 relating to legal and professional
fees relating to the Company’s shareholder and other legal actions described in Note 10.
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CARREKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Restructuring and Other Charges (Continued)

The Company recorded $727,000 in restructuring and other charges during the three month period
ended January 31, 2005, principally associated with the separation of 16 employees. Based on revised
cost estimates, the Company lowered by $67,000 the estimate of the cost to develop and install
additional software, or modify software for the original CheckFlow customers. Finally, the Company
recorded a charge of $44,000 related to the closure of the facility in Atlanta, Georgia.

The activity related to the accrued merger and restructuring charge reserve balance during the
years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows (in thousands):

Charges
relating to
Workforce  CheckFlow  Facility

Reductions Suite Closures  Other Total
Reserve balance at January 31,2002............. $3670 $7213 $367 $ — $11,250
Additions to reserve balance:
Severance charges . .. ....... ... ... oo 633 — — — 633
Reductions to reserve balances:
Cashpaid............ ... . ... .. . ... (3,222) (6,068) (243) — (9,533)
Reserve balance at January 31,2003............. 1,081 1,145 124 — 2,350
Additions to reserve balance:
Severance charges . .. ......... ... ... ... ... 1,753 — — — 1,753
Discontinuation of software product . .. .......... — — — 97 97
Cash received fromcustomer . . . ............... — 366 — — 366
Reductions to reserve balances:
Change inestimate ................0vuuuu... (421) — (119) — (540}
Cashpaid............... ... .. .., (1,913) (215) — —  (2,128)
Reserve balance at January 31,2004............. 500 1,296 5 97 1,898
Additions to reserve balance: »
Severance charges . . ......... ... ... .. 1,473 — — — 1,473
Cash received from customer . . ................ — 455 — 47 502
Facility closure charge for Atlanta, GA........... — — 44 — 44
Reductions to reserve balances:
Change in estimate .. ....................... — (1,282) — — (1,282
Cashpaid........ ... . . .. (1,321) (269) — (41) (1,631)
Reserve balance at January 31,2005............. $§ 652 8§ 200 § 49 $103 §$ 1,004

The Company anticipates the remaining reserve accruals at January 31, 2005 will be paid or
remaining customer obligations completed within the next 12-15 months.

13. Write-off of Capitalized Software Costs and Prepaid Software Royalties

During the quarterly period ended January 31, 2003 in connection with the Company’s periodic
impairment review of its portfolio of software products, the eiManager product acquired in the AIS
business combination in January 2000 was deemed to be impaired. Based on the Company’s calculation




CARREKER CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13. Write-off of Capitalized Software Costs and Prepaid Software Royalties (Continued)

of the expected future cash flows of the product, a $586,000 non-cash charge was recorded in cost of
revenues.

Effective June 2001, the Company entered into a software license agreement with Actuate
Corporation in which the Company would integrate Actuate Corporation’s software with the Company’s
Global Tracking and Cash solutions within the Global Payments Technologies business segment. The
Company prepaid $400,000 for 40 copies of the software. Based on the expected sales forecasts of this
product a $368,000 non-cash charge was recorded in the quarterly period ended January 31, 2003.

These costs are summarized below (in thousands):

Write-off of
Capitalized Software
Costs and Prepaid
Software Royalties

Year Ended January 31, 2003:

Capitalized eiManager product costs . ............. ... ... $586
Write-off of prepaid software royalties with Actuate Corporation.. . ...... 368
Total recorded in the year ended January 31,2003 .................. $954

14. Related Party Transactions

In March 2001, the Company loaned $500,000 to a former officer of the Company pursuant to a
Limited Recourse Promissory Note (“Note™) collateralized solely by shares of Exchange
Applications, Inc. common stock. The principal was due in full on March 30, 2004. In January 2002, the
Note was adjusted to its estimated fair value of $125,000 resulting in a charge to earnings of $375,000.
During the year ended January 31, 2003, the Note was deemed worthless resulting in a charge to
earnings of $125,000.

In connection with the completion of the Check Solutions acquisition, the Company assumed a
$10.0 million obligation to certain employees of Check Solutions. During the quarterly period ended
January 31, 2002, $3.3 million of this obligation was paid and during the quarterly period ended
April 30, 2002 the remaining $6.7 million was paid.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that we are able to collect the
information we are required to disclose in the reports we file under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (“Exchange Act”), and to process, summarize and disclose this information within the time
periods specified in the rules under the Exchange Act.

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive and
Chief Financial Officers, is responsible for evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act). As of January 31, 2005,
they carried out an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, and the Chief Executive and
Chief Financial Officers believe that these controls and procedures are effective to ensure that we are
able to collect, process and disclose the information we are required to disclose in the reports we file
with the SEC within the required time periods.

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that
any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance -of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required to
apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Under the
supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our iniernal control over financial
reporting as of January 31, 2005 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of January 31, 2005.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
January 31, 2005 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLPF, an independent registered public accounting
firm, whose report appears below.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during our most
recently completed fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Carreker Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Carreker Corporation maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). Carreker Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Carreker Corporation maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Carreker Corporation maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Carreker Corporation and
subsidiaries as of January 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2005 of
Carreker Corporation and our report dated April 6, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/f ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
April 6, 2005
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Item 9B. Other Information.
Not applicable.

PART IIT
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The information required by this item is partially contained under the heading ‘“Executive Officers
of the Company” in Part I Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the remainder is contained
in our proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Stockholders Meeting (the “Proxy Statement™) under the
heading “Election of Directors,” and is incorporated herein by reference. Information relating to
certain filings on Forms 3, 4, and 5 is contained in our Proxy Statement under the heading
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
Information required by this item pursuant to Items 401(h), 401(i), and 401(j) of Regulation S-K
relating to an audit committee financial expert, the identification of the audit committee of our board
of directors and procedures of security holders to recommend nominees to our board of directors is
contained in our Proxy Statement under the heading “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that applies to all directors, officers and
employees of the Company. A copy of the Code can be found on our web site at www.carreker.com.
We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding
amendments to, or waivers from, the Code by posting such information on the same web site or in a
report on Form 8-K.

10b5-1 Trading Plans

Our Insider Trading Policy allows directors, officers and other employees covered under the policy
to establish, under limited circumstances contemplated by Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, written programs that permit automatic trading of our stock or trading of our stock by an
independent person (such as an investment bank) who is not aware of material inside information at
the time of the trade. As of the filing date of this report, some of our executive officers, including
John D. Carreker, Jr., Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Robert M. Olson, Jr., Executive Vice
President, and Blake A. Williams, Executive Vice President, each a Section 16 officer, have adopted a
Rule 10b5-1 trading plan. In addition, Connie Carreker, the wife of our Chairman, together with
Mr. Carreker has adopted a 10b5-1 trading plan for the Carreker Family Limited Partnership. We
believe that additional directors, officers and employees may establish such programs.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Information regarding Executive Compensation is hereby incorporated by reference from the
section entitled “Executive Compensation and Other Matters” in the Proxy Statement.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

Information regarding Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management is
hereby incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock”
in the Proxy Statement.

Information regarding Equity Compensation Plan Information is hereby incorporated by reference
from the section entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statement.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

To the extent that any disclosure is required information regarding Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions is hereby incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Certain
Transactions and Business Relationships” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Information regarding fees and services is hereby incorporated by reference from the section
entitled “Accounting Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statement.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) 1. The following financial statements are filed as part of this report:
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 31, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended January 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended January 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statement Schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission have been excluded, as they are
not required under the related instructions or the information required has been included
in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Exhibits
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibit

31

32

4.1

42

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

110.7

+10.8

10.9

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibn of the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-48399)).

Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-48399)).

Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-48399)).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-48399)).

Credit Agreement, dated June 6, 2001, among the Company as Borrower, J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank (formerly known as The Chase Manhattan Bank) as Administrative Agent
and Issuing Bank, and Compass Bank as Syndication Agent (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 8, 2001).

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement effective October 31, 2001 among Carreker
Corporation as Borrower, J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (formerly known as The Chase
Manhattan Bank) as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank, and Compass Bank as
Syndication Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed December 14, 2001).

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement effective July 31, 2002 among Carreker
Corporation as Borrower, J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (formerly known as The Chase
Manhattan Bank) as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank, and Compass Bank as
Syndication Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2003).

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement effective July 31, 2003 among Carreker
Corporation as Borrower, J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (formerly known as The Chase
Manhattan Bank) as Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank, and Comerica Bank as
Syndication Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed September 11, 2003).

Office Lease between Granite Tower, Ltd. And the Company dated as of March 31,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K
for fiscal year ended January 31, 1999).

Office Lease between Granite Tower, Ltd. And the Company dated August 31, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
fiscal year ended January 31, 2000).

Carreker Corporation Third Amended and Restated 1994 Long Term Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement
filed on May 30, 2001).

Carreker Corporation Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to
Appendix C to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on May 30, 2001).

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its Officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2003).
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

10.10 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its Directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2003).

10.11 Termination and License Agreement dated December 27, 2001 by and between the
Company and Exchange Applications, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended January 31, 2002).

10.12 Agreement and Release dated November 2, 2001 by and between the Company and
Pegasystems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year ended January 31, 2002).

110.13 Employment Agreement dated January 31, 1997 between the Company and John D.
Carreker, Jr. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-48399))

+10.14 Employment Agreement dated October 6, 2003 between the Company and Lisa Peterson
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
December 11, 2003).

*$10.15 Employment Agreement dated November 15, 2004 between the Company and Suzette L.
Massie.

*21.1  Subsidiaries of the Company.

(a) Carreker, Ltd.
(b) Carreker Holdings Australia Pty, Ltd.
(c) Carreker Canada, Inc.

*23.1  Comnsent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
*24.1  Power of Attorney (included on first signature page).

*31.1  Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*31.2  Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*32.1  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*32.2  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. The Company will furnish a copy of
any exhibit listed above to any shareholder without charge upon written request to Mr. Tod V.
Mongan, Corporate Secretary, 4055 Valley View Lane, Suite 1000, Dallas, TX 75244,

Filed herewith.
(b) See description of Exhibits listed above.
(c) Not applicable.
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that each of Carreker Corporation, a Delaware
corporation, and the undersigned directors and officers of Carreker Corporation hereby constitutes and
appoints John D. Carreker, Jr. and Lisa K. Peterson, or any one of them, its or his true and lawful
attorney-in-fact and agent, for it or him and in its or his name, place and stead, in any and all
capacities, with full power to act alone, to sign any and all amendments to this Report, and to file each
such amendment to the Report, with all exhibits thereto, and any and all other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby granting unto said
attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform any and all acts and things
requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises as fully to all intents and purposes as it
or he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and
agent may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Company has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

CARREKER CORPORATION

By: /s/ JOHN D. CARREKER, JR.

John D. Carreker, Jr.
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: April 11, 2005
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed

below by the following persons on behalf of the Company in the capacities indicated on April 11, 2005.

Signatures %
/s/ JOHN D. CARREKER, JR. Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
John D. Carreker, Jr. (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Lisa K. PETERSON Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Lisa K. Peterson (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ JAMES D. CARREKER

Director
James D. Carreker
/s/ J. COLEY CLARK )
Director
J. Coley Clark
/s/ JAMES R. ERWIN )
- Director
James R. Erwin
/s/ DONALD L. HOUSE i
Director
Donald L. House
/s/ KEITH W. HUGHES ,
- Director
Keith W. Hughes
/s/ RICHARD R. LEE, JRr. i
- Director
Richard R. Lee, Jr.
/s/ DAVID K. SiAs )
- Director
David K. Sias
/s/ RONALD G. STEINHART .
Director
Ronald G. Steinhart
/s/ GREGORY B. TOMLINSON i
Director

Gregory B. Tomlinson
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James D. Carreker
Chairman, The Bombay Company, Inc.
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James R. Erwin
Lead Director,
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Donald L. House
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Partner, eVentures International LLC

Ronald G. Steinhart

Retired Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Commercial Banking Group
Bank One Corporation

Gregory B.Tomlinson
Certified Public Accountant
Retired Partner, KPMG LLP
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